# From Shock to Awe: The World on a Trajectory from Humiliation to Dignity -

#### A List of "Factoids"

© Evelin Lindner, 2010

Evelin G. Lindner, MD, PhD, PhD (Dr psychol, Dr med)
Transdisciplinary Social Scientist and Humanist, Founding President of Human Dignity and
Humiliation Studies (www.humiliationstudies.org)

Paper presented at the 15th Annual Conference of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, "Peace at Home, Peace in the World," 28th-30th April 2010, in Istanbul, Türkiye

#### **Abstract**

Social psychologist Morton Deutsch, a founding father of the conflict resolution field, wrote in 1973: "In a cooperative situation the goals are so linked that everybody 'sinks or swims' together, while in the competitive situation if one swims, the other must sink."

At present, global society has not yet learned to swim together, and thus risks sinking together. Global society's psychological, social, and societal cohesion still fails to match the requirements for cooperation that it faces. Human-made concepts, practices, and institutions still have to live up to the reality of their own embeddedness in nature, as well as the fact that in an interdependent world, local conflicts diffuse and affect everyone. It is of utmost importance that the global community learns to cooperate, so as to create a worthwhile future for the next generation.

The emergence of the imagery and reality of One World represents a historic window of opportunity that must be actively seized.

In a brochure by the Turkish Ministry of Culture and Tourism, we read that the following values are common to all Turkish people: "Belief in the integrity of the family, loyalty and obligation to the country and community, fairness in dealing with other human beings, hospitality, compassion, and respect for tradition."

For a worthwhile future for humankind, the loyalty that is at the core of Turkish values needs to be extended to all of the human family ("peace in the world"), and respect must be extended to all those traditions that include all human beings and their home planet.

In former times, fear reigned in a fragmented world, *rivals*, *competitors*, and *enemies* were subdued and dominated by humiliating them with "shock and awe." *Victory* and *power* over one's opponents was the aim.

In One World, space opens for love, humility, and for awe for a universe too large for us to fathom. *Partners* join hands to create a sustainable social and ecological future for all of humankind. No longer do superiors humiliate opponents into submission. In One World, partners respect each other as equals in dignity.

#### **Contents**

Introduction	2
The Large-Scale Geohistorical Transitions of Homo Sapiens	
The Strategies of the Past That No Longer Work	7
The Core Crisis	7
Various Manifestations of the Core Crisis	8
The Present Transition and Its Markers	9
The Role of Humiliation: From Good Versus Evil to Pride and Humility	14
The New Approaches That Are Called for	18
The Need for Systemic Change	18
Discarding Old Dichotomies	19
Emancipation from Bondage	19
Respecting the Individual, Rejecting the Culture	21
Forging a Sunflower Identity	23
Embracing Humility	24
Tapping the Power of Love	24
Going Far Enough	25
Not Going Too Far	27
Assuming Social and Societal Responsibility	29
Creating Mutuality and Embedding It into Respect for Equal Dignity	30
Using New Leadership Styles	
Calling on Women	
Concluding Remarks	
References	44

#### Introduction

When I wrote my last book, on gender, humiliation and global security, the publisher asked me to make a list of "factoids," examples of pieces of information that illustrate the message of the book. A list of some of the factoids that I collected is presented in this paper. They illustrate the transitional processes that characterize human history at the current point in time.

I would like to invite the reader into this paper by asking a few questions, illustrated with the help of brief vignettes from my own experience.

I am writing these lines in the canton of Vaud, which is located in the French part of Switzerland. On weekends, I explore the vicinity of my writing place to understand its history. I must admit that I am shocked when I see how, in the sixteenth century, the Bernese burnt down virtually each and every of those beautiful castles I see in Vaud. Bern invaded and conquered Aargau in 1415 and Vaud in 1536, as well as other smaller territories, in this way pushing out the influence of Savoy and becoming the largest city-state north of the Alps. Today, Bern is the Swiss capital.

I ask: How come? Should not Bern be the arch-enemy of all its neighbors? After all, the Bernese have burnt down almost all their castles? How come that Bern's neighbors seemingly have "embraced defeat"? *Embracing Defeat* was the title of a book written by historian John W. Dower. It explains how Japan embraced defeat after World War II.

As it appears, defeat can be embraced.<sup>3</sup> However, we may ask, why is it sometimes not embraced? In the 1980s, I spent some time in Bavaria, in the south of Germany. I was flabbergasted at the feelings of hostility I witnessed there towards the rest of Germany, particularly towards Prussia. Some of my Bavarian friends dreamt of an Alp Republic together with Austria and the German part of Switzerland, eager to turn their backs on a Germany they did not love. I was shocked at the depth of the aversion felt. I had not been aware of this state-of-affairs before actually spending time in Bavaria. When the German reunification came in 1990, my friends accepted Berlin as Germany's capital, however, as it is the Prussian city per definition, they accepted it only with the fist in their pockets. Prussians, from their point of view, are unbearably arrogant, always putting new fuel on their age-old humiliation campaign against Bavaria, from the times when Bavaria was defeated in the 1866 Austro-Prussian War. I was utterly unaware of these historical facts, and if I had been aware of them, I would not have believed that they could still be relevant for modern-day identity formation of people living in Germany.

Not all leave their fists in their pockets. Around the world, movements abound which openly seek to change their status. Some fight for independence from, or more autonomy within their host countries, others wish to become part of other countries. Some engage in violent struggles, while yet others use nonviolent political means. In Europe, for instance, the Basques regularly make headlines with violent attacks, while some Northern Irelanders, though they have renounced violence, still wish to be part of the Republic of Island. Other regions, for example, Savoy, which is now part of the Rhône-Alpes region of modern France, has developed a peaceful separatist movement. Also the rest of the world is fraught with similarly protracted struggles, the Middle East providing one of the starkest cases.

Let us ask: Why do the Swiss accept Bern as their capital? Why do Germans no longer die violent deaths in the battle ground? Why is it that for the citizens of Bayern, elections suffice as a means to protect their identity and express their grievances? Why does it suffice that they have a party of their own, the Christian Social Union of Bayaria?

What we learn is that rifts stemming from past and even from present dynamics of humiliation can be harnessed in less than openly violent ways.

Indeed, the example of Bavaria mirrors the European Union, a peace project that draws admiration from around the world. Like the German federal state, also the European Union places layers of cooperation over the myriad reasons for hatred that linger on from historical cycles of humiliation and are refueled with more recent humiliations. In an interview, Kishore Mahbubani, Dean of the Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy at the National University of Singapore, praised the European Union for what it has achieved inside its borders (less so outside of its borders, where, Mahbubani reckons, ASEAN does a better job). Mahbubani believes that the rest of the world will follow suite and that the end game will be democracy, everywhere on the globe. Only the path to democracy will be different, producing a "multiverse of democracies."

What do we learn? The world will most probably never be a place where everybody loves and forgives everybody else. But humankind does not have to reach maximal goals to survive. It must simply avoid pushing the planet over the edge, both socially and ecologically. This is the mandatory minimum requirement. In many countries, parents increasingly receive joint custody for their children after divorce. For humankind, this arrangement is compulsory. Global challenges must be tackled jointly even in the face of

mutual antipathy. The example of Bayern demonstrates how even deeply engrained hatred, not just of the past but also of the present, is not necessarily a problem as long as cooperation on vital tasks continues. What is needed is sufficient common ground for cooperation, even in the face of animosity and hostility.

This paper begins by laying out the large-scale geohistorical frame into which present-day human activities are inscribed. It then lists evidence that shows to what extent strategies of the past increasingly lose feasibility. Then, some examples are enumerated that illustrate the historical transition of present times. Subsequently, new approaches are proposed, approaches that discuss questions such as: How can cooperation be achieved, even in the face of hatred? How can this goal be connected with the aim to protect the socio- and biosphere? How can both spheres be made sustainable?

# The Large-Scale Geohistorical Transitions of Homo Sapiens<sup>6</sup>

It is accepted archaeological and anthropological knowledge that humans evolved in Africa, first colonizing Africa and then the rest of the world (except for the Americas, which came much later). The ancestral human population is very small—perhaps as little as 2,000 or even 1,000 breeding pairs. Humankind once came close to extinction—according to the latest genetic research, the number of humans in Saharan Africa dropped, and all of *homo sapiens sapiens* may even have descended from a single tribe in the Kalahari of Africa circa 60,000 years ago, even though this view is being debated. Whatever the dispute, what is accepted knowledge is that contemporary humans are all descendents of a rather small population, despite any apparent variation.

For the first ninety percent of human history, humankind populated the planet, or at least its easily reachable areas, always wandering off to the next valley of untouched abundance, living in small bands of a few hundred hunter-gatherers who enjoyed a remarkably high quality of life. <sup>10</sup>

Then, about 10,000 years ago, a deep shift occurred. Planet Earth's surface is finite, and humankind increasingly met what anthropologists call *circumscription*—the next valley was no longer untouched but already populated with other humans. No longer was the pie of resources expandable through merely wandering further. One had to make do with the land under one's feet. Human kind's response was *intensification* (in anthropological terms), which meant, among others, the emergene of *complex agriculture* followed by *state formation*. With this shift, the overall frame of the human condition transmuted from a rather benign win-win frame to a much more malign win-lose situation. <sup>12</sup>

Under the conditions of circumscription and agriculturalism, the *security dilemma* raised its head. <sup>13</sup> It held humankind in its stranglehold throughout the past 10,000 years. The security dilemma is built on fear and fosters fear: "I fear you but will defend my land against you! Fear me!"

Riane Eisler, social scientist and social activist, has developed a cultural transformation theory, where she describes how, during the past millennia, otherwise widely divergent societies followed what she calls a "dominator model," rather than a "partnership model." From the samurai of Japan to the Aztecs of Meso-America, all were characterized by very similar hierarchies of domination and a rigidly male-dominant

"strong-man" rule, both in the family and state. Hierarchies of domination were maintained by a high degree of institutionalized and socially-accepted violence, ranging from wife- and child beating within the family to aggressive warfare on the larger tribal or national level.

In this context, humiliation was regarded as a legitimate tool for masters to keep underlings docile. Also love fell prey to this malignant context. It was commodified in the service of the fear that flows from the security dilemma. The security dilemma is a tragic dilemma; it tragically trumped and mutilated spontaneous authentic love. Instead, a maimed concept of love emerged (which still holds sway in many walks of life today). Ruling elites defined love as a feeling, a feeling to be felt qua duty, a feeling opposite to hatred. Ruling elites coerced underlings to extend love and hatred "spontaneously" to the "correct" objects: one had to love one's in-group and hate one's out-groups, one had to love one's designated superiors, be faithful and loyal to them or be chastised. This system was enforced by way of obligatory fear of and love for God, and any lack of such fearful love was punished with the harshest of penalties.

Anthropologist William Ury drew up what he calls *a simplified depiction of history*, whose core elements are widely accepted by the academic community. <sup>15</sup> He pulled together elements from anthropology, game theory and conflict studies to describe three major types of society: (1) *simple hunter-gatherers*, (2) *complex agriculturists*, and (3) *knowledge society*.

In Ury's system, prior to 10,000 years ago, simple hunter-gatherers lived in a world of coexistence and open networks, within which conflicts were negotiated rather than subjected to coercion. The abundance of wild food represented an expandable pie of resources that did not force opponents into win-lose paradigms. If we calculate that *Homo sapiens* first appeared in the Middle Paleolithic about 200,000 BP, this period stands for the first 9five percent of human history. (A caveat: The situation of hunter-gatherers prior to 10,000 ago cannot be equated with present-day hunter-gatherer cultures, which almost all were affected by the security dilemma as much as all other cultures on the globe. Archaeological evidence suggests, for instance, the absence of systemic warfare prior to 10,000 ago, indicating that early hunter-gatherer may indeed have enjoyed rather peaceful relationships. <sup>17</sup>)

Complex agriculturalism, in contrast, pushed its players into a world of coercion. Agriculturalists led their lives within closed hierarchical pyramids of power on land that represented a fixed pie—land is either mine or yours—a set of conditions that represented a malign win-lose situation. This period represents the last five percent of human history.

Then, a couple of hundred years ago, another transition began, as deep a transition as the one from hunting-gathering to agriculture. The presently unfolding transition turns squarely against the culture of the past 10,000 years: everybody is to be equal in dignity, no longer ranked. The French revolution's slogan is liberté, égalité, fraternité (today, we would say brotherhood and sisterhood). Article 1 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) reflects this motto in its first sentences: "All human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights. They are endowed with reason and conscience and should act towards one another in a spirit of brotherhood."

A progressively more interdependent world, increasingly basing itself on knowledge and not land as a resource for livelihood (Ury's stage three), is now pushing towards *one* 

single global village, undermining the fault lines that formerly pitted the many hierarchically organized *local villages* against each other in reciprocal fear and hostility. Knowledge as a resource replaces the old win-lose frame with a win-win frame, and in tact with increasing global connectedness, the security dilemma weakens. This is oxygen for the human rights ideal that *all human are equal in dignity*. Principles such as unity in diversity receive a chance to gain significance.

In a globally connected knowledge society, space opens for a new *approach to everything* (to adopt the linguistics of the "theory of everything"), an approach that posits a new kind of love at its core. A globally interdependent knowledge society with a weakening security dilemma removes the need to instrumentalize love and hatred as commodified tools. Space opens for agape, philia, and metta to thrive, for the divinity of Martin Buber's' loving *I-Thou* relationships of mutual respect for equal dignity to rise. Humiliation loses its legitimacy and transmutes into a violation of dignity. <sup>19</sup>

In my work, I build on Ury's model. I am aware that the conceptualization of history as historic stages has been criticized. One of the accusations is that it smacks of arrogant ranking, history supposedly evolving from "primitive" toward "less primitive." I believe, however, that suppressing the fact of long-term global change, even if to avoid the allegation of arrogance, does neither serve its aim nor the search for truth.

I call the first 9five percent of human history (1) the period of *pristine pride*. Then, humankind lived through its first decisive turning point. Pristine pride was transformed into ranked honor. This practice lasted for the past 10,000 years, (2) the period of *collectivist ranked honor*, humankind's second large-scale historical era. The human rights vision for the future, the promise of *equal dignity* for all, is the third era (3), not yet realized. At the current historic point in time, we live in a transitional phase, with humankind struggling at the cusp of the tipping point between the traditional order of ranked honor and an envisaged future of equal dignity for all. We live in the midst of the second large-scale historical turning point that humankind has ever lived through, as stark a turning point as 10,000 years ago. And survival is at stake. Either humankind turns and rises to a new level of adaptation, or it risks extinction.

Love and humiliation are being played out in different ways in each era. Prior to 10,000 years ago, the overall context did not lend itself to deep institutional hierarchization, so we can suppose, and archaeological evidence supports this assumption, that untouched pride and authentic love could thrive, at least to a certain extent. Then, 10,000 years of bondage descended upon humankind, bondage due to the tragic security dilemma. It turned humiliation into a routinely applied tool, with love as its saddest victim. Emotions moved into the background. Masculinity became equated with domination and conquest—be it of women, other men or nature. To maintain this type of society, boys were systematically socialized for domination and violence. Sex became an act of male conquest, sexuality was played out on a battle field of "scoring," and families were ruled by men, served by women, and children learned to acquiesce. Male anger was honored as "rational" investment into *Realpolitik*, while female emotion was derided as "emotionality."

Today, the vision of a future world of equal dignity for everybody entails the promise that love can be freed again from commodification. Clearly, this potential can only be fulfilled if we, as humankind, take it seriously, and put all our bets on it. If we realize this potential, then love can flourish as authentically self-chosen feeling and guiding

principle, no longer mutilated and enslaved for other purposes. Luckily, this is not impossible. We mistake the past 10,000 years for representing all of human history only because it is the most recent period in our history and we are most familiar with it. Yet, 10,000 years are only a small fraction of the entirety of human history. Their malign lessons can be unlearned. And, fortunately, also the prosocial nature of humans seems to have survived 10,000 years of onslaught, even if only "under cover" in certain niches of society, undervalued, and in a dire state.

In the course of the current transition, also humiliation transmutes. Today, humiliation changes from being regarded as "prosocial honorable lesson" to "the most painful exclusion from humanity imaginable." In the past, humiliation was equated with love in the spirit of "you beat whom you love," in a human rights context, humiliation is defined as the opposite of love: "you do *not* beat whom you love." "Domestic chastisement" transmutes into "domestic violence." Consequently, being exposed to the old concept of love humiliates those who have adopted the new way. What hurts most is betrayed love, a betrayal that is brought to the fore particularly in times of transition. When a person extends love in the new way, only to detect that she is loved back in the old way, she may feel deeply hurt. The new way calls for self-chosen love that is embedded into mutuality informed by equal dignity between lovers, while the old way binds love in the old prison of commodification.

This was a short version of humankind's large-scale geohistorical historical journey. In the following section, the lens is turned towards humankind's situation as it presents itself at the current transitional point in history.

#### The Strategies of the Past That No Longer Work

This section offers a list of the warning signs that throw into stark relief the present need for deep pro-active and systemic change.

#### The Core Crisis

At macro levels, the failing of past strategies is being demonstrated by a combined climate and economic crisis. The loss from environmental degradation is estimated to be higher than the loss from the banking crisis that broke in 2008—a study puts the annual cost of forest loss at between \$2 trillion and \$5 trillion. All crises combine to a global crisis which "is to strike by 2030," warns John Beddington, UK government chief scientist, at the Sustainable Development UK 09 conference in March 2009: water shortages are predicted across large parts of Africa, Europe and Asia, and growing world population will cause a "perfect storm" of food, energy and water shortages by 2030. As it stands now, human demands on the world's natural resources reach nearly a third more than earth can sustain.

With respect to possible solutions, the most significant problem, at present, is the lack of global leadership. On September 23, 2008, United Nations Secretary General Ban Ki-Moon addressed the 63rd session of the General Assembly and made a list of the world's perils: "We face a global financial crisis. A global energy crisis. A global food crisis.

Trade talks have collapsed, yet again. We have seen new outbreaks of war and violence, new rhetoric of confrontation. Climate change ever more clearly threatens our planet." The biggest crisis, he said, is the lack of global leadership. His speech was entitled "A Call to Global Leadership." <sup>26</sup>

#### **Various Manifestations of the Core Crisis**

- The economic crisis that broke in 2008 has many labels, ranging from "subprime crisis" to "credit crunch," to a "financial tsunami" or "economic Armageddon," preceded by an "Enron crisis," possibly leading up to a "credit default swap crisis." Despite of the many names, the crisis brings home one insight, namely, that self-interest (if narrowly defined) is not sufficient a guarantee for the protection of common interest. Former Federal Reserve chairman Alan Greenspan stated that he was "in a state of shocked disbelief" and had been wrong in thinking that relying on banks to use their self-interest would be enough to protect shareholders and their equity. At present, banks serve the wrong constituency—they serve their shareholders first, while they should serve society's common good. Worse even, some bankers placed their personal self-interest not only above common interest but also above the interest of their own bank employers.
- In an interconnected world, protectionism no longer protects but harms everybody. "My import is your export and vice versa," explains Pascal Lamy, Director General of the World Trade Organization.<sup>29</sup> Also EU Trade Commissioner Catherine Ashton warns that there is a significant difference between protectionism and protection—only truly free and fair trade is the way forward in an interdependent world.<sup>30</sup> In an interconnected world, violent conflicts which formerly may have stayed local, rapidly become global, diffusing insecurity in an unprecedented manner.<sup>31</sup> Traditional power-over strategies aiming at victory over enemies risk creating backlashes and fuelling protracted conflicts. Regions such as the Middle East, Afghanistan, or Iraq demonstrate those outfalls.
- Also at meso and micro levels, the inadequacy of old approaches becomes apparent, for instance, with respect to quality of life and happiness curves. Happiness, for example, does not increase with having more money, on the contrary, as the Western world has become wealthier, clinical or major depression has been growing. Research shows that even though richer countries do tend to have happier citizens than poor ones, still, once people have a home, food, and clothes, extra money does not make them happier. A formula was developed, with which to measure the monetary equivalence of friendship—£50,000 would be needed to compensate for not having friends. 33
- The National Bureau of Economic Research in the U.S. has just published data from a new survey showing that although many objective measures of the lives of women in the United States have improved over the past 35 years, measures of subjective well-being have declined both absolutely and relative to men. This result is found across various datasets, measures of subjective well-being, and is pervasive across demographic groups and industrialized countries. A new gender gap is emerging, with

- higher subjective well-being for men, replacing the gap of the 1970s when women reported higher subjective well-being than did men.
- Women represent 70 percent of the more than one billion people living in poverty worldwide, with single mothers being particularly exposed to poverty.<sup>35</sup>
- Often, it is difficult to connect small-scale problems with the failings at large-scale levels, and the situation is further obfuscated when systemic failings are individualized. The slogan "the private is political" has not lost its validity.
- Examples for "the private is political" abound. The roots of most crises are more complex and systemic than one-dimensional and personal. As to the economic crisis, for instance, it would be a mistake to individualize it, thus depriving it of its paradigm shifting potential. Overly risk-happy or fraudulent bankers and naïve consumers, while responsible, do not explain the entirety of the situation. Bank employees are under pressure to maximize profit, and managers report that they lose their jobs if they do not place shareholder value first.
- The strategies of individualization are often very hidden. Many women are not aware of them until they get pregnant. Only at that point, many painfully realize that a responsibility is being individualized that ought to be carried by more shoulders than only hers. As a clinical psychologist, I witnessed this dynamic in many shades and variations. Susanne (the name is anonymized) had been the girlfriend of a Wall Street financier, Jim, who owned several sports cars, a luxury flat, and had her as a trophy companion. He did not wish to get married nor have children. When she got pregnant, he explained to her that she was free to do what she wanted with the child, abort it, have it, and care for it, but she should refrain from bothering him. They had had lots of fun together, he explained her, and she knew he did not want children—the accounts where settled and he owed her nothing. She was shocked. She accused him of never having been open to her about that. He, on his side, insisted that she should have known. In other words, when his girl friend got pregnant, Jim failed to make the transition from what Alan Page Fiske calls equality matching to communal sharing.<sup>36</sup> This is not to say that men should always say yes to children, or that it is morally acceptable for women to trick men into commitment by having children. The point is that communities endanger their own survival when they permit a cultural atmosphere to become dominant that pushes for narrow immediate self-interest. The term commitment phobia encapsulates the core failing of a strategy that gives primacy to narrowly defined self-interest.
- Commitment phobia, at the level of community and culture, is the failure to commit to human family's shared responsibility for its common interest.

#### The Present Transition and Its Markers

At the present point in time, humankind lives through a deep historical transition. It is the transition from a traditional collectivist culture of ranked honor or the "dominator model" (Eisler), which was prevalent in almost all world regions throughout the past ten millennia, to a culture of human rights with its emphasis on unranked equal dignity for each individual, or what Eisler calls the "partnership model.

Many markers highlight this transition both synchronically and diachronically. Let me report on some of those markers, particularly on those that relate to the topic of gender.

 Admittedly, nowhere do women still bind their daughters' feet to turn them into humble eligible brides. However, veiling women and confining them to the house may hurt them no less. And even in the most privileged Western setting, women still struggle, even if only with bound psyches. Jane Fonda, in her speech at the National Women's Leadership Summit in Washington D.C., on December 2, 2003, said:

Before I turned sixty I thought I was a feminist. I was in a way, I worked to register women to vote, I supported women getting elected. I brought gender issues into my movie roles, I encouraged women to get strong and healthy, I read the books we've all read. I had it in my head and partly in my heart, yet I didn't fully get it. See, although I've always been financially independent, and professionally and socially successful, behind the closed doors of my personal life I was still turning myself in a pretzel so I'd be loved by an alpha male. I thought if I didn't become whatever he wanted me to be, I'd be alone, and then, I wouldn't exist.<sup>37</sup>

- Through my work and biographical background, I am particularly familiar (among others) with Egypt, Germany, and Norway, countries at the bottom, the middle, and the top of the Gender-related Development Index (GDI). <sup>38</sup> I was born and grew up in Germany, I worked as a clinical psychologist in Cairo, Egypt, for seven years, and Norway provides one of the strongest platforms for my life and work since several decades. In the course of my involvement, I gained deep insight into the details of the differences measured by the GDI, how these differences are expressed in many walks of life, and how they illustrate the transition from ranked honor to equal dignity.
- Egypt is located toward the bottom of the GDI of 2007/2008, on place 112 out of 177. This rather weak position is being expressed in many facts of life and the attitudes that support them. For instance, eighty six per cent of Egyptian women surveyed in 1995 thought that husbands are justified in hitting their wives at certain occasions. <sup>39</sup>
- Germany finds itself on place 22 of the GDI of 2007/2008, and at the bottom of the European Union with respect to equal pay for men and women (it takes the third place from the bottom of 27 EU members; the salary gap between men and women who perform the same jobs is only worse in Estonia and Cyprus). Women in Germany earn nearly a quarter less than men, compared to an average of 17.4 percent across Europe. (In some EU member states the gap is currently widening rather than closing, and the European Commission has launched a campaign to raise public awareness of the gender pay gap and to explain how it can be tackled. 1
- Norway takes the second place on the GDI of 2007/2008, after Iceland. According to the World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report 2008, Norway even takes the first place. According to Scarcity until oil was found. It has a proud Viking tradition of mobility. Unlike Somalia, where this culture's inherent pride destroys its very fabric, Norwegians have also learned the value of humility (also many Somali women exhibit a similar mixture of pride and humility). This gives Norwegian culture a unique position in the world. Its past has equipped it with assets that the rest of the world may be interested in drawing on in times when the security dilemma weakens and space opens up for a new world culture of liberté, égalité, and

fraternité. <sup>43</sup> The Nobel Peace Prize is well based in Norway. Norwegian women therefore have a significant advantage. They have less of a subaltern mind to undo than women in other parts of the world. Their souls and minds have not been cowed to the degree this happened elsewhere. And, not surprisingly, Norwegian women have the courage to implement laws that are still unthinkable in other countries. In 2004, Norwegian women pressed for a law that stipulated that women had to fill 40 percent of the country's corporate board seats by 2008. <sup>44</sup> "The Rise of the Valkyries," is the evocative title of an article in the international press that summarizes the Norwegian experience as it stood by November 2008. <sup>45</sup>

- Female subservience and male dominance are not innate. Female lack of pride and male lack of humility are learned. They can thus be unlearned. Today, in the wake of the coming-together of humankind, space opens for more peaceful societies of more gender equity and less authoritarian hierarchy, societies that are more suitable to drive present transition efforts. Today, space opens for men to reject their stereotypical "masculine" roles—they can, for instance, redefine fathering in the more caring and nurturing way once stereotypically associated only with mothering (Eisler). Space opens also for women to become more visible and develop their potential for being leaders and innovators. More even, women can be called on to use the wisdom that is entailed in traditional female role templates, for instance their emphasis on nurturing and balancing, to define leadership and innovation in new and more holistic ways.
- To make use of the space that opens and dignify the world, women and men need to learn how to combine pride and humility. To use the traffic metaphor, they must be proud and courageous enough to create traffic regulations that serve the common good of a global community, and then humble enough to stop in front of red lights and only proceed when the light is green. Subalterns risk failing on the side of pride and courage, while supremacists tend to implement traffic regulations that give them green light by default.

The following paragraphs present concrete examples to illustrate how both women and the female role description have recently risen to the fore. Myriad of transitions currently unfold all around the world:

• On December 2, 2008, I enjoyed the opera *Tristan und Isolde* by Richard Wagner at the Metropolitan Opera in New York. I usually take an inexpensive seat under the roof, and sit there through the pause, reading the program:

It is no wonder that a fanatic international cult of sensuality grew up around *Tristan und Isolde*, coloring a generation of Western thought, even while a late-Victorian society was clinging to sexual repression in hopes of preserving an order that the new spirit of liberation was ripping apart. With *Tristan*, the world turned a corner that brought the future into direct view: the psychology of Freud, the French slide from hyper-realism into surrealism, the sex-driven women of Ibsen and Strindberg, and the atonality of Schoenberg. Nothing has been quite the same since. 46

Ashis Nandy, social, cultural and political critic born in Bengal, tells the story of satī, where a recently-widowed woman would immolate herself on her husband's funeral pyre.<sup>47</sup> Satī has now been outlawed.

- The practice called *vani* in Pakistan, a tribal custom in which blood feuds are settled with forced marriages, was made illegal in 2005.
- Honor killing, usually the killing of a girl who brought "shame" upon the family to protect family honor from humiliation, until recently accepted as cultural tradition, is increasingly being seen as a violation that compounds humiliation rather than remedying it. 48 Syria has just scrapped a law that limits the length of sentences handed down to men convicted of killing female relatives they suspect of having had illicit sex. 49
- Domestic chastisement, once a duty, currently transmutes into domestic violence in many cultural contexts.
- Divorce rates in Indonesia have risen dramatically over the past decade. 50 Women want love, not oppression.
- In the past, women, since they were not part of the public sphere, were not given visibility even if they performed acts that would have merited public attention. At present, this is in the process of changing. Ever more female leaders, formerly obfuscated by a overlying male focus, are being lifted into visibility. The trend of bringing women from inside out into the limelight currently makes possible the publications of a large body of literature, from which I have drawn much inspiration. 51 Virginia Woolf 52 and Eleanor Roosevelt 53 are two early iconic names. A recent article in the Journal of International Women's Studies documents the contribution of three Young Women's Christian Association (YMCA) leaders who chaired the nongovernmental organization forum planning committees during the UN Decade for Women (1975-1985).<sup>54</sup> I was impressed, to give just one other example, when meeting Hilary N. Summy in Brisbane and reading her book on peace activist Margaret Thorp (1892–1978). 55 Earlier examples point at women who were public figures through presenting themselves as males, because, usually, throughout the past 10,000 years, until very recently, women could become leaders in the public sphere only if they filled the male role template. Remember, for example, Hatchepsut, the fifth pharaoh of the eighteenth dynasty of Ancient Egypt (circa 1479-1458 BC), who had power in spite of being a woman. 56 She played the role of a man and let herself be depicted as a male pharaoh. Also Amanitore (c. 50 AD), a Nubian Candace, a queen of the ancient Kushitic Kingdom of Meroë, was a manly warrior queen who led forces in battle. 57 Remember also Queen Nzingha "Queen of Ndongo" (1582– 1663). 58 The list is very long.
- In resonance with the transition of the world toward one single global inside sphere that must be policed, soldiering currently acquires ever more more police-like characteristics and more of a social-control character. Women are increasingly accepted as members in the military. Since about 20 years, in Sweden, female and male soldiers even share rooms; Norway is currently following suit. 60
- Even backlashes signal change. The sudden popularity of figures such as cyborgs, bodybuilders, and vampires, represents an attempt to restore the traditional paternal metaphor in times when it is under threat.<sup>61</sup>
- Similarly, often the first sign of improvement and progress is the call for abuse to be exposed and no longer covered up. Sexism in the military, for instance, is increasingly uncovered nowadays. On March 20, 2009, female war veterans at a Gender panel during the Winter Soldier hearings outside Washington, D.C., decried

- institutional sexism in military, and called the sexist power dynamic in the military "the big pink elephant in the room." 62
- While I was living in Japan (2004–2007), I followed the struggle to be heard of the so-called "comfort women," or sex slaves in the Japanese military during World War II, mostly from Korea. Also in the U.S.-Korea relations, military prostitution played a role. Also
- Another very recent example of past abuse being exposed is that of tyskertøs. A tyskertøs was a Norwegian woman who had fallen in love with the enemy, namely, a soldier of the Germany army that held Norway occupied during World War II from 1940 to 1945. She was cruelly humiliated after the war within her community, and many children born to tyskertøs still feel deeply traumatized until today. The topic is still an extremely sore one. A woman simply did not have the right to put love for a man before her love for her country. An enemy was no fellow human being. Claudia Lenz works at the Center for Interdisciplinary Memory Research in the Institute for Advanced Study in the Humanities in Essen, Germany. I met her at the Center for Studies of Holocaust and Religious Minorities in Norway in 2008. She is among the few who researches the fate of tyskertøs and calls for a liberation of love from politics.
- It is not necessarily women as people who rise to more visibility, but the female role description of care and maintenance. The man Barack Obama, for instance, stands for this script more than Sarah Palin, a woman. What makes Barack Obama's script so "female" is his emphasis on relationship—listening and dialogue—and housekeeping—creating opportunity in society through good housekeeping rather than competition. And even though Michelle Obama is a home-maker, she combines traditional male and female scripts in more future-oriented ways than Sarah Palin, who is a governor. Sarah Palin resembles the traditional male leader of Realpolitik both with regard to the socio- and biosphere—she is a conventional *Real*-politician and combines this with a conservative home-maker approach. Michelle Obama, in contrast, brings together future-oriented male and female scripts by emphasizing relationship-building in her human rights advocacy and her homemaking.
- Georgina Beyer is the first transsexual woman in the world to be elected as a member of parliament. In an interview with Michael Peschardt, she explained with great honesty her personal struggle and the extraordinary transformation which took her from being a sex worker in Sydney, having sexual reassignment surgery, to being elected as an MP in what has traditionally been a socially conservative area of New Zealand.<sup>67</sup>
- Riane Eisler's partner David Loye wrote *3,000 Years of Love*, a book that presents their dual-biography and travels to Minoan Crete, Greece, Italy, Germany, and Africa. It is a guide to Eisler and Loye's work as writers and global activists for women, human rights, civil rights, progressive evolution, and partnership movements. Eisler found evidence of a gender-holistic perspective in contemporary Scandinavian nations as well as in prehistoric, historic, and anthropological data of, for instance, the BaMbuti or Tiruray. Eisler's data and conclusions dovetail with "Living Well," a label for a social system that focuses on reciprocity, reciprocity between people, and reciprocity with the Earth that was endorsed on June 5, 2008, when more than one

- thousand representatives from indigenous communities across the Americas gathered in Lima, Peru. <sup>70</sup>
- Not least academic research itself is inscribed into the same transitional processes. Through his work on language, emotions, love, and shame, emotion, researcher Tonv Webb highlights how already the language that is being used in the field of emotion research is littered with confusion. The English language turns verbs into nouns, almost as badly as German, he explains: "The result has been described by Illich (1970) as a "commoditization" of language: I don't education myself, I get an education; I don't house myself, I get accommodation; I don't employ myself, I get a job; I lose sight of loving (an activity) as I try to unravel the phenomenon of love as an entity, or as "a feeling" or "an emotion." For Webb, the label "emotion" should be reserved for the cognitive evaluation (based on our past experience and memory of this experience) of how we perceive the situation, including what we think (cognitive), what we do (behavioral), and what we sense in our body and what we feel (affective). "Feeling' might then usefully be reserved for the awareness we have of the affect—the body sensations and body language" he writes. <sup>72</sup> Love, according to Webb, is a composite, as much thought as feeling, therefore a *cognate* rather than a feeling. Webb calls for making it a norm for culture to teach how to better understand and use emotions, both cognitively and intuitively.

#### The Role of Humiliation: From Good Versus Evil to Pride and Humility

This section presents some markers that highlight the role played by humiliation throughout the various transitions that punctuated human history. With my colleagues, I am currently building a *theory of humiliation* that is transcultural and transdisciplinary, entailing elements from anthropology, history, social philosophy, social psychology, sociology, and political science. <sup>73</sup>

• As reported earlier, hunter-gatherers, prior to 10,000 years ago, enjoyed untouched pristine pride. Roughly 10,000 years ago, a deep transition occurred. Resources were becoming limited and complex agriculturalism emerged, fuelling the security dilemma. Hierarchically structured societies arose. The majority of people became subaltern underlings. They transmusted into tools in the hands of small master elites and were subjected to routine humiliation, or *honor humiliation*. This kind of humiliation was regarded as legitimate and underlings had to endure it submissively. Only equals within elites were entitled to duel-like responses to defend their honor against humiliation. Subaltern underlings were taught shame and helplessness by overt brute force and/or by covert manipulation.

Article 1 of the of the Human Rights Declaration, contradicts 10,000 years of such moral frames when it states that every human being is born with equal rights and dignity that ought not be humiliated. Human rights introduce a new kind of humiliation, namely, *dignity humiliation*: when respect for equal dignity fails, this is perceived as illegitimate humiliation. In this way, the historical transition proceeded from a traditional collectivist culture of ranked honor, or the "dominator model" (Eisler), which was prevalent throughout almost all world regions during the past

- 10,000 years, to a culture of human rights, which emphasises unranked and equal dignity for each individual, or the "partnership model."
- The core tipping point of this transition—the shift from ranking human worthiness to unranking it—is marked by a change in the meaning of the word humiliation. In the English language, the connotations of the verbs *to humiliate* and *to humble* parted in 1757, moving into opposite directions. Until that time, the verb *to humiliate* did not signify the violation of dignity. *To humiliate* meant merely *to lower* or *to humble* ("to remind underlings of their due place"), an activity that was widely regarded as prosocial. William Ian Miller, scholar of law with a wide interest in Icelandic sagas, medieval history, social and political theory, emotions, and vices and virtues, explains that "the earliest recorded use of *to humiliate* meaning to mortify or to lower or to depress the dignity or self-respect of someone does not occur until 1757."<sup>75</sup>
- It is important for human rights defenders to be aware that the increase of feelings of humiliation is among the most notable psychological effects of human rights advocacy. From the perspective of a culture of ranked honor, living in a world of masters and underlings is normal, with masters typically being male and underlings being female. The human rights message squarely opposes this "normality" and redefines the lowliness of underlings. What was normal before, transmutes into a humiliating violation of their dignity.
  - In other words, as a consequence of the human rights movement, feelings of humiliation become more intense. At present, indeed, millions of people learn to feel humiliated as they become aware of the human rights message. And since feelings of humiliation carry the potential to be translated into acts of violence—they represent the nuclear bomb of the emotions (Lindner)—human rights advocacy must do more than simply elicit those feelings: it must help guide them into Mandela-like constructive systemic change. Hitler engaged in humiliation-entrepreneurship to remedy past national humiliation, and he perpetrated genocide to prevent future humiliation from what he thought was an upcoming World Jewry. Similarly, in Rwanda, the former subalterns, the Hutu (*hutu* signifies "servant"), unleashed genocide on their former Tutsi elite to prevent future humiliation, reminiscent of past humiliation. The white elite in South Africa, in contrast, was not subjected to genocide. On the contrary, the white elite was invited, by Mandela, to participate and contribute to the joint dismantling of Apartheid.
  - The latter way of translating feelings of humiliation into action must serve as the template for the human rights movement at large, not the first, if it wishes to be true to its message. Anger-entrepreneurship in the name of human rights is not only dangerous, but also profoundly inconsistent with its very core ideals.
- The human rights message introduces two transformations, or one two-tiered transformation: (1) deposing oppressors and (2) dismantling, in addition, oppressive systems and their ways of defining human conduct, including authoritarian behavioral and psychological scripts.
  - In former times only (1) was carried out, not (2)—underlings rose up, instated themselves in the place of their former dominators, and kept the system in place. Human rights defenders betray and undermine their own mission if they follow this script and translate feelings of humiliation into nothing but tit-for-tat humiliation-entrepreneurship (1), while failing to walk their talk (2). Therefore, it is inherently

- inconsistent and self-contradictory to try to force human rights in ways that have humiliating effects.
- In the course of the transition toward the human rights ideal of equality in rights and dignity, what formerly was called "traditional cultural practices" transmute into violations that humiliates and violates dignity. The Indian caste system, for instance, once "respected" as cultural idiosyncrasy, is now condemned as "Indian Apartheid." Examples abound and some are enumerated above.
- Female genital cutting (FGC), the surgical mutilation of female genital organs, can serve as another example. *Ntanira Na Mugambo*, also known as "circumcision by words," has been developed in rural areas of Kenya by local and international women's health organizations. 77 A week-long program of community education about the negative effects of female genital mutilation, culminates in a coming-of-age ceremony for young women. In Senegal, also the *Tostan-UNICEF program* employs a participatory approach based on dialogue to help end female genital cutting, meaning that those who support the practice are not confronted in an alienating way but respectfully invited into a dialogue on new awareness. The Imam of Salémata praises this approach: "The Tostan approach is the best way to proceed, contrary to the approach of the Government which almost created a reaction of resistance and defiance. Dialogue is more effective than force."<sup>78</sup> Senegal has banned female circumcision in 1998, making it punishable by one to five years in prison. In 2007, also Egypt has announced that it is imposing a complete ban on female circumcision. 79 The Grand Mufti and the head of the Coptic Church declared that female circumcision has no basis in the Koran or in the Bible. The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) was adopted in 1979 by the UN General Assembly; consisting of a preamble and thirty articles, it defines what constitutes discrimination against women and sets up an agenda for national action to end such discrimination.<sup>80</sup>
- It is important to note that aggressive cycles of humiliation, when set in motion by individuals or groups, are not perpetrated due to nature but due to culture. Human nature is not aggressive per se, and humans are not naturally inclined to degrade and humiliate others. For instance, there is no archeological evidence for systematic war prior to 10,000 years ago. There is no archeological proof of organized fighting among early hunter-gatherers: "The Hobbesian view of humans in a constant state of 'Warre' is simply not supported by the archaeological record." Systematic warfare has been an inherent part of human culture only throughout the period of complex agriculturalism that only represents the last five percent of human history.
- The human brain "is hard-wired for connections." During the past ten millennia, the human readiness to connect with fellow humans has been channeled into hierarchical relationships of domination/submission, first into traditional societies of ranked honor and, more recently, into cultures that emphasize the might-is-right philosophy of what I call ruthless individualism. In such contexts, humbling and humiliating inferiors is regarded as a prosocial tool that subalterns have to endure quietly (honor humiliation). In a culture of human rights, in contrast, lack of respect for equal dignity is seen as an antisocial violation, and the hard-wired human readiness for connection finds space to be translated into relationships defined by mutuality. Feelings of humiliation arise when respect for equal dignity is failing (dignity humiliation).

• New research on mirror neurons offers important insights. 84 Mirror neurons are significant in many ways, among others for the evolution of social cohesion, empathy, and learning. Social emotions like guilt, shame, pride, embarrassment, disgust, or also lust are based on a uniquely human mirror neuron system found in a part of the brain called the insula. 85

Neuroscientist Vilayanur Ramachandran gives mirror neurons credit for causing the big bang of human development. 86 Mirror neurons allow for imitation, for reading others' intentions and thereby learning from each other. "Mirror neurons will do for psychology what DNA did for biology... They will provide a unifying framework and help explain a host of mental abilities that have hitherto remained mysterious and inaccessible to experiments."87 While many researchers believe that Ramachandran may go too far with his claims, ever more researchers begin to investigate their potential. Mirror neurons "are a mechanism of connecting me with you, one person with another, and therefore may play a vital role in communication and social interaction," explains cognitive neuroscientist Sarah-Jayne Blakemore. 88 The human ability to mirror the actions of others, may even have caused hominids branching off from apes. Monkeys and apes also have mirror neurons but, so claim the theories, the humanoid brain capitalized on them in ways that allowed them to move beyond simple imitation to more complex imitation, and that this in turn stimulated language formation, music, art, tool-making and even empathy. 89 Indeed, mirror neurons make the learning of culture and empathy through imitation possible. 90 Mirror neurons process social pain like physical pain. 91 Studies carried out by

Mirror neurons process social pain like physical pain. Studies carried out by neuroscientist António Rosa Damásio and his colleagues show that even though witnessing another person's physical pain registers more quickly in the brain than compassion for social or psychological pain, the latter leaves a longer-lasting impression. <sup>92</sup>

With respect to humiliation, research on mirror neurons suggests that one can feel as humiliated on behalf of a victim of humiliation one identifies with, as if one were to suffer this victim's pain oneself. And this phenomenon is magnified when media give access to the suffering of people in far-flung places. 93 Through modern media, feelings of humiliation can be felt by people far away from the location where these feelings were first elicited. These feelings can then be translated into acts of violence, acts that would be unintelligible without knowledge of the strength of empathy. Young men in London, for instance, have prepared to become suicide bombers in far away Middle East. Until his imprisonment in 2004, in front of north London's Finsbury Park mosque, cleric Abu Hamza al- Masri preached the message of honorable death in responsee to humiliation. 94 He thus capitalized on the capacity of mirror neurons to express empathy and then channeled this empathy into a narrative of humiliation that supposedly "required" violent responses. The first British citizens to become suicide bombers were Asif Hanif and Omar Sharif. These two young men had lived most of their lives far removed from the Middle East. On April 30, 2003, 21 years old Asif Hanif blew himself up outside the Mike's Place pub on the Tel Aviv promenade, killing three people and injuring 55. With him was Omar Sharif, 27, who ran away after his bomb belt failed to detonate. 95

Research on mirror neurons is thus important for the field of humiliation studies and connects it with themes such as global terrorism and the regional and global diffusion

of insecurity.96

## The New Approaches That Are Called for

This section looks at the future. It explains why ideas need to be developed for how the human condition may be organized in novel and innovative ways in the future, so as to ensure long-term social and ecological sustainability.

# The Need for Systemic Change<sup>97</sup>

The historical situation of humankind, as it presents itself at the current point in time, could be summarized, in a starkly simplified form, as follows: After the demise of the Soviet Block, we now witness the demise of the West as it was known. The Soviet Block abused the idea of communism for oppression, while the West abused the idea of freedom. Also freedom, if understood as might is right, entails the potential to lead to oppressive outcomes. In both cases, citizens were co-opted into supporting their own oppression. In the case of communism, submission was achieved through the promise that self-effacing uniformity would lead to material and psychological well-being for all. In the case of the West, submission was attained with the promise that self-enhancing difference—operationalized by the primacy of the profit motive (Adam Smith's *invisible* hand<sup>98</sup>)—would provide material and psychological well-being to all. In both cases, ruling elites succeeded in securing the support of broad masses. In both systems, they defended their power with power-over strategies informed by traditional honor codes, even though they no longer applied the brute and overt oppression known from past history but depicted domination as caring patronage informed by Enlightenment values and human rights. In other words, elites have learned to acknowledge the role of underlings as potential supporters of their domination, while in former times, the broad masses were regarded to be so inferior that they were not worth being spoken to, let alone convinced or co-opted.

At the present point in time, the next step in the paradigm shift informed by Enlightenment values and human rights needs to be embarked upon: not only are subalterns valuable as co-opted inferiors, they are worth more, they are worth receiving space to be true equals. Enlightenment values and human rights ideals can and should no longer serve as rhetorical shield for covert domination.

The reason for why a next step is necessary at the current point in time, is not only moral one, but also a very pragmatic one. Global interdependence represents the ultimate deterrent for power-over strategies. Nobody can win durable "victories" over others in an interdependent world, everybody is vulnerable. Global interdependence also represents the ultimate deterrent to the idea that in a world that depends on ecological homeostasis, the maximization of single elements (for instance, profit), is feasible. In this situation, profound transformation is called for, tinkering with symptoms is insufficient. Systemic change is overdue, locally, but, particularly, globally.

This call dovetails with the message of peace psychology. Daniel J. Christie lays out the contemporary scope of peace psychology: "In particular, three themes are emerging in

post-Cold War peace psychology: (1) greater sensitivity to geohistorical context, (2) a more differentiated perspective on the meanings and types of violence and peace, and (3) a systems view of the nature of violence and peace." <sup>100</sup>

What is needed is a panoply of new strategies. To briefly enumerate, as new philosophical foundation, the nondualistic principle of *unity in diversity* presents itself as helpful if deep change is to be achieved, no longer oppressive *uniformity*, nor unrestricted freedom for *difference*, <sup>101</sup> thus capitalizing on the lesson from past hyperpowers, namely that the inclusivity of "tolerance" is a superior strategy. <sup>102</sup> As to core guidelines and definitions, *interest* rather than *position*, and *output* rather than *input* must be foregrounded. <sup>103</sup> As to cultural and social practices and institutions, *communal sharing* needs to be given priority. <sup>104</sup> *Subsidiarity* is the suitable guideline for forging complex syntheses that can express unity in diversity—the European Union uses the *subsidiarity principle*. <sup>105</sup> For instance, a subsidiarity approach can help combine communal sharing with elements of market economy into new layers of local and global institutions. To bring about these changes and grasp the opportunities that typically are entailed in crisis, *women and men* are called on to recalibrate their contributions to society. <sup>106</sup>

# **Discarding Old Dichotomies**

Global crises call for new frames for local and global cultures, frames which give preeminence to optimizing and maintaining homeostatic balances rather than maximizing singular elements such as narrowly defined self-interest or profit.

Jean Baker Miller calls for the creation of *alternative arrangements* rather than accepting *false choices*. <sup>107</sup> Riane Eisler asks for new social categories that go beyond conventional dichotomies such as religious versus secular, right versus left, capitalist versus communist, Eastern versus Western, or industrial versus pre- or post-industrial. Other dichotomies can join this list of false choices: realism versus idealism, hatred versus love, altruism versus egoism, self-interest versus common interest, collectivist versus individualist, big versus small government, visible hand versus invisible hand, <sup>108</sup> private versus the state, isolationist versus internationalism, globalization versus localization <sup>109</sup> and so forth.

All these dichotomies must be embedded into complex layers rather than pitted against each other. Subsidiarity has been mentioned above as the suitable guideline for forging complex syntheses that can express unity in diversity. For instance, communal sharing can be combined with elements of market economy into new layers of local and global institutions. The same goal, namely that of replacing dichotomies with layers, is achieved by conceptualizing *holons* and *holarchies*, <sup>110</sup> or *regulatory pyramids*, <sup>111</sup> as well as by using the Weberian *ideal-type* approach to analysis <sup>112</sup> and the *reflective equilibrium* as epistemological frame. <sup>113</sup>

#### **Emancipation from Bondage**

In Rome, *pater familias* had the power to kill or sell into slavery those he had "under his hand," *sub manu. Emancipation* is the deliverance out of the hand of pater familias. <sup>114</sup>

In Norway, at the top of the Gender-related Development Index (GDI), 115 emancipation is a rather neutral and descriptive word, also in the gender context.

In Germany, which holds place 22 on the 2007/8 GDI, in contrast, the word is often used derogatively. "Germany's Failed Emancipation" is the title of an article that illustrates the situation. 116 A woman who tries to gain emancipation is "eine Emanze," a woman, who betrays her womanly essence and duties in exchange for selfish Selbstverwirklichung ("realization of her potential as an individual"). "Eine Emanze" is a disparaging label few women in Germany carry with pride. Wherever I turn, and I try to spend some time in Germany every year, German women begin a discourse about her wish to become more visible in the public realm and have a better work-life balance. 117 with a placating "first I want to declare that I am *not* eine Emanze!" A minority of German women would find it flattering to be compared with Alice Schwarzer, the most prominent contemporary German feminist, who is being perceived by many to be too aggressive and off-putting. As a result, those, who openly identify with feminism in Germany, often do not appear relaxed, but rather somewhat tense, displaying a provocative edginess carved into their body language. This edginess seems to disseminate the somewhat defensive message of "I know you don't like me, but don't even think you can intimidate me." The mainstream middle class women I meet in well-established German neighborhoods, in contrast, have yet to understand that it is not a personal vice to want to realize your potential. They still inscribe gender into the realm of individual choice or decision. They say to me: "Since my husband earned more money when our children were born, it was my free decision to become a housewife." They do not see that society at large may need to create a context where both men and women are enabled to contribute with their potential to their communities in general.

In other words, in line with their place at the top of the GDI, in Norway, the topic of the emancipation of women is handled in a much more relaxed and straightforward way, while there is a deep division in Germany, with bitterness and hostility on one side, and a placating "Ich bin keine Emanze!" on the other.

In France, another culture that I often experience when in Europe, the situation is slightly different. France recently came down from place 7 on the GDI in 2005 to place 10 in 2007/8, but is still recognized for making it possible for women to combine career and home. What is different in France, compared to elsewhere, is that sex plays an particularly interesting role. Sex is less taboo and handled with more ease in the public sphere—*cinq à sept* is a phrase that could not be understood in many other cultures: "In the days of Maupassant, mustaches and mistresses, the affluent Frenchman could not do without his cinq a sept—the 5-to-7 p.m. evening liaison with his paramour. Then he dashed home for a 7:30 dinner with his wife." France is the home of the historically most recent elite culture, the court of Versailles, which is still the blueprint for many status-conscious cultural expressions around the world—"international hotels" usually imitate Versailles, wealthy Chinese as much as rich Americans build French style chateaus also nowadays, and not without reason is *haute couture* a French phrase. Refined sexuality is part of this *haute* culture.

Women from Norway, with its rather egalitarian traditional background, are decades ahead of the rest of the world, while emancipation is much more difficult to achieve for French women, whose participation in turning their bodies into decorative images is part of an elite culture that otherwise gives high status. Unsurprisingly, French women, in

spite of being the slimmest in Europe, are the least satisfied with their weight and body (they are under an intense pressure from their men to be slim, in contrast to the British women in the survey, who have the highest body mass index (BMI) in Europe, but are the ones most satisfied with their bodies <sup>120</sup>). Also women in traditionally hierarchical societies such as Germany have a longer distance to cover, even though they are all part of Western culture. Women in traditional honor cultures, particularly where poverty prevails and education lacks, even if they may enjoy the social cohesion and warmth that these cultures sometimes provide, often pay with being mutilated psychologically and often also physically if they dare to think of emancipation.

Due to the starkness of the situation in honor societies, only very courageous people become defenders of human rights, including women's rights. The ones I met, often had strong support from their fathers, who gave them the courage and confidence to take their lives into their own hands and supported them in doing so. Nawal el-Sadaawi in Egypt, or Edna Adan in Somalia, to name just two of those extraordinary women, both had strong support from their fathers. In their case, pater familias no longer held his daughter *sub manu* so to speak, but removed his hands from the top of her head to place them under her to lift her up, nurture and enable her.

The last paragraph highlights how emancipation is not only for women. It is equally for men. Morton Deutsch points out the advantages of leaving the distorted selves of the past behind—dominators must withdraw from processes of domination and re-own and resolve their feelings of vulnerability, guilt, self-hatred, rage and terror, and undo the projection of these feelings onto the oppressed, while, so Morton Deutsch expounds, "psychologists, in their roles as psychotherapists, marriage counselors, organizational consultants, and educators have a role to play in demystifying the psychological processes involved in the dominators. So too... do the oppressed, by not accepting their distorted roles in the distorted relationship of the oppressor and the oppressed." 121

In this way, men profit from emancipation as much as women, both with respect to their own malehood, but also with respect to their women's femalehood. As the examples of Edna Adan and Nawal el-Sadaawi illustrate, fathers carry a particular responsibility. If they give their daughters the same support that traditionally is conferred on sons, they can give their daughters a tremendous gift. My own father belongs in this list and, even though he will never be able to read this paper, he deserves special appreciation and recognition here. Women and men, mothers and fathers, together, must bring about emancipation. Women and men must emancipate themselves and each other.

# Respecting the Individual, Rejecting the Culture 122

In order to own the historical transition of our time, we need emancipation also from misunderstanding human rights. Human rights defenders believe that cultural differences ought to be respected. But where does cultural differences come from?

Not all cultural differences are benign, some are toxic. What is toxic for underlings is often painted as beneficial by their superiors. Chinese women, for example, endured the toxicity of the practice of foot binding for one thousand years, because it was regarded as beneficial in the context of hierarchical patriarchal society.

Philosopher, sociologist, and social anthropologist Ernest André Gellner (1925–1995) in his book *Nations and Nationalism*, argues that culture can be a tactic, an instrument, rather than a primary cause. <sup>123</sup> According to Gellner, the social chasms of early industrialism brought national cultures and nationalism to the fore. The way to address such conflicts, says Gellner, is to focus not on the culture, but on the socioeconomic circumstances that gave rise to it. Political scientist, sociologist and social anthropologist Liah Greenfeld uses the example of Ethiopia and Eritrea and suggests that resentment plays a central role in nation building. <sup>124</sup> Also philosopher and historian of ideas Isaiah Berlin argues that nationalism often is motivated by some form of collective humiliation. <sup>125</sup>

Indeed, intricate configurations of oppressors and victims unfold in front of the eyes of third party observers of "other cultures." Women may be the victims of oppression perpetrated by their families, who are victims of oppression perpetrated by their national rulers, who are victims of oppression perpetrated by other states. Many victims will claim to have a different culture from their oppressors and ask third parties to recognize and respect *our* culture, while the oppressors will vehemently urge third parties to keep quiet and not interfere in what they regard as *our* culture.

Let me share a story that illustrates my point.

Orakwue Arinze, a spokesman for the Nigerian National Agency for Prohibition of Traffic in Persons (NAPTIP), told the BBC that vulnerable girls between the ages of 12 and 18 were being targeted [in Nigeria]. "Some of the victims of broken families... Some of them come from communities who have branded them as witches," he said. "So they have been thrown out of their homes and abandoned by their families." Mr. Arinze said the girls were promised a new life in Europe and told that they would easily get a well-paid job or get married. Before they left home, the traffickers forced the girls to swear an oath, he added. "The girl is taken to a shrine or a cemetery in the middle of the night, her finger nails are cut off, her pubic hair is shaved, a menstrual pad containing her blood is taken away, and then a piece of her clothing is removed," he said. "These are deposited in a shrine with wicked incantations that this girl should die and her family be wiped out in the event that she runs away or [exposes] these criminal practices," he added. Mr. Arinze said that such was the strength of the girls' belief in the oath, that even if they were presented with the opportunity to escape from prostitution once in Europe, hardly any would dare. "These girls sleep with as many as 30 men a day because when they get to the destination countries, the madams make them understand... that the earlier she pays back the money, the better for her."<sup>126</sup>

"Respecting" these girls' belief system and "accepting" their loyalty to it, would simply be identical with humiliating them. Freeing them, even from their own belief system, is the only expression of true respect. This message is valid for cultural differences within nations, between men and women (*Men Are from Mars, Women Are from Venus* was the title of a book that focused on cultural gender scripts<sup>127</sup>), between the generations, and—very importantly, since it is much more difficult to differentiate—also between different voices within one's own psyche.

# Forging a Sunflower Identity 128

Who Am I - and If Yes, How Many? is an evocative book title by essayist Richard David Precht that illustrates the multitude of voices that may speak in a self. 129

Also the self-concept or self identity benefits from being built according to the principle of subsidiarity. The image of a sunflower offers an illustration for how the different voices and aspects of a person's identity can be constructed in ways that respect its unity in diversity through subsidiarity, and how this means creating layers. Through layering, the inner identity structure can both be stabilized and brought to scale with the challenges of the world. <sup>130</sup>

Let me take my own identity as an example. The core of the sunflower that describes my identity represents my essence as a human being. Three layers of petals illustrate various secondary layers of identification: my fond connections to (1) the people I love, including my love for humanity in general, to (2) all benign cultural practices around the world that I cherish, and to (3) all those geographical places around the world that give me joy.

As soon as differences have been recognized, they can be ranked with respect to their scope. In that way, a sunflower identity allows for de-emphasizing toxic practices and beliefs without disrespecting the core of humanity, both one's own and that of others. Practices such as foot binding, honor killing or female genital mutilation, for instance, are better left behind, however, not with spite but respectfully. Through using a sunflower identity, it is possible, for example, to reject one's mother's beliefs in female subservience without disrespecting her, both when speaking with her, but, even more importantly, when conversing with the inner voice within one's own psyche that represents the mother.

Humankind needs to reach a new level of consciousness, *unity consciousness*, <sup>132</sup> if it wishes to build more constructive institutional frames, which, in turn, can stimulate new consciousness at a systems level. Also here a sunflower identity can be of help. The new consciousness that is needed, in every human being, means linking up with our core experience of our shared humanity, without letting secondary layers impede this experience.

Reaching a new level of consciousness requires an existential ontological shift, or a "spontaneous recognition" as taught by the Pratyabhijña school in Kashmir. Zen master Dennis Genpo Merzel calls it the shift to "big mind and big heart." <sup>133</sup> He explains how this can be brought about without rigidifying in ever new "paths," and without misappropriating it for reifying or aggrandizing one's own limited egocentricity (what Carl Jung calls "psychic inflation"). Also Harold W. Becker, the founder of The Love Foundation, underlines the importance of an innate awareness of the oneness of all of us. <sup>134</sup>

In the metaphor of the sunflower, the ontological shift that humkind needs to embark on can be described as foregrounding the core, and relegating the periphery to a secondary place, thus giving primacy to unity and embedding diversity into it. This does not mean undermining or negating the importance of diversity—on the contrary, diversity needs to be celebrated and protected—it means protecting unity from division.

#### **Embracing Humility**

When the norms of human rights prevail, the wounds that were caused by humiliation may be healed by humility if it is shared, inclusive, and embedded in relationships that respect each other's strengths and accept each other's weaknesses. That may sound unduly optimistic, but Nelson Mandela was able to unite South Africa, one of the most bitterly divided nations on Earth, by the example of his own humility and humanity towards his vanquished enemies.

Humility is sometimes avoided due to shame. A person with an ego orientation, for instance, may be caught in shame when failing a task or a role script, and may choose to bypass this shame rather than acknowledge it. For scholar of the sociology of emotions Thomas J. Scheff, bypassed shame—shame that is not acknowledged—is the motor of all violence and the source of *humiliated fury* (a term coined by psychologist Helen Block Lewis <sup>135</sup>). <sup>136</sup>

Shame is a powerful and prevalent emotion. In Western culture, it is often regarded as a pathogenic emotion. In Asian cultures, this is different. Even though shame in Chinese culture is an emotion of disgrace, as in most cultures, it is also a moral discretion and sensibility that people desire to develop. <sup>137</sup> Shame and guilt shade into each other in Asia. <sup>138</sup> Both emotions "direct people into self-examination in social situations in order to recognize their own wrong doings, as well as to motivate people to improve themselves." <sup>139</sup>

In other words, shame can be directed to positive and negative ends. The ability to feel shame and humiliation is not just something to be avoided, but represents an asset that society needs for *conscientization*, <sup>140</sup> and the creation and maintenance of cooperative societies, or what in Asia is called a *harmony* <sup>141</sup> and in Europe *social cohesion*. <sup>142</sup>

To conclude, in traditional honor societies, the practice of saving face typically serves domination, submission, or, in the best case, covert resistance to domination. Human rights advocate a *salutogenic* view of shame rather than *pathogenic* view, <sup>143</sup> with shame and face saving informing humility and serving the ideal of equality in dignity rather than submission/domination.

What is needed, is a *Moratorium on Humiliation*, <sup>144</sup> and an *Endorsement of Humility*, both with respect to how people treat other people, and how humans treat their biosphere.

## **Tapping the Power of Love**

The story of Paul Rusesabagina demonstrates the force of a loving approach to humanity. Paul Rusesabagina became known to the world through the film *Hotel Rwanda*. He managed to shelter more than 1,200 Tutsi and moderate Hutu while killers raged outside his hotel with machetes. On May 24, 2007, in an interview, he explained his strategy 146: He would find what he called the "soft spot" in perpetrators. "Nobody is totally good or totally evil," he said. In the interview, he describes one particular situation where his approach became live-saving: He once traveled from his house to the hotel, together with his family and a group of people who had sought refuge in his home. At a road block, he was stopped, given a gun, and ordered to kill his family and all others in his following, before to be killed himself. He looked into the eyes of the

man who gave these orders, while this man went about overseeing the killing of other victims at the roadblock. Rusesabagina looked at the killer and kept up his gaze for a long while, something like five minutes, very calmly, only briefly explaining that he was not able to handle a gun. He noticed how the killer could not stand his gaze. It seemed that Rusesabagina was touching something in the killer. The result was that Rusesabagina, together his family and friends, was allowed to leave without anybody being killed.

Philosopher Emmanuel Lévinas (1906–1995) worked on dialogue and caring. Lévinas's first magnum opus, *Totality and Infinity* analyzes the *face-to-face* relationship with *the other*, the fellow human being. Lévinas characterized most of philosophy as "egology" and argued, instead, for "love of wisdom," and "wisdom of love" For Lévinas the "space of love" is the space of ambivalence(s), the space of otherness(es)" To be ethical, one must be willing to enter this space. Communication is more than the exchange of information, it is the very vulnerability of myself that I bring. 149

The past 10,000 years saw a fragmented world being caught in a win-lose frame and security dilemma that forced everybody into cynical and dehumanizing Manichaean dualism. Love was instrumentalized by labeling it as a feeling opposite to hatred, and superiors coerced their subalterns to extend devoted love and fearful hatred "spontaneously" to the "correct" targets: superiors had to be venerated, in-group members were to be regarded as friends, while out-group members were potential or actual enemies. Religion was called on to legitimize such practices. Humiliating underlings was not yet defined as illegitimate violation. During the contemporary transition toward human rights, such traditional scripts are increasingly regarded as obscene violations. Space opens for loving I-Thou relationships of equal dignity. Our vision for the future is one of win-win frames and nondualistic unity in diversity in a globally united community, where cynical dehumanization is opposed, love freed as authentic self-chosen feeling, and relational skills taught that nurture and protect it.

Near-death experiences can produce significant leaps in consciousness <sup>150</sup>—the neuroanatomist Jill B. Taylor, <sup>151</sup> for example, attained deep change in her outlook on life and the world through a brain injury. What is needed today is the deep transformation that near-death experiences can cause in individuals, this time for all of humankind.

Teacher and theorist W. Barnett Pearce wrote a paper entitled "Serenity in the time of polysemy." He begins this paper as follows: "My title alludes to Gabriel Garcia Marquez' novel, *Love in the Time of Cholera*. Like the novel, it is intended to evoke a sense of the frictions between stability and change; permanence and decay; and life and death. Is it possible to pledge "undying love" while in a mortal body subject to lethal disease spread by acts of love? What is the shape of "honor" in a world of shifting allegiances and perceptions?"

#### Going Far Enough

The relational theory model (RTM) that was introduced by anthropologist Alan Page Fiske, <sup>154</sup> postulates four elementary and universal forms of social relations: <sup>155</sup> (1) Communal sharing (CS) means that people regard each other as "all the same." This is how family members often treat each other. (2) Authority ranking (AR) involves asymmetry among people who are linearly ordered along hierarchical social dimensions.

(3) Equality matching (EM) implies a model of balance as in turn taking. Examples would be car pools or a babysitting cooperative. (4) Market pricing (MP) builds on a model of proportionality, and relationships are organized with respect to ratios and rates.

In traditional collectivist ranked honor societies, authority ranking is dominant and typically entails overt oppression which maintains a gradient between elites and underlings. Commitment means subservience to one's masters, either grudgingly, or through *penetration*—penetration meaning the "implanting the topdog inside the underdog." Subalterrns identify with their oppressors by alleviating cognitive dissonance through adopting their masters' belief system rather than merely adapting to it pragmatically. 157

Throughout the past millennia, domination was achieved overtly, often through brute oppression. Yet, over time, domination was achieved more covertly. In recent centuries, particularly throughout the past decades of ruthless individualism, the top-down power gradient was maintained (and the wealth gap even widened) by unfettered market pricing (MP). In other words, penetration was achieved through covert manipulation, through advocating a might-is-right worldview, or, even more covertly, through instilling confidence in Adam Smith's *invisible hand* and its ability to bring about equitable distributions of wealth. <sup>158</sup> During the past decades, in all contexts where profit maximization was given priority, politically, culturally, and morally, it became acceptable or even one's duty, to commit to the ruthless individualism of maximization of narrow self-interest.

At the current point in history, a more responsible individualism is called for. This means committing to mutuality and respect for equal dignity rather than committing to overt or covert submission/domination. For responsible individualism to become *Zeitgeist*, the maintenance template entailed in communal sharing and in the female role script offers itself for emulation. This template merits being elevated to serve as leading paradigm. Authority ranking is best be relegated to a supportive role. The appropriate place for market pricing and equality matching is as special sub-cases in this context—market pricing only works constructively when embedded into global communal sharing, with equality matching as a special case of market pricing.

The template of communal sharing entails an element of care, which merits particular attention. In the course of the past decades, care and nurturing has been devalued in accordance with process of market pricing taking over. The element of care survived only in pockets, for instance, in families, in some segments of traditional collectivist societies, or in the expectations of migrants and refugees, namely, that they ought to be taken care of

In the course of my international life, for instance, I have often been approached as a caretaking patron who should facilitate, for instance, scholarships in Western countries. In her article "Asylum Seekers / Patron Seekers," the anthropologist Diane E. King demonstrates how patronage and clientage constitute an interpretive frame for migration by Kurdish people. Kurdish migrants look to the West and Westerners as potential patrons and are encouraged to migrate by their conceptualizations of patronage and clientage roles. Kurdish experiences of patron-client relationships (mostly in the form of clientage) influence their normative ideas about migration and resettlement processes. Participants in the Iraqi Kurdish body politic define themselves as clients and formulate the norms of the migration process by drawing on their experience as a part of a

hierarchical society structured "primordially," encompassing a variety of roles ranging from household to tribe to state.

The caring element in the communal sharing template currently moves into the limelight and is taken more seriously, however, it needs to be prioritized more, and more systemically. The global village is acquiring a life of its own, beyond McLuhan's initial connotations, <sup>160</sup> but this process needs to be guided proactively.

#### **Not Going Too Far**

Traditional collectivist honor culture entails all of Fiske's four elementary forms of human relations. Protest movements risk going too far when they discard the useful aspects entailed in these four forms in their wish to leave behind their oppressive elements. All four elementary forms of human relations entail elements that merit being held onto and nurtured. People, for instance, who, by trying to escape oppression, also avoid human relationships and love, go too far. The Wall Street financier introduced earlier, who eschews the burden of having a family, goes too far. "Wer zweimal mit derselben pennt, gehört schon zum Establishment" ("having sex with the same woman more than twice, means being part of the establishment"), a slogan of the student protest movement in Germany also called *68er-Bewegung* (movement of 1968), went too far. Commitment phobia merely displaces oppression with anomie, replacing a too-much with a too-little.

During my time as clinical psychologist in Egypt, I learned to appreciate the element of caring and togetherness in traditional collectivist society. Naama (her name is anonymized) came to me as a client, crying. Her sister had gotten married. What made Naama sad was the fact that she now had the room for herself that she used to share with her sister during all her life. She could not bear the thought of having to fall asleep alone at night. From the point of view of Western individualistic culture, she should have rejoiced—finally my own room! As it seems, collectivist culture values togetherness more than Western culture does.

Indeed, while a family is a closely knit unit in a collectivist culture, with separating lines demarcating the borders to whomever they define as out-groups, in Western culture, the separating lines have moved closer to the individual. In Western cultures, each individual effectively forms a separate unit with everybody else as "out-group." On a beach in Egypt, with only one family having settled down, one typically can guess the cultural background of a newly arriving family: Egyptian families will putting their towels alongside the first family, while Westerners will walk to the other end of the beach in order to be on their own.

For a person embedded into Western culture, the advantages of collectivist culture are often incomprehensible. The following example may help bridge the gap of non-understanding. Swimming with dolphins is a highlight for holyday makers in the Caribbean. It costs more to swim with dolphins than to swim alone. Togetherness is valued higher than aloneness in that case. In contrast, with respect to hotels for tourists, it costs more to be alone. Dormitories are cheap, while having "one's own room" is more costly. In extension, owning one's own home is regarded as a high value in Western cultures. What is overlooked is that being alone in one's own home may carry a high

psychological price. In other words, in the West, the value of possession has successfully trumped the value of togetherness, and the resulting problem, namely loneliness and depression, is individualized, left to psychotherapy and psychopharmacology.<sup>161</sup>

As a result, during my seven years as a clinical psychologist in Egypt, I never met the degree of anomie and loneliness there that I saw in my European clients. In Egypt, psychological difficulties were mainly connected with malign outfalls of hierarchical social structures. Among my Western clients, in contrast, suffering was often associated with feelings of forlornness, unconnectedness, and feeling insignificant. In other words, the foregrounding of individualism and possession in Western culture goes too far.

Going too far is also the problem of "anti-" movements, such as anti-capitalism, anti-communism, or anti-establishment. Such movements risk intensifying not only the commoditization of language, <sup>162</sup> but also inducing unnecessarily polarizing rigidity and malign biases into political, cultural, social and psychological fault lines. <sup>163</sup>

While clarity of standpoint is important, it can be achieved without fighting "against" and "anti," without risking the creation of new malignancies. Intercultural research indicates that creativity is enhanced through interactions of mutually contradictory but equally compelling forces. <sup>164</sup> Disorienting dilemmas, those that unsettle our fundamental beliefs and call our values into question, can bring about transformative learning. <sup>165</sup> When cultural assumptions are called into question, a "stress-adaptation-growth" process unfolds. <sup>166</sup>

This paper is written just after the 13th Annual Conference of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies "World Peace through Humiliation-Free Global Human Interactions" in Honolulu, Hawaii, August 2009. This conference was hosted by Dharm P. S. Bhawuk, Professor of Management and Culture and Community Psychology at Shidler College of Business, University of Hawai'i, Manoa. He addressed related themes in his work. 167

The lesson to be learned from intercultural research is that, rather than espousing plain antagonist stances, liberation is achieved more appropriately through transcending antagonisms by inviting complexity into new multilayered syntheses guided by the subsidiarity principle, Weberian ideal-type approaches and the reflective equilibrium. This reflects also the two-tiered character of the human rights revolution and satisfies nondualistic unity in diversity. 169

#### **Assuming Social and Societal Responsibility**

Creating a decent community of I-Thou relationships is a social and societal necessity, not just an individual responsibility. <sup>170</sup> Both oppressive authority ranking and exploitative market pricing use human beings as means rather than as ends. They systemically foster what Martin Buber calls I-It relationships rather than I-Thou relationships. In traditional honor societies, for instance, women are exchanged in marriage similar to exchange of commodities, including forced marriages. <sup>171</sup> The victims' suffering usually stays covert, quiet, and unexpressed, since their pain is not acknowledged as antisocial pain by society, on the contrary, people are expected to quietly accept it. This dynamic pertains also to the current economic structures; they individualize systemic failure by blaming the victim and labeling their pain as a personal self-inflicted problem that can largely be overlooked by society. <sup>172</sup>

This pain rises to the view of the public eye (including to the awareness of the victims themselves) usually only in transitional contexts when victims can escape and find audiences with open ears to hear the story and attest that this pain merits being seen as unjustly inflicted pain. The pain that is accepted as normal in traditional honor societies, for example, can fully emerge and be acknowledged as unjustly inflicted systemic pain only in cultural environments informed by human rights. Women, who escape forced marriages and honor killings can speak up and be heard. In the case of the economy, economic crisis opens space for similar transitions toward new paradigms, which, in turn, then unmask the systemic nature of individual pain and bestow legitimacy to the label "unjustly caused pain."

Also the case of Josef Fritzl in Austria has illustrated the suffering of victims in social environments of total domination, and how this suffering receives space to rise to public awareness when times change. Fritzl was both a victim and a perpetrator in a culture of brutal subjugation. He was regularly beaten and humiliated by his mother, and later he enslaved his daughter for 24 years. He was sentenced to life on March 19, 2009. He changed his pleas to guilty on all charges after having heard the video-taped witness account of his daughter the day before. During 24 years, he did not grasp the extent of his deeds. He acknowledged the pain of his daughter only when forced to face it by society.

Domestic violence in society at large mirrors Fritzl's case, only less starkly. It is increasingly unmasked as unjustly inflicted violence in contexts of human rights, rather than dubbed as well-deserved domestic chastisement. Domestic violence is particularly virulent in military families, since the military has its roots in the honor culture that emerged in response to the security dilemma that dominated human history for the past 10,000 years. <sup>175</sup>

It is important that society provides the space for pain to be shared and acknowledged, and that society stimulates the creation of new, less hurtful ways of designing social relations. The pain encapsulated in domestic violence, for example, needs to find an echo in the wider society, an echo that stimulates the emergence of conscientization<sup>176</sup> and social change, rather than being denied, disawowed, or dismissed as individual aberration.

Society will only open space for new paradigms if a critical mass of its citizens demands it. John W. Dower, in his book *Embracing Defeat*, describes the Japanese struggle for genuine *shutaisei*—true subjectivity or autonomy at the individual level—to

resist the indoctrinating power of the state. <sup>177</sup> Dower documents how Natsume Soseki (1867–1916), one of the premier philosophers and novelists of modern Japan, called for a spirit of individualism vis-à-vis the state. Also the novelist and essayist Sakaguchi Ango (1906–1955) affirmed the need for genuine shutaisei. For Sakaguchi, each individual needs to create his or her own "samurai ethic," his or her own "emperor system." <sup>178</sup>

The call for true subjectivity or autonomy dovetails with John Dewey's call for critical thinking to make democracy viable. 179 Postconventional moral reasoning is a related concept. 180 Paulo Freire calls for critical consciousness. 181 Elena Mustakova-Possardt, in building on Freire's work, proposes a life span developmental model of mature critical moral consciousness, achievable by a deepening lifelong integration of moral motivation, agency and critical discernment. 182 Soseki's call for shutaisei also echoes W. Barnett Pearce's concept of Robert Kegan's *equilibrium stages*, <sup>183</sup> the neo-Kohlbergian postconventional moral reasoning 184 and Ervin Staub's call to stand up and not by in the face of injustice and atrocities. 185 Staub argues that the significant element in the atrocities perpetrated by Hitler's Germany was that bystanders stood idly by instead of standing up and getting involved. Emancipation, civil disobedience, Mündigkeit, are related terms. Philospher Immanuel Kant made maturity (Mündigkeit) a conditio sine qua non of the Enlightenment, which he defined as the emergence from self-imposed immaturity and dependence. One becomes mature in breaking with relations of dependence and in accepting responsibility for one's own fate. One is oneself responsible for this immaturity if its cause lies, not in a lack of intelligence, but a lack of determination and courage to use one's own intellect freely and independently, without the direction of another. Kant summed up this idea in the famous Enlightenment slogan: Sapere aude! "Dare to know! Dare to think independently!"

#### Creating Mutuality and Embedding It into Respect for Equal Dignity

Five core strategies are on offer if one wishes to avoid feeling humiliated in the face of oppression: (1) accepting oppression through apathetic numbness, learned helplessness, wise surrender, or psychological disconnection, <sup>186</sup> (2) incorporating oppression through penetration, <sup>187</sup> through adopting oppressive worldviews, <sup>188</sup> incorporating them into *Obrigkeitsdenken*, (3) replacing the oppressors in revolutions or coups, (4) exiting into flight, emigration, exile, or similar distancing moves, including "inner emigration" into "commitment phobia," (5) systemic change toward institutions of mutuality in respect for equal dignity.

As to (1), in traditional collectivist honor societies, many underlings, throughout history, have tried to survive oppression by accepting it. In other words, they attempted changing their feelings, rather than changing their circumstances. This strategy has even become hard-wired. Women, for instance, react with a "tend and befriend" reaction to stress, rather than "fight or flight" as their male counterparts. Throughout history, while men were killed, women were often captured alive when communities were invaded and conquered; they may have adapted to this situation by developing the tend-and-befriend reaction to stress. Humor is another effective coping strategy for living with difficult circumstances, humor as individual strategy and humor as part of a culture. Czech *Good Soldier Schweik* (a figure created by Jaroslav Hasek, 1983-1923), epitomizes

subtle resistance that, in spite of its deep sincerity, is extremely witty. Egyptian humor is similar. It may stem from tackling millennia of oppression, oppression that incepted after Pharaonic greatness succumbed to Greek, Roman, Arab, French and at last British domination. Their humor gives Egyptians their reputation as the "Czechs" of the Middle East. Also specific "slave cultures" have carved out niches of livability for their members. <sup>190</sup>

Others bought into oppression (2). They identified with their oppressors and developed what is called *Obrigkeitsdenken* in Prussian Germany, or "blind trust in superiors, voluntary submission, and voluntary support for superiors' orders." Through Obrigkeitsdenken, inferiors can pretend to participate in their superiors' superiority <sup>191</sup> (evidently, this can never surpass a fake sense of superiority, achieved through self-humiliation). Also this strategy means attending to one's feelings rather than to one's circumstances.

Victims of oppression also have the option to turn the tables and become oppressors themselves (3). This strategy amounts to changing one's circumstances to change one's feelings. During the past millennia, repeatedly, uprisings succeeded in overturning and displacing existing regimes. Many such uprisings began with a call for equality, however, revolutionaries, typically, behaved like their forerunners once they had won. Dictatorial communist regimes or protest movements such as the Red Army Faction or RAF (German Rote Armee Fraktion), postwar West Germany's most violent and prominent militant left-wing terrorist group, can serve as examples. "Anti-" movements often wittingly or unwittingly replicate what they wish to dismantle. They tend to take only the first step in the two-tiered human rights revolution. 192

Strategies such as wife beating and other cruelties are typically used to keep power gradients in place under (2) and (3): "I beat you because I am told to do so by my superiors" (2), and, "I subjugate you because I want to have total control over you" (3). The latter was the solution sought, for instance, by Joseph Fritzl.

Keeping away from close social relationships in order to steer clear of oppression (4) may be labeled as ruthless individualism, *Entsolidarisierung* (de-solidarization, a term used in Germany), <sup>193</sup> or as culturally legitimized "commitment phobia." This strategy tackles feelings and circumstances through avoidance. Commitment phobia plays out at macro, meso and micro levels. At macro levels, isolationism in the spirit of "national interest first" could serve as an example. At meso levels, cultures of narrow self-interest à la. "I like fast cars and the rainforest in Brazil does not concern me," or "tax havens," that disregard the interest of their neighbors represent equivalents. The current economic crisis has brought this strategy to the fore and turned it sour—countries such as Switzerland, for instance, face strong criticism for their lack of commitment to the overall common good and have to cave in. <sup>194</sup> Bankers who engaged in global gambling and helped cause a global economic meltdown, face outrage. At micro levels, it is called commitment phobia when men and women avoid commitment to partners and other social relations and instead seek satisfaction in more "impersonal" strategies, shortcutting access to happiness by developing addictions to endogenous and/or exogenous substances. Some addicts only damage their own health and quality of life. Others endanger society at large, such as bankers who use risk-taking as psychological stimulus 195

All above mentioned strategies trade one evil for another. They pay with humiliation of others (2 + 3) or oneself (1 + 2), and third party neglect (particularly 4). For a society who wishes to transcend humiliation and dignify its dealings with itself and its ecological environment, none of the first solutions solves the problems they set out to solve. Both individuals and societies do not serve their self-interest and common interest in the long term by holding on to infeasible solutions.

Only the last strategy (5) is truly effective in reaching its goals. Creating a culture of mutuality and cooperation embedded into respect for equal dignity, and having this culture inform institutions deals with feelings of humiliation through dealing with oppressive circumstances. This is the human rights projects of equal rights and dignity for all, and of building a decent world, following the call for a *decent society* by philosopher Avishai Margalit. <sup>196</sup>

The increase of the reality and imagery of global interdependence, the comingtogether of the human family, opens space for the rise of the human rights movement and for solutions informed by its spirit. No longer is it necessary to simply make the best of systems of domination and submission. And confounding relationships with oppression and simply fleeing from committing to social relationships is only one other fallacy that needs unmasking. Engaging in commitment phobia and keeping away from loving relationships to avoid being oppressed is no longer necessary. The new solution is commitment to relationships of mutuality and cooperation without oppressive humiliation, in an atmosphere of respect for each other's equality in dignity, combined with a broader horizon, namely, an understanding that in an interdependent world, self-interest is identical with common interest. Human rights are the appropriate frame not just morally, but also pragmatically. They are the only frame that works in an interconnected world.

Proceeding from accepting humiliating oppression (1 - 3) to turning against it in ineffective ways (4), to committing to relationships without oppression (5), this is not just an individual process. Oppression has been part and parcel of culture around the world for the past millennia, therefore also liberation must become a political, cultural, social and psychological cultural project.

Many other conceptualizations can broadcast the same message. The intricate interplay of connecting two entities while avoiding oppression is expressed in Muneo Yoshikawa's *double-swing* model that is graphically presented as the infinity symbol or

Möbius strip ( $\infty$ ). Social cohesion (the European term<sup>197</sup>), social harmony (the term preferred in Asia<sup>198</sup>), social integration, cooperation, and solidarity can all be achieved by travelling through both loops of the Möbius strip rather than keeping them divided or forcing them to merge into one loop. Successful *pendulation*<sup>199</sup> is necessary; without it, we have alienation and lack of social integration. When pendulation succeeds, the result is intersubjectivity and interdependence (5), not dependence (1-3), and not independence (4).

The principle of *unity in diversity* is yet another framing through which the same message can be explained. Unity in diversity is the motto for successful pendulation (5), while uniformity within the in-group vis-à-vis division towards out-groups (1 -3), and generalized division (4), fail to produce true intersubjectivity and interdependence.

Also the notion of *cultural creatives* transports this message. The work done by sociologist Paul H. Ray and psychologist Sherry Ruth Anderson shows that we live in

times in which two groups of people—those who turn their attention inward to gain a new level of consciousness, and those who turn it outward as activists, two groups that once were separate and even hostile toward each other—now are in the process of merging into a single new large movement, that of the *cultural creatives*. Increasingly, people understand that peace within is only the beginning and that now time has come for action. Part of that action will be to take those who resist the path of the cultural creatives—Ray and Anderson call them the *traditionals* and the *moderns*—into the future. Cultural creatives aim for true interdependence (5), while traditionals wish to turn back into the past (1 - 3) and moderns tend to idealize generalized division (4).

The same message as organizations is also broadcast by organizations such as the United Nations Environmental Programme or UNEP, the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) or Greenpeace, and so forth, who all wish to change humankind's relationship with their ecological environment. Likewise, humankind must change the social relationships between its global citizens, between groups, between individuals, between men, women, and children, and even between the voices that each individual carries within her psyche. Improved social relationships will also impact humankind's chances to build constructive relations with its ecological environment. Peace means social sustainability, and social and ecological sustainability must go together.

# **Using New Leadership Styles**

New approaches to leadership are currently emerging, a new type of humble <sup>202</sup> servant-leaders <sup>203</sup> and selfless leaders, <sup>204</sup> so-called *outside-inside* leaders, <sup>205</sup> who forge innovative ways of organizing collaborative teams <sup>206</sup> with a flexible network orientation, rather than rigid organizational structures, <sup>207</sup> who can navigate the paradoxes of global leadership, <sup>208</sup> and master the necessary identity transformations. <sup>209</sup>

What characterizes all types of new leadership is that elements have gained significance that traditionally were part of female role descriptions, for instances, awareness of the cohesion of the social fabric, maintaining harmony, and engaging in dialogue. The UNESCO's Culture of Peace Programme, for instance, attests to the strengthening of the traditionally "female" aspects in efforts of global leadership for conflict resolution. The list of potential female contributions is a long one: <sup>210</sup> Using multitrack, "track II," and citizen-based diplomacy; installing early warning institutions; rethinking the notion of state sovereignty; setting up projects to study and understand the history of potential conflict areas, collecting this information, and making it available to decision makers; using psychology on a macro level, taking identity as a bridge; keeping communication going between warring parties; talking behind the scenes; including people besides the warlords in peace negotiations; developing conflict-resolution teams with less hierarchy and more creativity; setting up mediation teams; installing "truth commissions"; allowing warring parties to feel the world community's care, respect, and concern; taking opponents in a conflict out of their usual environment; taking the adversaries' personal feelings and emotions seriously; recognizing the importance of human dignity; introducing sustainable long-term approaches on the social and ecological level; progressing from spending aid money after a disaster to allocating resources to prevent it; and so on.

## **Calling on Women**

Traditionally, women's role is to follow, while men lead. For the period of the current paradigm shift, I suggest that more women should consider leading, particularly older and experienced women, inviting men to follow, so as to prepare for a future where all can lead together.<sup>211</sup>

Let me explain. The problem with new paradigms <sup>212</sup> is that they should not be anchored in old paradigms, or, to be more precise, anchoring new paradigms in old ones must be done with caution if the new paradigm is to have any chance to be seen. Albert Einstein is credited with saying that "we can't solve problems by using the same kind of thinking we used when we created them." Yet this is easier said than done. Living a new paradigm without a supporting culture and supporting institutions is difficult. This is the dilemma that human rights defenders face. If they take the new paradigm of equality in dignity for all seriously, if they emphasize this in their lives and in the world despite the fact that it may not fit mainstream expectations, they risk being ostracized. Their message, instead of being heard, may be ridiculed and dismissed. In some world regions, human rights advocates risk their lives.

Indeed, pioneer work typically lacks safety nets. Pioneers continuously run into difficulties. Well-meaning friends often advise pioneers that they should turn to the old paradigm to address the difficulties connected with pioneering the new one, overlooking that pioneers, if they want to be true to themselves, should avoid this strategy as much as possible. "Settle down, have kids, and concentrate on your home" is perhaps not the best advice for a woman who aspires to be a professor at a university, for instance, or who encounters the infamous "glass ceiling."

The pragmatics of promoting new paradigms resembles extraordinary expeditions, expeditions to as-of-yet unconquered mountain peaks or as-of-yet undiscovered horizons. The human rights revolution may be compared with an expedition to an as-of-yet undiscovered plateau that is located at a much higher level of maturity than humankind has reached so far. Expeditions are structured very differently to "normal life." Expeditions require a certain timing, a particular build-up of strength, and a very high level of dedication. Certain expeditions should not be envisaged if their leaders are not willing to invest their utmost.

Who has both the motivation and the resources to engage in the expedition of bringing human rights to a new level of implementation? Women with resources, those highly educated, highly creative, and highly courageous women who can be found in all walks of life and in all cultural realms may be the best candidates at the current point in history. They have the motivation to work for equality in dignity for all since many of them have experienced discrimination and humiliation, and at the same time, they have the necessary resources to be audacious.

Other groups that often combine those two aspects are minorities, migrants, and people with multicultural backgrounds and orientations, be it mixed ethnic or linguistic backgrounds, or sexual orientations that do not concur with cultural mainstream definitions. <sup>213</sup> In sum, all people who experienced humiliation due to being outsiders, in whatever form, and who are resourceful, carry an important potential and responsibility

to nudge human rights from outright denial or mere rhetoric to factual reality. They can realize the human rights potential when they acknowledge and own it pro-actively—Barack Obama is a good recent example.

How can the experience of humiliation be a motivator? Moral judgment fails without feelings. <sup>214</sup> As Antonio Damasio points out in *Descartes' Error*, one cannot even make rational decisions without emotions. <sup>215</sup> Joseph P. Forgas confirms that "individuals who suffer certain kinds of brain damage to the prefrontal cortex that impairs affective reactions but leaves cognitive capacities intact tend to make disastrous social decisions, and their social relationships suffer accordingly, even though their intellectual problem-solving ability may be completely normal." <sup>216</sup> Feelings of humiliation are the strongest emotional driving force for the conscientization <sup>217</sup> that is necessary to move the human rights revolution forward.

How can the experience of being an outsider be of help? Intercultural research indicates that creativity is enhanced through interactions of mutually contradictory but equally compelling forces. <sup>218</sup> Disorienting dilemmas, those that unsettle our fundamental beliefs and call our values into question, can bring about transformative learning. <sup>219</sup> When cultural assumptions are called into question, a stress-adaptation-growth process unfolds. <sup>220</sup>

Regrettably, cognitive adaptation and emotional growth can also fail. Disorienting dilemmas and the experience of humiliation can also bring meta-emotions (how people feel about feelings<sup>221</sup>) to the fore that nudge people toward past paradigms instead of future paradigms. The potential that human rights entail is betrayed when simple past-oriented tit-for-tat responses or revengeful humiliation-entrepreneurship are chosen as "remedies" for humiliation. Violent conflict may ensue.

Israel may serve as an example. The disorienting dilemmas and humiliations that characterized the Jewish Diaspora experience for two thousand years have produced unparalleled intellectual brilliance; people with Jewish backgrounds around the world have enriched humanity tremendously. Their brilliance is a great resource that merits being invested into helping the world create a decent global society. Avishai Margalit, a philosopher with a Jewish background based in Jerusalem, invested his brilliance into authoring future-oriented books such as *The Decent Society*. The same brilliance is wasted, however, even if only unwittingly, when it is invested into strengthening traditional paradigms of a world society fragmented into in-groups pitted against hostile out-groups.

What is needed for building a decent world society is the traditional female role template. Relationship building is its foundation. Men are often blind to the need to build relationships and lack the required skills, not because they are ill-intentioned, but because they are socialized differently. Even the most feminist man may not remember birthdays or be able to engage in the intricate dialogues that are necessary to create networks of relationships of mutuality between equals. Traditional hierarchical system of instruction-from-above-and-obedience-from-below are much less communication-intensive. Therefore women who know about relationship building must invite men to see. The blind are also blind to their blindness. It is inappropriate to become angry with blindness.

And, as noted earlier, not only is the female role template beneficial for building a decent global community, even the so-called corporate world profits from embracing it.

Consultants to the corporate sector spend much time on speaking about the importance of "human capital." Emphasizing human capital signifies nothing else than the promotion of the female cultural template.<sup>224</sup>

Let me make a to-do list for those women and men who combine an experience of humiliation with the resources enabling them to bring the new paradigm of equality in dignity to a new level. I will speak particularly to women, because, when I meet women and men around the world—and I know thousands personally—I observe how highly resourceful women are held back from making the contributions to society that they can and should make because they are being discouraged, not only by their social environments but also from within their own psyches. I would like to place a counterweight to this discouragement through my work. This speaks not only to women, however, also men should feel addressed, not least fathers of daughters.

Before proceeding to the to-do list, please let me confirm my stance with respect to gender categorizations (as well as age categories, or in-group/out-groups categorizations such as ethnic, racial, religious categorizations) as not being essential aspects of "human nature." Conceptualizing them as such would represent a misperception that leads to unnecessary humiliation. What is essential about human nature is that all human beings are born into a process of cultural adaptation. Everybody tries to negotiate culture with his and her desire for self-validation, acknowledgement, recognition, and love. The locus of control is neither in the individual nor in the group—culture influences individuals and vice versa. This section, and, indeed, my entire work, wishes to hasten the process of this cultural adaptation by reaching out to as many individuals as possible, explaining that there is room for more dignity within everybody's own psyche and in everybody's relationships with fellow human beings, and that this room needs to be proactively shaped so as to give space to more dignity and diminish humiliation.

See now a to-do-list of six points.

# (1) Be Neither Arrogant Nor Submissive

To women: Do not be arrogant, be self-critical. However, don't be obsessively self-critical. Women tend to under-estimate their own intelligence (while men are prone to over-estimate their level of intelligence). This bias is not due to personal choice, but to social pressure. Women are often penalized for being confident. In other words, do not forget that problems may stem from socialization into wider cultural environments rather than from personal shortcomings. Refrain from unduly weakening yourself through exaggerated self-criticism.

#### (2) Seek Weak Ties

Sociologist Mark S. Granovetter<sup>227</sup> did research on whether people find jobs through strong or weak social ties. He built on Tönnies' differentiation of *Gemeinschaft* versus *Gesellschaft*,<sup>228</sup> explaining that in a *Gemeinschaft* people have strong ties and share norms so thoroughly that little effort is needed to gauge the intentions of others. Such settings do not allow for much individual autonomy and are easily disrupted by even minimal dissent. Granovetter recommends having many weak ties to a number of people, not least because this provides more individual autonomy.

Having many weak ties in one's life does not exclude stronger ties. It does not mean failing responsibilities or violating dignity. It does not mean disconnection. It does not mean commitment phobia, not vis-à-vis other adults and not vis-à-vis once children. <sup>229</sup>

To women: Build large social networks of weak ties for yourself. Distribute the burden flowing from your expectations and needs onto a wider network than only a core group of people. Use the pathways for the constructive optimism and hope that C. Richard Snyder advocates in his hope theory. He defines hope as "the perceived capability to derive pathways to desired goals, and motivate oneself via agency thinking to use those pathways." <sup>230</sup>

## (3) Seek Recognition from a Network of Like-Minded People

Educator Paul Richards, in his work, formulates five messages that everybody needs to hear every day in order to remain psychological healthy:

The five most common basic messages:

- I see you fully and completely.
- I regret your misfortunes and sufferings. (Regret/apology without blame or guilt.)
- I accept and love you without condition. ("You are in the pack!")
- I appreciate and am grateful for your contributions and achievements.
- You are safe from me and with me. ("Safety exists!"). <sup>231</sup>

In traditional societies, men are given the power to define what makes a person a "good" or "bad" person. Therefore, respected males are often regarded as main providers for the above quoted messages, both by men and women. Many men seek their main recognition from male elders and peers they respect, while women seek them from their "significant Other," who, in most cases, is also a male. All suffer when the person or persons they target with their expectations, fail them.

This socialization, to my view, is perhaps the most noteworthy obstacle for extraordinary women to succeed with their ambitions. Too often, they seek recognition from only one man, and not only that, they seek it from the one man who has the greatest problems with her intellectual capacities and their ambitions. Many of the highly educated women I meet around the world carry an emotional "black hole" in their lives, a black hole that swallows most of the energy they otherwise could invest constructively.

They waste hours on end on discussing with their female friends "their man" (including past partners) and his myriad let-downs.

The story often goes as follows: Wherever I meet extraordinary women, around the world, in all cultural contexts, they testify that men find their excellence fascinating until the relationship becomes closer. The more committed the relationship becomes, the more traditional expectations seep in. Expectations connected with male identity as "the man in charge" become threatened.

Hopefully, women with high ambitions will find a more welcoming world in the future. But so far, scripts for love relationships between equals are still weak, and rivalry, either overtly or covertly, consciously or beyond consciousness, easily poisons the relationship. And this hurts women more than men when they have inserted their "significant other" into the center of their psychological health.

The problem for those women is that it is difficult to gauge, in the beginning of a relationship, whether a man can truly accept a strong woman, or whether his claims are only rhetorical. Since she does not have enough lifetime to test all the men who seem promising at the outset, it may therefore be better for ambitious women to pay the price of refraining from too close partnerships rather than being torn apart by repeating hopeful beginnings and heart-breaking ends.

Extraordinary women must be prepared to forsake the love they dream of at the current juncture in history. It is not prudent to place the core happiness of one's life on winning probabilities comparable to a lotto game. Those who win deserve to be congratulated, but mainstream male culture may only catch up with extraordinary women in one hundred years or more. In the transition phase, women who desire to surpass traditional cultural paradigms must avoid draining their emotional strength. As a way out, until mainstream socialization has transformed, women of ambition may be well advised to create multilayered webs of weaker ties and stronger ties to like-minded women and men who can provide them with the recognition they need. The vision of the *one* deep, all-consuming, and mutually respectful dialogical love relationship with *one* partner that so many of my resourceful female friends yearn for, will inform male socialization in the future, only if women avoid being broken down by its lack at the current point in history.

Let me introduce Dalida to illustrate the challenges that extraordinary women face, a cosmopolitan artist, born in Egypt into an Italian family, who later built a career in France and internationally, performing in more than ten languages including French, Italian, Arabic, German, Spanish, Hebrew, English, Dutch, Japanese, and Greek. On YouTube, one can watch a summary of the news coverage of her voluntary death on May 3 1987, at the age of 54. Since she was a singer, she could express despair through art. Her interpretation of "Je suis malade" ("I am ill") an artistic rendering of the cries, the sobs, and the weeping of solitude and despair that I heard from extraordinary women I sat with around the world. One of the reasons for me doing the work I do is to show other ways out for ambitious women caught in this solitude than despair and suicide.

Like many creative people, Dalida, in addition to having a cosmopolitan background and leading an international life, was beautiful, feminine, and extremely successful. All this, however, did not make her happy. She was lonely within herself, even though she was surrounded by friends: this is how one of her friends explains her suicide.

Jasvinder Sanghera is the co-founder and director of Karma Nirvana, a communitybased project that supports South Asian women, men and children affected by domestic violence and honor-based crimes.<sup>234</sup> In an interview, she explains how vulnerable and alone she felt when breaking out of her forced marriage.<sup>235</sup> She describes that women in England are aided by the Forced Marriage Act that came into force in England in 2008, however, that this does not make them less lonely. Through creating the Honour Network, she and her colleagues try to provide a substitute for the family that girls who fled from coercion typically lose. Also I know, first hand, from my time as a psychologist in Egypt the agony of girls who wish to go beyond the boundaries drawn for them by their families.

Interestingly, the same agony is shared by Western women when they surpass boundaries, even though, in their case, the boundaries are much wider. This is, incidentally, also why I can breathe in Norway more than anywhere else, and are less alone there, because the boundaries are widest in Norway.

To women, particularly to outstanding women who surpass traditional boundaries of female scripts: Strive to become more confident within yourself, lovingly remove power from people who, at the current point in the cultural transition, may be overburdened with providing you with the recognition you need, and systematically and intentionally widen your networks of weak ties, taking in the recognition flowing from such networks purposefully, rather than waiting for illusions in vain.

### (4) Gain Critical Distance from Your Socialization

Many men are socialized into striving to be in control, particularly with respect to women, rather than to cooperate on an equal footing, particularly not with women. And many women support this script, either overtly or without being aware of it.

Earlier, I wrote that it is inappropriate to get angry with blindness. Care ethics, as proposed by feminist, educationalist, and philosopher Nel Noddings and feminist, ethicist, and psychologist Carol Gilligan place responsiveness to others at the centre, responsiveness that suggests providing care, preventing harm, and maintaining relationships. Noddings argues that because we are so intimately intertwined with one another, reasoning based on rules and contracts built around the self-contained individual distorts the actual conditions of our lives. Problems, including moral problems, are embedded into a contextual frame that eludes abstract, universal reasoning. Caring means apprehending the other's reality, feeling the other's reality, to the degree that acting on behalf of the other as though on my own behalf, becomes compelling. 237

Clinical psychologist Pamela J. Birrell critiques standard ways of defining ethics in psychotherapy and recommends the feminist ethic of care, informed by the ethics of Emmanuel Lévinas, along with feminist ethics of listening. <sup>238</sup>

I suggest that Birrell's approach should be applied not only in psychotherapy, but also as a template for the present paradigm shift. Birrell's approach means lending our eyes, ears, and souls to our fellow human beings and help each other see our blind spots and overcoming them lovingly.

"Listening into-voice" is a phrase Linda M. Hartling explains as follows:

The expression "listening into voice" draws our attention to the fact that human communication is a bi-directional experience. It is a phrase that encourages us to

attune to the fundamental relational nature of speaking. It reminds us to look beyond the individualist myth that speaking is a one-way experience in which the speaker is solely responsible for communicating effectively. Speaking is interactive. It is a two-way experience in which both (or all) people participating in the relationship can chose to listen and engage in a way that will help others to effectively express and clarify their ideas.<sup>239</sup>

# (5) Learn Dialogue and Negotiation

There are two basic definitions of reconciliation and conflict resolution, one built on subjugation of non-equals—a past-oriented definition—and a future-oriented definition focusing on dialogue between equals.<sup>240</sup>

Let me illustrate this basic dichotomy with some stark examples. A tyrant will teach his underlings the lesson that conflict resolution and reconciliation are achieved when underlings are subservient. This "education" is the daily ration meted out to many people in Zimbabwe, Myanmar, or North Korea, as well as to many victims of domestic violence.

A Nelson Mandela or Rosa Parks, on the other hand, will edify the lesson that conflict resolution and reconciliation are obtained when equal rights and dignity for everybody are respected. Rosa Parks refused to acknowledge the racially discriminatory practices in the bus service in Memphis in 1955 and remained seated. She would have deserved the Nobel peace prize together with Martin Luther King for creating conflict rather than being complicit in the "peace" of subservience.<sup>241</sup>

As Rosa Parks's activism illustrates, there are also two kinds of conceptualizations of peace, security, stability, freedom, and empowerment—all these terms are used with opposing meanings.

The word *concord*, stems from Latin *cum* which means *with* and *cord* which means *heart*. *Concord* means that our *hearts* are *with* each other. The word *conflict*, in contrast, comes from verb *flectere*, to *bend*, to *curve*. In conflict, *discord* displaces *concord* and may lead to *confrontation*. The word *confrontation* entails the Latin word *frons* which means *forehead*. In *confrontation*, *foreheads* are placed *against* each other, in opposition. The word *reconciliation* has its roots in Latin as well and means *to restore harmony*, to "bend" conflict into concord. The problem occurring in the middle of a transition is that conflict may be bent back into the old concord, or forward into a new one, with two diametrically opposed kinds of harmony and peace as outcome.

A husband who habitually beats his wife and children, believing that domestic chastisement of disobedient family members is his duty, will define "successful reconciliation" and "peace" as the "quiet submission" of his family members under his routine domination. In conflicts of interest with men he considers fellow competitors he will most probably call it successful reconciliation when he has achieved "victory." He will frame negotiation in terms of a duel, and aim to defeat the "enemy."

Politics at macro levels are still widely conducted in this way: with equals, with those who have somewhat comparable leverage and/or standing, or who aspire to obtain it, adherents of traditional Realpolitik often enter into duel-like combat. Subalterns, in contrast, are expected to "understand" that they will face "grave consequences" if they

resist routine domination. The protection of honor against humiliation is central for superiors, and "messages of strength" are sent off, so as "not to appear weak." The path to "reconciliation" and "peace" may entail everything from violence and war to a shrewd mix of arm-twisting and deceptive Machiavellian "negotiation" of "conflicts of interest" (be it disputes over access to water, land, or other resources). Game theory is the conceptual frame, or, more precisely, versions of game theory that assume that people are "rational" actors who aim at self-preservation by cannily calculating their leverage, always gauging the bottom line of what they can aspire to and what not. Reconciliation is seen as accomplished when all defeated opponents "understand" that it is in their "interest" to acquiesce to the victor's domination, and submissively enter the ranks of underlings.

In contrast, someone who defines domestic chastisement as *domestic violence*, will not differentiate between equals and non-equals, but will conceive of everybody as equal in dignity. This person will define successful reconciliation and peace as respectful dialogue and negotiation embedded into relationships of mutuality. In the same spirit, Realpolitik of the future will define reconciliation as Nelson Mandela understood it when he met with de Clerck in South Africa. Mandela invited de Clerck firmly and respectfully to forsake his belief in white supremacy. He welcomed de Clerck into a new world of equal dignity for black and white people. While in old times masters were toppled and new masters took their place, Mandela did not only ask the supremacists to step down. Mandela did not become a black supremacist. He dismantled the system itself. Mandela did not install black supremacy, and he did not perpetrate genocide on the former elite (as was done in Rwanda). Mandela treated de Clerck with respect. Mandela even turned many of his former prison guards into friends.<sup>242</sup> He aimed at long-term peace of equal dignity for all, not merely at short-term victory over his opponents.

To conclude, conflict resolution and reconciliation can be defined (1) as *successful* domination over un-equals or (2) as *successful* calibration of mutuality between equals. In the first case, "routine humiliation" is its core tool, humiliation that is regarded as "honorable lesson" whose pain is beneficial. In the second case, humiliation transforms into an offensive violation of humanity itself. Both approaches are part of the two irreconcilable normative frameworks of ranked honor versus equal dignity.

One cannot use both frameworks alongside each other. One cannot rank people into higher and lesser beings and at the same time consider them as equal in dignity—the ranking and non-ranking of human value and worthiness cannot co-exist. In extension, terms such as conflict resolution, reconciliation, harmony, peace, or love, all entail alternative interpretations at their core which stand in diametrical opposition with each other. It is therefore that it is necessary to qualify these terms further, in all walks of life. This pertains also to terms such as love, sex and parenthood. It needs to be made clear which kind of love, sex and parenthood is refered to in any given moment, the one that carries humiliation as legitimate tool at its core, or the one that outlaws it.

As discussed earlier, from negotiation handbooks we learn that we need to focus on interest and not on position to attain optimal outcome. <sup>243</sup> If two people fight over an orange, for example, sharing it equally would solve the conflict, however, not optimally. The optimal solution would be to ask more detailed questions, and consider, for example, that one person wishes to use the skin of the orange for a cake, while the other wants to make juice from the fruit meat. As a result, the outcome would be that both have 100

percent of their interest served, not just 50 percent of their position. Not that such a positive outfall can be guaranteed— sometimes a situation does simply not entail the potential for win-win solutions—but by not searching for such potential win-win solutions, those solutions are overlooked and untapped.

In times of transition, particularly when words entail such mutually exclusive meanings, it is of vital importance for all players to learn listening, dialogue and negotiation. It is not sufficient to operate with words and labels and expect shared meanings. Asking deeper questions is what is needed. Norwegian philosopher Arne Næss developed the notion of the "depth of intention," the "depth of questioning," or "deepness of answers." Næss writes, "our depth of intention improves only slowly over years of study. There is an abyss of depth in everything fundamental." Greater depth means continuing to ask questions at the point at which others stop asking. 245

The need to learn listening, dialogue, and negotiation is pressing in all walks of life, including in love relationships. In ranked collectivistic societies, the father, uncle or eldest brother of a girl usually negotiates with her future husband and his family the terms of the planned marriage, and the same men are expected to act as the girl's advocate whenever she runs into difficulties with her in-laws. I witnessed this process innumerable times during my years in Egypt. I also saw the vulnerability of Western women married into Egyptian society if she and her family believed in love without negotiation.

To women: The Western concept of romantic love as love that would be weakened if "negotiated," to me, betrays the youthful immaturity of this concept. Oppressive negotiation (when the father decides for his daughter, for example) is not remedied by non-negotiation but by non-oppressive negotiation. Much more is required, namely loving negotiation between non-dominators. What is needed is a new definition of loving negotiation as intricate dialogue, where all players invest into their relationships at all levels, verbal, nonverbal, directly and indirectly.

# (6) Don't Be Discouraged, Don't Give Up, and Don't Shy Away from Compromises

Sociologist Allan G. Johnson, in *The Gender Knot: Unraveling Our Patriarchal Legacy*, reports how millions of women, at the present point in time, are tired of struggling.<sup>247</sup> They retreat into simply hanging on to what has been achieved so far. And well-intentioned men are passive because they fear inviting guilt and blame simply for being men. The result is a knotted tangle of fear, anger, blame, defensiveness, guilt, pain, denial, ambivalence, and confusion. The more this knot is exposed to pull, the tighter it gets.

To women: do not allow yourself to be discouraged. Be prepared. As soon as you, as a woman, wish to enter a world of primarily male dominance, you will not necessarily be supported, but face humiliation, overtly and covertly. Since men are still in the most influential positions in the world, outside in the public realm, while the female sphere is still mainly inside the home, women and men are bound to face an uphill struggle if they wish the solidarity and cooperation that characterizes the female role script to become more prevalent in society.

If you do nothing but engage in aggressive opposition, you will be sucked into negativity. Paradigms shift step by step, tipping point by tipping point.<sup>248</sup> Creative "Trojan Horse" compromises can hasten such tipping turns. However, be prepared that such approaches often entail conditions that are humiliating, at least for a while. A Trojan Horse is a pitiable horse until it has revealed its true power. Likewise, cooperation, as an approach, may be ridiculed until it has had a chance to prove its true value. Cooperation, solidarity, nurturing, facilitating, selfless leadership, communal sharing, all those approaches that are widely practiced within the traditional female realm, need to be championed beyond this realm now, even in the face of initial derision.<sup>249</sup> Be ready. Only by protecting our personal strength and integrity from being broken down by the adversities we meet, will we succeed.<sup>250</sup>

Jean Baker Miller coined the phrase "waging good conflict," <sup>251</sup> a term that was central for my book *Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict.* <sup>252</sup>

To women: Keep waging good conflict!

# **Concluding Remarks**

Globalization entails benign and malign aspects.<sup>253</sup> "Globalization critics" do not oppose all aspects of globalization. They do not oppose global civil society, for instance, a benefit flowing from the coming-together of humankind. However, they are uneasy about the possibility for humiliation, or what I call the lack of *egalization*.<sup>254</sup>

At the present point in human history, citizens increasingly relate to each other across borders, states are losing their status as more or less isolated entities that constrain and define their citizens' global relationships. Yet such relationships can also turn sour. Global terrorism is only one example for the fact that globalization does not necessarily lead to global friendship. Even though a global *supranational We-feeling* is in the making, and the *struggle for recognition* by individuals alongside that of states is emerging as a force at the system level, <sup>255</sup> such tendencies need to be nurtured and helped forward more systematically. We do see the emergence of *postindividual consciousness* emerge, <sup>256</sup> or *unity consciousness*, <sup>257</sup> or a "Kantian culture" of collective security or "friendship," or a *global civic culture*, <sup>259</sup> and a *world society*, <sup>260</sup> however, they are still inadequately systematized and institutionalized.

A growing number of people are now joining the so-called cultural creatives movement who refuse "cynical realism." As reported earlier, Paul H. Ray and Sherry Ruth Anderson identify three main cultural tendencies: (1) moderns (endorsing the "realist" worldview of *Time Magazine*, the *Wall Street Journal*, big government, big business, big media, or past socialist, communist, and fascist movements); (2) the first countermovement against moderns, the traditionals (the religious right and rural populations); and (3) the most recent countermovement, the cultural creatives (who value strong ecological sustainability for the planet, liberal on women's issues, personal growth, authenticity, and anti–big business). In the United States, traditionals comprise about 24–26 percent of the adult population (approximately 48 million people), moderns about 47–49 percent (approximately 95 million) and cultural creatives are about 26–28

percent (approximately 50 million). In the European Union, the cultural creatives are about 30–35 percent of the adult population.

What is lacking at the current point in human history is global leadership that informs the creation of a decent global community of social and ecological sustainability, following the call for a *decent society* by philosopher Avishai Margalit. <sup>262</sup> Viable global superordinate institutional structures are still lacking, structures that can effectively overcome Hobbesian anarchy among citizens and states and that can successfully attend to the wounds humankind has inflicted on its ecological environment.

Since this paper has been prepared for the 15th Annual Conference of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, "Peace at Home, Peace in the World," 28th-30th April 2010, in Istanbul, it calls on Turkey to be part of the responsible global leadership that is so urgently needed today.

In a brochure by the Turkish Ministry of Culture and Tourism, we read that the following values are common to all Turkish people: "Belief in the integrity of the family, loyalty and obligation to the country and community, fairness in dealing with other human beings, hospitality, compassion, and respect for tradition."

For a worthwhile future for humankind, the loyalty that is at the core of Turkish values needs to be extended to all of the human family ("peace in the world"), and respect must be extended to all those traditions that include all human beings and their home planet.

In former times, fear reigned in a fragmented world, *rivals*, *competitors*, and *enemies* were subdued and dominated by humiliating them with "shock and awe." *Victory* and *power* over one's opponents was the aim.

In One World, space opens for love, humility, and for awe for a universe too large for us to fathom. *Partners* join hands to create a sustainable social and ecological future for all of humankind. No longer do superiors humiliate opponents into submission. In One World, partners respect each other as equals in dignity.

#### References

- Abusharaf, R. M., ed., *Female Circumcision: Multicultural Perspectives*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2006.
- Adler, N. D. *The Communist Within: Narratives of Loyalty to the Party Before, During, and After the Gulag.* Oslo: Presentation at the Center for Studies of Holocaust and Religious Minorities in Norway, October 1, 2008, 2008.
- Adler, N. D., M. Chamberlain, and S. Leydesdorff, eds., *Memories of Mass Repression: Narrating Life Stories in the Aftermath of Atrocity.* New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, 2009.
- Allwood, G. French Feminisms: Gender and Violence in Contemporary Theory. London: UCL Press, 1998.
- Ambrose, S. H. "Late Pleistocene Human Population Bottlenecks, Volcanic Winter, and Differentiation of Modern Humans." *Journal of Human Evolution* 34, no. 6 (1998): 623–651.

- Arbib, M. A., A. Billard, M. Iacoboni, and E. Oztop. "Synthetic Brain Imaging: Grasping, Mirror Neurons and Imitation." *Neural Networks* 13, no. 8 (2000): 975–997.
- Armstrong, J. "Indigenous Knowledge and Gift Giving." *Women and the Gift Economy: A Radically Different Worldview Is Possible*. Edited by Genevieve Vaughan Toronto: Innana, retrieved on July 5, 2007, from www.gift-economy.com/womenand.html, 2007.
- Azar, B. "How Mimicry Begat Culture: Researchers From Varied Disciplines Look to Mirror Neurons to Explain Many Aspects of Human Evolution." *APA Monitor* 36, no. 9 (2005): 54–54, retrieved on 9 October 2005 from www.apa.org/monitor/oct05/mimicry.html.
- Banks, A. and J. V. Jordan. "The Human Brain: Hardwired for Connections." *Research and Action Report* 28, no. 2, Spring/Summer (2007): 8–11, retrieved on July 20, 2007, from www.wcwonline.org/joomla/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=135 8&itemid=198.
- Bauman, Z. Towards a Critical Sociology: An Essay on Commonsense and Emancipation. London: Routledge, 1976.
- Bauman, Z. Globalization: The Human Consequences. Cambridge: Polity Press, 1998.
- Benso, S. *The Face of Things: A Different Side of Ethics*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 2000.
- Bentall, R. P. *Doctoring the Mind: Why Psychiatric Treatments Fail.* London: Allan Lane, 2009.
- Berg, E. Z. "Gendering Conflict Resolution." *Peace and Change* 19, no. 4 (1994): 325–348.
- Berlin, I. "The Bent Twig: On the Rise of Nationalism." *The Crooked Timber of Humanity: Chapters in the History of Ideas*. Edited by Henry Hardy, 238-261 London: Fontana Press, 1991.
- Berman, M. Wandering God. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 2000.
- Betts, R. K., ed., Conflict After the Cold War: Arguments on Causes of War and Peace. Updated 2nd ed. New York: Pearson, 2005.
- Bhawuk, D. P. S., D. Landis, and K. D. Lo. "Intercultural Traning." *The Cambridge Handbook of Acculturation Psychology*. Edited by David L. Sam and John W. Berry, 504–524. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- Bichsel, T. *Catherine Von Wattenwyl: Amazone, Pfarrfrau Und Spionin.* Oberhofen am Thunersee: Zytglogge, 2004.

- Binion, G. "Human Rights: A Feminist Perspective." *Human Rights Quarterly* 17, no. 3 (1995): 509–526.
- Birrell, P. J. "An Ethic of Possibility: Relationship, Risk, and Presence." *Ethics & Behavior* 16, no. 2 (2007): 95–115.
- Bloom, H., ed., *Mary Wollstonecraft Shelley*. New York: Bloom's Literary Criticism, 2009.
- Boulding, E. Building a Global Civic Culture: Education for an Interdependent World. New York: Teachers College Press, 1988.
- Bower, J. L. "Solve the Succession Crisis by Growing Inside-Outside Leaders." *Harvard Business Review* 85, no. 11, November (2007): 91–96.
- Braithwaite, J. *Restorative Justice and Responsive Regulation*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- Brown, S. "Feminism, International Theory, and International Relations of Gender Inequality." *Millennium Journal of International Studies* 17, no. 3 (1988): 461–475.
- Buber, M. Ich Und Du. Leipzig: Insel Verlag, 1923.
- Byrne, B. "Towards a Gendered Understanding of Conflict." *IDS Bulletin* 27, no. 3 (1996): 31–40.
- Carey, B. "Psychiatrists Revise the Book of Human Troubles." *New York Times* December 18 (2008): , retrieved on December 18, 2008, from www.nytimes.com/2008/12/18/health/18psych.html.
- Carneiro, R. L. "The Circumscription Theory: Challenge and Response." *American Behavioral Scientist* 31, no. 4 (1988): 497–511.
- Carr, L., M. Iacoboni, M.-C. Dubeau, J. C. Mazziotta, and G. L. Lenzi. "Neural Mechanisms of Empathy in Humans: A Relay From Neural Systems for Imitation to Limbic Areas." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U. S. A.* 100, no. 9 (2003): 5497–5502.
- Carreiras, H. Gender and the Military: Women in the Armed Forces of Western Democracies. London: Routledge, 2006.
- Castells, M. *The Information Age: Economy, Society and Culture. Vol. 2: The Power of Identity.* Cambridge, MA, Oxford: Blackwell, 1997.
- Cederman, L.-E. "Modeling the Democratic Peace As a Kantian Selection Process." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 45, no. 4 (2001): 470–502.

- Christie, D. J. "What Is Peace Psychology the Psychology of?" *Journal of Social Issues* 62, no. 1 (2006): 1–17, retrieved on August 14, 2007, from www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00436.x.
- Chua, A. Day of Empire: How Hyperpowers Rise to Global Dominance and Why They Fall. New York: Doubleday, 2008.
- Coates, J. M. and J. Herbert. "Endogenous Steroids and Financial Risk-Taking on a London Trading Floor." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105, no. 16 (2008): 6167–6172, www.pnas.org/content/105/16/6167.full.pdf+html.
- Cockburn, C. From Where We Stand: War, Women's Activism and Feminist Analysis. London: Zed Books, 2007.
- Cohen, M. N. *The Food Crisis in Prehistory: Overpopulation and the Origins of Agriculture.* New Haven, Conn.: Yale University Press, 1977.
- Cohen, M. N. "The Economies of Late Pre-Farming and Farming Communities and Their Relation to the Problem of Dispersals.", S Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, 2002.
- Cohn, C. "Sex and Death in the Rational World of Defense Intellectuals." *Signs* 12, no. 4, Within and Without: Women, Gender, and Theory (1987): 687–718, available at genderandsecurity.umb.edu/Carol%20Cohn%20Sex%20and%20Death%20in%20 the%20World%20of%20Rational%20Defense%20Intellectuals.pdf.
- Collins, A. "State-Induced Security Dilemma Maintaining the Tragedy." *Cooperation and Conflict* 39, no. 1 (2004): 27–44.
- Collins, J. "Level 5 Leadership: The Triumph of Humility and Fierce Resolve." *Harvard Business Review*, no. January (2001): 68–76.
- Coser, L. A. *Masters of Sociological Thought: Ideas in Historical and Social Context.* 2nd ed. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, 1977.
- Cosgrove, L., S. Krimsky, M. Vijayraghavan, and L. Schneider. "Financial Ties Between DSM-IV Panel Members and the Pharmaceutical Industry." *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 75, no. 3 (2006): 154–160, available at www.tufts.edu/~skrimsky/PDF/DSM%20COI.PDF.
- Crompton, R. and C. Lyonette. "Work-Life 'Balance' in Europe." *Acta Sociologica* 49, no. 4 (2006): 379–393, available at asj.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/49/4/379.
- Cuomo, C. "War Is Not Just an Event: Reflections on the Significance of Everyday Violence." *Hypatia* 11, no. 4 (1996): 30–45.

- Cushman, P. Constructing the Self, Constructing America: A Cultural History of Psychotherapy. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1995.
- Dalby, S. "Gender and Critical Geopolitics: Reading Security Discourse in the New World Disorder." *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space* 12, no. 5 (1994): 595–612.
- de Saint Pol, T. "Norms and Attitudes to Body Fatness: A European Comparison." Population & Societies - French National Institute for Demographic Studies Newsletter 455, April (2009): 1–4, available at http://www.ined.fr/en/resources\_documentation/publications/pop\_soc/bdd/publication/1456/.
- Deutsch, M. *Oppression and Conflict*. Skovde, Sweden: Plenary address given at the annual meetings of the International Society of Justice Research in Skovde, Sweden on June 17, 2002, retrieved November 20, 2002, from <a href="http://www.cpa.ca/epw/epw/Deutsch.pdf">http://www.cpa.ca/epw/epw/Deutsch.pdf</a>, 2002.
- Dewey, J. Democracy and Education. New York: Free Press, 1916.
- Dia, D. S. "The Fight Against Female Genital Cutting." *Wal Fadjri Newspaper* Thursday April 3 (2003): , received as email text.
- Dower, J. W. Embracing Defeat: Japan in the Wake of World War II. New York: Norton, 1999.
- Downey, K. The Woman Behind the New Deal Signed Edition: The Life of Frances Perkins, FDR's Secretary of Labor and His Moral Conscience. New York: Nan A. Talese, 2009.
- Ehrenreich, B. *Nickel and Dimed: On (Not) Getting by in America*. New York: Metropolitan Books, 2001.
- Ehrenreich, B. *Bait and Switch: The (Futile) Pursuit of the American Dream.* New York: Metropolitan Books, 2005.
- Ehrenreich, B. "Is It Now a Crime to Be Poor?" *New York Times* August 8 (2009): , available at www.nytimes.com/2009/08/09/opinion/09ehrenreich.html.
- Eisenberger, N. I. and M. D. Lieberman. "Why It Hurts to Be Left Out: The Neurocognitive Overlap Between Physical Pain and Social Pain." *The Social Outcast: Ostracism, Social Exclusion, Rejection, and Bullying.* Edited by Kipling Williams, Joseph P. Forgas, and William v. Hippel, 109–127. New York: Psychology Press, 2005.
- Eisler, R. T. *The Chalice and the Blade: Our History, Our Future.* London: Unwin Hyman, 1987.

- Eisler, R. T. Sacred Pleasure: Sex, Myth, and the Politics of the Body. San Francisco: Harper San Francisco, 1995.
- Eisler, R. T. *The Real Wealth of Nations: Creating a Caring Economics*. San Francisco, LA: Berrett-Koehler, 2007.
- El-Zanaty, F., E. M. Hussein, G. A. Shawky, A. A. Way, and S. Kishor. *Egypt Demographic and Health Survey 1995*. Calverton: National Population Council and Macro International Inc., 1996.
- Engerman, S. L. and E. D. Genovese, eds., *Race and Slavery in the Western Hemisphere: Quantitative Studies.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1975.
- Etzioni, A. "The Epigenesist of Political Communities at the International Level." *American Journal of Sociology* 68, no. 4 (1963): 407–421.
- Festinger, L. A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 1957.
- Fields, A. *Katharine Dexter McCormick: Pioneer for Women's Rights*. Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers, 2003.
- Fine-Davis, M., ed., Fathers and Mothers: Dilemmas of the Work-Life Balance: A Comparative Study in Four European Countries. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004.
- Fisher, R., W. Ury, and B. Patton. *Getting to Yes: Negotiating Agreement Without Giving in.* New York: Houghton Mifflin, 1991.
- Fisher-Yoshida, B. "Coaching to Transform Perspective." *Transformative Learning in Action*. Edited by Jack Mezirow and Edward W. Taylor San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2008.
- Fisher-Yoshida, B. "Coaching to Transform Perspective." *Transformative Learning in Action*. Edited by Jack Mezirow and Edward W. Taylor San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2009.
- Fisher-Yoshida, B. "Transformative Learning in Participative Processes That Reframe Self-Identity." *Innovations in Transformative Learning: Space, Culture and the Arts.* Edited by Beth Fisher-Yoshida, Kathy D. Geller, and Steven A. Shapiro, 65–86. New York: Peter Lang, 2009.
- Fisher-Yoshida, B. and K. D. Geller. "Developing Transnational Leaders: Five Paradoxes for Success." *Industrial and Commercial Training* 40, no. 1 (2008): 42–50.
- Fiske, A. P. Structures of Social Life: The Four Elementary Forms of Human Relations Communal Sharing, Authority Ranking, Equality Matching, Market Pricing. New York: Free Press, 1991.

- Flinders, C. L. Rebalancing the World: Why Women Belong and Men Compete and How to Restore the Ancient Equilibrium. San Francisco: Harper, 2002.
- Fogassi, L., P. F. Ferrari, B. Gesierich, S. Rozzi, F. Chersi, and G. Rizzolatti. "Parietal Lobe: From Action Organization to Intention Understanding." *Science* 308, no. 5722 (2005): 662–667.
- Folkman, B. Tristan and Isolde: Program Note. New York: Metropolitan Opera, 2008.
- Føllesdal, D. K. *How Can We Use Arguments in Ethics?* Oslo: Presentation at Det Norske Vitenskaps-Akademi [Norwegian Academy of Science], January 30, 1996.
- Forcey, L. R. "Women As Peacemakers: Contested Terrain for Feminist Peace Studies." *Peace and Change* 16, no. 4 (1991): 331–354.
- Forgas, J. P. "Introduction: Affect and Social Cognition." *Handbook of Affect and Social Cognition*. Edited by Joseph P. Forgas, 1–24. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 2001.
- Fouché, G. "The Rise of the Valkyries: Norwegian Women Take Their Place at the Top." *The Guardian* 17 November (2008): available at www.guardian.co.uk/world/2008/nov/17/norway-gender-executive-salaries.
- Fox, W. Toward a Transpersonal Ecology: Developing New Foundations for Environmentalism. Boston: Shambhala, 1990.
- Fox, W. "Intellectual Origins of the "Depth" Theme in the Philosophy of Arne Naess." *Trumpeter* 9, no. 2 (1992): , retrieved on December 15, 2000 from trumpeter.athabascau.ca/archives/content/v9.2/fox2.html.
- Freeman, D. Mead, M., ed. *The Fateful Hoaxing of Margaret Mead: A Historical Analysis of Her Samoan Research*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1999.
- Freire, P. Education for Critical Consciousness. New York: Continuum, 1973.
- Fuller, A. "Toward an Emancipatory Methodology for Peace Research." *Peace and Change* 17, no. 3 (1992): 286–311.
- Fung, H. and E. C.-H. Chen. "Across Time and Beyond Skin: Self and Transgression in the Everyday Socialization of Shame Among Taiwanese Preschool Children." *Social Development* 10, no. 3 (2001): 420–437.
- Gaertner, S. L. and J. F. Dovidio. *Reducing Intergroup Bias: The Common Ingroup Identity Model*. Hove, UK: Psychology Press, 1999.
- Gallese, V. and A. Goldman. "Mirror Neurons and the Simulation Theory of Mind-Reading." *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 2, no. 12 (1998): 493–501.

- Gallese, V., C. Keysers, and G. Rizzolatti. "A Unifying View of the Basis of Social Cognition." *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 8, no. 9, September (2004): 396–403.
- Galtung, J. *Peace by Peaceful Means*. Oslo and London: PRIO (International Peace Research Institute Oslo) and Sage, 1996.
- Gambles, R., S. Lewis, and R. Rapoport. *The Myth of Work-Life Balance: The Challenge of Our Time for Men, Women and Societies.* Chichester: John Wiley, 2006.
- García Márquez, G. Love in the Time of Cholera. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1988.
- Garner, K. "World YWCA Leaders and the UN Decade for Women." *Journal of International Women's Studies* 9, no. 1, November (2007): 212–233, available at www.bridgew.edu/soas/jiws/Nov07/YWCA.pdf.
- Gellner, E. A. Nations and Nationalism. Oxford: Blackwell, 1983.
- Gellner, E. A. Nations and Nationalism. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1983.
- Genovese, E. D. Roll, Jordan, Roll: The World the Slaves Made. London: Deutsch, 1975.
- Genpo Merzel, D. *Big Mind, Big Heart: Finding Your Way.* Salt Lake City, UT: Big Mind, 2007.
- Gibbs, R. Why Ethics? Signs and Responsibilities. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2000.
- Gilbert, M. C. "The End of the Organization?" *Nonprofit Online News* February 7 (2008): , retrieved on February 24, 2008, from news.gilbert.org/EndOfOrg.
- Gilligan, C. *In a Different Voice: Psychological Theory and Women's Development.* Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 1982.
- Giorgi, P. *The Origins of Violence by Cultural Evolution*. 2nd ed. Brisbane, Australia: Minerva, www.pierogiorgi.org/The-origins-of-violence-by-cultural-evolution.pdf, 2001.
- Gladwell, M. *The Tipping Point: How Little Things Can Make a Big Difference*. Boston: Little, Brown, 2000.
- Gottman, J. M., L. F. Katz, and C. Hooven. *Meta-Emotion: How Families Communicate Emotionally*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 1997.
- Granovetter, M. S. "The Strength of Weak Ties." *American Journal of Sociology* 78, no. May (1973): 1360–1380.
- Grant, R. and K. Newland, eds., *Gender and International Relations*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press, 1991.

- Gratton, L. and T. J. Erickson. "Eight Ways to Build Collaborative Teams." *Harvard Business Review* 85, no. 11, November (2007): 100–109.
- Gray, J. Men Are From Mars, Women Are From Venus: A Practical Guide for Improving Communication and Getting What You Want in Your Relationships. New York: Harper Collins, 1992.
- Greenfeld, L. *Nationalism: Five Roads to Modernity*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1992.
- Greenfeld, L. "Nationalism and Modernity." Social Research 63, no. 1 (1996): 3–40.
- Greenleaf, R. K. Servant Leadership: A Journey into the Nature of Legitimate Power and Greatness. 25th anniversary ed. New York: Paulist Press, 2002.
- Haas, J. "Warfare and the Evolution of Culture." *Archaeology at the Millennium: A Sourcebook.* Edited by T. D. Price and Gary M. Feinman, 329–350. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, 2001.
- Hall, L. K. and M. E. Wensch. *Counseling Military Families: What Mental Health Professionals Need to Know.* Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2008.
- Harris, L. D. and J. H. Wasilewski. "Indigeneity, an Alternative Worldview: Four R's (Relationship, Responsibility, Reciprocity, Redistribution) Versus Two P's (Power and Profit). Sharing the Journey Towards Conscious Evolution." *Systems Research and Behavioral Science* 21, no. 5 (2004): 489–504.
- Hausman, R., L. D. Tyson, and S. Zahidi. *The Global Gender Gap Report 2008*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum, available at www.weforum.org/pdf/gendergap/report2008.pdf, 2008.
- Hawks, J., K. Hunley, S.-H. Lee, and M. Wolpoff. "Population Bottlenecks and Pleistocene Human Evolution." *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 17, no. 1 (2000): 2–22, retrieved on April 7, 2009, from http://mbe.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/full/17/1/2.
- Hayashi, K. "Current Intercultural Issues and Challenges in Japanese Business Interfaces: Blending Theory and Practice." *Management Japan* 35 (2003): www.iijnet.or.jp/imaj/mj/hayashi35.pdf.
- Heard, G. The Five Ages of Man. New York: Julian Press, 1963.
- Hechter, M. "The Dynamics of Secession." Acta Sociologica 35 (1992): 267–283.
- Herz, J. H. "Idealist Internationalism and the Security Dilemma." *World Politics* II (1950): 157–180.

- Hollick, M. *The Science of Oneness: A Worldview for the Twenty-First Century.* Ropley, Hampshire, UK: O-Books, 2006.
- Holm, J. Women in the Military: An Unfinished Revolution. Revised ed. Novato, CA: Presidio, 1992.
- Honigsbaum, M. "On the Happy Trail." *The Observer* Sunday, April 4 (2004): Available at www.guardian.co.uk/society/2004/apr/04/mentalhealth.observermagazine.
- Hudnall, A. C. and E. G. Lindner. "Crisis and Gender: Addressing the Psychosocial Needs of Women in International Disasters." *Handbook of International Disaster Psychology (Vol 4): Interventions With Special Needs Populations*. Edited by Gilbert Reyes and Gerard A. Jacobs, 1–18. Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger, 2005.
- Iacoboni, M., R. P. Woods, M. Brass, H. Bekkering, J. C. Mazziotta, and G. Rizzolatti. "Cortical Mechanisms of Human Imitation." *Science* 286, no. 5449 (1999): 2526–2528.
- Illich, I. Deschooling Society. New York: Harper & Row, 1971.
- Immordino-Yang, M. H., A. McColl, H. Damásio, and A. R. Damásio. "Neural Correlates of Admiration and Compassion." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106, no. 19, May 12 (2009): 8021–8026, published online before print April 20, 2009 at www.pnas.org/content/early/2009/04/17/0810363106.full.pdf+html?sid=99cc55bf -0d08-460f-ba3b-4201c5aa608f.
- Jervis, R., R. N. Lebow, and J. G. Stein. *Psychology and Deterrence*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1985.
- Johnson, A. G. *The Gender Knot: Unraveling Our Patriarchal Legacy*. Revised and updated edition ed. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 2005.
- Jordan, J. V. and L. M. Hartling. "New Developments in Relational-Cultural Theory." *Rethinking Mental Health and Disorder*. Edited by Mary Ballou and Laura Brown, 48–70. New York: Guilford Press, 2002.
- Kandiyoti, D. "Identity and Its Discontents: Women and the Nation." *Millennium Journal of International Studies* 20, no. 3 (1991): 429–443.
- Kegan, R. *Evolving Self: Problem and Process in Human Development.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1982.
- Keohane, R. O. "International Relations Theory: Contributions of a Feminist Standpoint." *Gender and International Relations*. Edited by Rebecca Grant and Kathleen Newland Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991.

- Keysers, C. and V. Gazzola. "Towards a Unifying Neural Theory of Social Cognition." *Progress in Brain Research, Vol. 156.* Edited by Silke Anders, Gabriele Ende, Markus Junghofer, Johanna Kissler, and Dirk Wildgruber Amsterdam: Elsevie, www.bcn-nic.nl/txt/people//keysersgazzolapbr.pdf, 2006.
- Keysers, C., E. Kohler, M. A. Umilta, L. Fogassi, and V. Gallese. "Audiovisual Mirror Neurons and Action Recognition." *Experimental Brain Research* 153, no. 4 (2003): 628–636.
- Keysers, C., B. Wicker, V. Gazzola, J.-L. Anton, L. Fogassi, and V. Gallese. "A Touching Sight: SII/PV Activation During the Observation and Experience of Touch." *Neuron* 42, no. 2 (2004): 335–346.
- Kim, N. S. "Toward a Feminist Theory of Human Rights: Straddling the Fence Between Western Imperialism and Uncritical Absolutism." *Columbia Human Rights Law Review* 25, no. 1 (1993): 49–105.
- Kim, Y. Y. and B. D. Ruben. "Intercultural Transformation: A Systems Theory." *International and Intercultural Communication Annual* 12, 1988, (1988): 299–321.
- King, D. E. "Asylum Seekers / Patron Seekers: Interpreting Iraqi Kurdish Migration." *Human Organization* 64, no. 4 (2005): 316–326.
- Koenigs, M., L. L. Young, R. Adolphs, Tranel.Daniel, F. Cushman, M. Hauser, and A. R. Damásio. "Damage to Prefrontal Cortex Increases Utilitarian Moral Judgments." *Nature* 446, no. April 19 (2007): 908–911, available at www.nature.com/nature/journal/v446/n7138/pdf/nature05631.pdf.
- Koestler, A. *The Ghost in the Machine*. London: Hutchinson, 1967.
- Koestler, A. Janus: A Summing Up. London: Hutchinson, 1978.
- Kohler, E., C. Keysers, M. A. Umilta, L. Fogassi, V. Gallese, and G. Rizzolatti. "Hearing Sounds, Understanding Actions: Action Representation in Mirror Neurons." *Science* 297, no. 5582 (2002): 846–848.
- Kothari, R., D. L. Sheth, and A. Nandy, eds., *The Multiverse of Democracy: Essays in Honour of Rajni Kothari*. New Delhi: Sage, 1996.
- Kuhn, T. S. *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1962.
- Kuhn, T. S. *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*. 3rd ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1996.

- Lakoff, G. P. "Empathy, Sotomayor, and Democracy: The Conservative Stealth Strategy." *Truthout* Sunday 31 May (2009): , retrieved on June 3, from http://www.truthout.org/053109A.
- Lambert, R. "Empowering Salafis and Islamists Against Al-Qaeda: A London Counterterrorism Case Study." *PS: Political Science & Politics* January (2008): 31–35, www.apsanet.org.
- Lane, R. Loss of Happiness in Market Democracies. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2001.
- Lash, J. P. Eleanor and Franklin: The Story of Their Relationship, Based on Eleanor Roosevelt's Private Papers. New York: Norton, 1971.
- Lenz, C. "Zwischen Nationalem Verrat Und Romantischer Liebe. Zur Diskursiven (Ent)Politisierung Sexueller Verhältnisse Zwischen Norwegischen Frauen Und
  Deutschen Soldaten." *Politische Gesellschaftsgeschichte Im 19. Und 20. Jahrhundert. Festgabe Für Barbara Vogel.* Edited by Henning Albrecht, Boukrif,
  Gabriele, Claudia Bruns, and Kirsten Heinsohn Hamburg: Reinhold Krämer
  Verlag, 2006.
- Lenz, C. ""A Kind of Fraternization That Was Totally Unacceptable." The Drawing of Boundaries Within the National Identity and the Regulation of Female Sexuality." *Lars O Ramberg*. Edited by Lars Ø. Ramberg Ostfildern: Hatje Cantz Verlag, 2008.
- Lévi-Strauss, C. *Les Structures Élémentaires De La Parenté*. Second ed. Paris: Presses universitaires de France, 1949.
- Lévinas, E. *Totalité Et Infini: Essai Sur L'Extériorité*. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1961.
- Levine, P. A. Waking the Tiger: Healing Trauma. Berkeley, CA: North Atlantic Books, 1997.
- Levinson, N. S. *Local Globalization: Rethinking the Local and the Global.* Montreal: Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Studies Association, Le Centre Sheraton Hotel, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, retrieved on August 1, 2009 from www.allacademic.com/meta/p72287 index.html, 2004.
- Lewis, H. B. *Shame and Guilt in Neurosis*. New York: International Universities Press, 1971.
- Li, J. and K. W. Fischer. "Thought and Affect in American and Chinese Learners' Beliefs About Learning." *Motivation, Emotion, and Cognition: Integrative Perspectives on Intellectual Functioning and Development.* Edited by David Y. Dai and Robert J. Sternberg, 385–418. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 2004.

- Lindner, E. G. *The Feeling of Being Humiliated: A Central Theme in Armed Conflicts. A Study of the Role of Humiliation in Somalia, and Great Lakes Region, Between the Warring Parties, and in Relation to Third Intervening Parties. Outline of Research Project.* Oslo: University of Oslo, project description, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 1996.
- Lindner, E. G. *Humiliation As Psychological Variable in Armed Conflict: What Is Our Common Sense Definition of Humiliation?* Oslo: Paper presented at the annual seminar of the Research Programme of the Multilateral Development Assistance Programme at Soria Moria, 19th 20th February, 1998.
- Lindner, E. G. *Humiliation Dynamics and Humiliation Entrepreneurship The Dyad of Slave and Master*. Bujumbura, Burundi: Rapport de la conference internationale sur le role de l'education dans la promotion d'une culture de convivialité et d'edification des communautes, 23rd 26th February, Ministère de l'Education Nationale, 1999.
- Lindner, E. G. Humiliation, Genocide, Dictatorship and the International Community. Somalia As a Case Study. Oslo: University of Oslo, film, 1999.
- Lindner, E. G. "Women in the Global Village: Increasing Demand for Traditional Communication Patterns." *Towards a Women's Agenda for a Culture of Peace*. Edited by Ingeborg Breines, Dorota Gierycz, and Betty Reardon, 89–98. Paris: UNESCO, 1999.
- Lindner, E. G. *Globalisation and Humiliation: Towards a New Paradigm*. Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. How Humiliation Creates Cultural Differences: The Psychology of Intercultural Communication. Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *Humiliation and Rationality in International Relations. The Role of Humiliation in North Korea, Rwanda, Somalia, Germany, and the Global Village.*Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *Humiliation, Human Rights, and Global Corporate Responsibility*. Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *Humiliation, Rape and Love: Force and Fraud in the Erogenous Zones.*Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.

- Lindner, E. G. *Recognition or Humiliation The Psychology of Intercultural Communication*. Bergen: Proceedings of the ISSEI Millennium conference 'Approaching a New Millennium: Lessons from the Past Prospects for the Future', the 7th conference of the International Society for the Study of European Ideas, Bergen, Norway, from 14th 18th August, 2000, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *Social Constructionism, Logical Positivism, and the Story of Humiliation.* Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *The "Framing Power" of International Organizations, and the Cost of Humiliation.* Oslo, and Coalition for Global Solidarity and Social Development Peace and Conflicts: globalsolidarity.transcend.org/articles/the.pdf, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *The Psychology of Humiliation: Somalia, Rwanda / Burundi, and Hitler's Germany.* Oslo: University of Oslo, Department of Psychology, doctoral dissertation in psychology, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. *The Relational Anatomy of Humiliation: Perpetrator, Victim, and Third Party.* Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. "Were Ordinary Germans Hitler's "Willing Executioners"? Or Were They Victims of Humiliating Seduction and Abandonment? The Case of Germany and Somalia." *IDEA: A Journal of Social Issues* 5, no. 1 (2000): , http://www.ideajournal.com/articles.php?id=31.
- Lindner, E. G. What Every Negotiator Ought to Know: Understanding Humiliation. Oslo and Coalition for Global Solidarity and Social Development Peace and Conflicts: globalsolidarity.transcend.org/articles/what.pdf, 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. What Is a Good Life Comparison Between Egypt and Germany. Oslo: University of Oslo, manuscript presented at the Middle East Virtual Community (MEViC), first MEViC online Internet conference, 2000, on the basis of doctoral dissertation in medicine (1994), 2000.
- Lindner, E. G. "How Research Can Humiliate: Critical Reflections on Method." *Journal for the Study of Peace and Conflict* Annual Edition 2001-2002 (2001): 16–36, jspc.library.wisc.edu/.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation Trauma That Has Been Overlooked: An Analysis Based on Fieldwork in Germany, Rwanda / Burundi, and Somalia." *TRAUMATOLOGYe* 7, no. 1 (2001): Article 3 (32 pages), tmt.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/7/1/43, or www.fsu.edu/%7Etrauma/v7/Humiliation.pdf.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation and the Human Condition: Mapping a Minefield." *Human Rights Review* 2, no. 2 (2001): 46–63.

- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation As the Source of Terrorism: A New Paradigm." *Peace Research: The Canadian Journal of Peace Studies* 33, no. 2 (2001): 59–68.
- Lindner, E. G. Moratorium on Humiliation: Cultural and "Human Factor" Dimensions Underlying Structural Violence. New York: Discussion paper presented at the Expert Group Meeting on Structural Threats to Social Integration: Indicators for Conflict Prevention, Session 2: Structural threats to social integrity 18th 20th December 2001, New York, organized by the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Division for Social Policy and Development, Social Integration Branch, see www.un.org/esa/socdev, 2001.
- Lindner, E. G. *The Concept of Humiliation: Its Universal Core and Culture-Dependent Periphery.* Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2001.
- Lindner, E. G. "Women and Terrorism: The Lessons of Humiliation." *New Routes: A Journal for Peace Research and Action* 6, Special Issue: Targeting Women, no. 3 (2001): 10–12, www.life-peace.org/newroutes/newroutes2001/nr200103/lessonsofhum0301.htm, also in RBSE, v.1, n.1, pp.76-92, João Pessoa, GREM, abril de 2002, on www.rbse.rg3.net as artigo ISSN 1676-8965.
- Lindner, E. G. "Healing the Cycles of Humiliation: How to Attend to the Emotional Aspects of "Unsolvable" Conflicts and the Use of "Humiliation Entrepreneurship"." *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology* 8, no. 2 (2002): 125–138, www.informaworld.com/smpp/ftinterface~content=a785828772~fulltext=713240 930.
- Lindner, E. G. "Human Rights and Humiliation." *The Coexistence Chronicle* 2, no. 3 (2002): 2–6.
- Lindner, E. G. *Definitions of Terms As They Are Used in Lindner's Writing*. Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2003.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation or Dignity: Regional Conflicts in the *Global Village*." *International Journal of Mental Health, Psychosocial Work and Counselling in Areas of Armed Conflict* 1, no. 1, January (2003): 48–63, www.transnational.org/forum/meet/2002/Lindner\_RegionalConflicts.html.
- Lindner, E. G. "Peace? Not As Long As Humiliation Reigns!" *ICCCR Newsletter* January (2003): , www.tc.edu/icccr/newsletterSpr03.pdf.
- Lindner, E. G. "Gendercide and Humiliation in Honor and Human-Rights Societies." *Gendercide and Genocide*. Edited by Adam Jones, 39–61. Nashville, TN: Vanderbilt University Press, 2004.

- Lindner, E. G. *The Effect of Humiliation on the Escalation of Conflicts*. Oslo: Presentation at the conference *Activists under Attack: Defending the Right to be a Human Rights Defender* hosted by the Human Rights House Network, 13-14 October, 2004.
- Lindner, E. G. "Human Rights, Humiliation, and Globalization." *Symbolik, Gesellschaftliche Irrationalität Und Psychohistorie, Jahrbuch Für Psychohistorische Forschung, Vol. 5, 2004.* Edited by Ludwig Janus, Florian Galler, and Winfried Kurth, 143–172. Heidelberg: Mattes Verlag, 2005.
- Lindner, E. G. "Mature Differentiation As Response to Terrorism and Humiliation: Refrain From the Language of "War" and "Evil"." *Transnational Foundation for Peace and Future Research* (2005): www.transnational.org/tff/people/e\_lindner.html.
- Lindner, E. G. "Sugawara and the Secrets of Calligraphy": Exposing the Wounds Inflicted by Ranking People in Higher and Lesser Beings. Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Reflections after seeing Sugawara and the Secrets of Calligraphy on 20th April 2006 at the National Bunraku Theatre in Osaka, Japan, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. "The Cartoon War" of Humiliation Versus Humiliation: What Should Be Done? Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php#cartoonwar, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. *A New Culture of Peace: Can We Hope That Global Society Will Enter into a Harmonious Information Age?* Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. "Emotion and Conflict: Why It Is Important to Understand How Emotions Affect Conflict and How Conflict Affects Emotions." *The Handbook of Conflict Resolution: Theory and Practice.* Edited by Morton Deutsch, Peter T. Coleman, and Eric C. Marcus, 268–293. 2nd ed. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. *How Becoming a Global Citizen Can Have a Healing Effect*. Tokyo: Paper presented at the 2006 ICU-COE Northeast Asian Dialogue: Sharing Narratives, Weaving/Mapping History, February 3-5, 2006, International Christian University (ICU), Tokyo, Japan, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php#gallagher, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation and Reactions to Hitler's Seductiveness in Post-War Germany: Personal Reflections." *Social Alternatives* 25, Special Issue: Humiliation and History in Global Perspectives, no. 1, First Quarter (2006): 6–11.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation, Killing, War, and Gender." *The Psychology of Resolving Global Conflicts: From War to Peace. Volume 1: Nature Vs. Nurture.* Edited by Mari Fitzduff and Chris E. Stout, 137–174. Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006.

- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation, War, and Gender: 'Worse Than Death: Humiliating Words'." *New Routes: A Journal for Peace Research and Action* 11, Special Issue: Gender Perspectives, no. 4 (2006): 15–18, www.life-peace.org/default2.asp?xid=322.
- Lindner, E. G. *Is It Possible to "Change the World"? Some Guidelines to How We Can Build a More Decent and Dignified World Effectively: The Case of Dignifying Abusers.* Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org#evelin02.php, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. *Making Enemies: Humiliation and International Conflict*. Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. *The Concept of Human Dignity*. Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2006.
- Lindner, E. G. "Avoiding Humiliation From Intercultural Communication to Global Interhuman Communication." *Journal of Intercultural Communication, SIETAR Japan* 10 (2007): 21–38.
- Lindner, E. G. "Dynamics of Humiliation in a Globalizing World." *International Journal on World Peace* XXXIV, no. 3, September (2007): 15–52.
- Lindner, E. G. *How Multicultural Discourses Can Help Construct New Meaning*. Hangzhou, China: Paper presented at the 'Second International Conference on Multicultural Discourses', 13-15th April 2007, Institute of Discourse and Cultural Studies, & Department of Applied Psychology, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, vailable at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2007.
- Lindner, E. G. *How the Human Rights Ideal of Equal Dignity Separates Humiliation From Shame*. Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php#separation, 2007.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation and Global Terrorism: How to Overcome It Nonviolently." *Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS), Theme 6.120: Nonviolent Alternatives for Social Change.* Edited by Ralph Summy Oxford: Developed under the Auspices of the UNESCO, EOLSS, www.eolss.net, 2007.
- Lindner, E. G. "In Times of Globalization and Human Rights: Does Humiliation Become the Most Disruptive Force?" *Journal of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies* 1, no. 1, March (2007): www.humilliationstudies.upeace.org/.
- Lindner, E. G. *Psychological Factors in Arab Relations With the World.* Alexandria, Egypt: Presentation on 22nd January 2007, as part of the Pilot Course 'Young Swedish Muslim Peace Agents', 19th-27th January 2007, at the Swedish Institute in Alexandria, 2007.
- Lindner, E. G. "Beginning to Understand the Causes of Conflicts and Terrorism and Finding Ways to Transcend Them." *Creativity: With Pakistani Children's*

- *Drawings*. Edited by Atle Hetland Islamabad: Pakistan Norway Association (PANA): An International Friendship Association in Pakistan, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. "Futility of Armed Conflict: The Role of Dignity and Humiliation." Changing Contours of Global Conflicts and Prospects of Peace. Edited by Seema Shekhawat and Debidatta A. Mahapatra, 18–34. New Delhi, India: New Century, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. "Health and Illness in Relation to Dignity and Humiliation in Times of Global Interdependence." *E-Newsletter of Solidarity, Sustainability, and Non-Violence* 4, no. 6, June (2008): Available at pelicanweb.org/solisustv04n06lindner.html.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation." International Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences (IESS). Edited by William A. Darity, Jr. Second ed. Detroit, MI: Macmillan Reference USA/Thomson Gale, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. "Humiliation, Trauma, and Trauma Recovery in a Globalizing World." *Peacebuilding for Traumatized Societies*. Edited by Barry Hart, 49–64. Lanham, MD: University Press of America, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. "The Educational Environment As a Place for Humiliating Indoctrination or Dignifying Empowerment." *Experiments in Education* XXXVI, Humiliation in the academic setting: A Special Symposium Issue, no. 3, March (2008): 51–60.
- Lindner, E. G. *The Need for a New World.* New York: Paper presented at the Fifth Workshop on Humiliation and Violent Conflict, Columbia University, December 11-12, 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. *The Relevance of Humiliation Studies for the Prevention of Terrorism*. Budapest: Paper presented to the NATO Advanced Research Workshop 'Indigenous Terrorism: Understanding and Addressing the Root Causes of Radicalisation among Groups with an Immigrant Heritage in Europe', 7th-9th March 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. What the World's Cultures Can Contribute to Creating a Sustainable Future for Humankind. Oslo: Paper presented at the Eleventh Annual Conference of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, Oslo, Bergen, Trondheim, 23th June 1st July 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008.
- Lindner, E. G. "Why There Can Be No Conflict Resolution As Long As People Are Being Humiliated." *International Review of Education* Special Issue on Education for Reconciliation and Conflict Resolution, Volume 55, no. May 2-3, 2009 (2008): 157–184, published OnlineFirst on December 27, 2008, at www.springerlink.com/content/bg5g32x832152953/?p=61dc6cf755b1443c83e89

- d49221b3e7a&pi=1, including the short version of Finn Tschudi's response and Evelin Lindner's rejoinder; see the long version at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php.
- Lindner, E. G. Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict. Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009.
- Lindner, E. G. Gender, Humiliation, and Global Security: Dignifying Relationships From Love, Sex, and Parenthood to World Affairs. Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009.
- Lindner, E. G. "Genocide, Humiliation, and Inferiority: An Interdisciplinary Perspective." *Genocides by the Oppressed: Subaltern Genocide in Theory and Practice.* Edited by Nicholas A. Robins and Adam Jones, 138–158. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2009.
- Lindner, E. G. "How Asia Can Contribute to World Peace Psychology: Creating a Dignified and Peaceful World by Employing Unity in Diversity." *Peace Psychology in Asia*. Edited by Cristina J. Montiel and Noraini M. Noor New York: Springer Science and Business Media (Springer SBM), 2009.
- Lindner, E. G. "Traumatized by Humiliation in Times of Globalization: Transforming Humiliation into Constructive Meaning?" *Mass Trauma and Emotional Healing Around the World: Rituals and Practices for Resilience, 2 Vols.* Edited by Ani Kalayjian, Dominique Eugene, and Gilbert Reyes Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009.
- Lindner, E. G. "Disasters As a Chance to Implement Novel Solutions That Highlight Attention to Human Dignity." *Rebuilding Sustainable Communities for Children and Their Families After Disasters: A Global Survey.* Edited by Adenrele Awotona Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, proceedings of the International Conference on Rebuilding Sustainable Communities for Children and Their Families after Disasters, convened by Adenrele Awotona at the College of Public and Community Service University of Massachusetts at Boston, USA, November 16-19, 2008, www.rebuilding.umb.edu/rsccfd/, 2010.
- Lindner, E. G., N. R. Walsh, and J. Kuriansky. "Humiliation or Dignity in the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict." *Terror in the Holy Land, Inside the Anguish of the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict.* Edited by Judy Kuriansky, 123–131. Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006.
- Loye, D. *3,000 Years of Love: The Life of Riane Eisler and David Loye.* Carmel, CA: Benjamin Franklin Press, 2007.
- Madson, P. R. *Improv Wisdom: Don't Prepare, Just Show Up.* New York: Harmony/Bell Tower, 2005.

- Mandela, N. R. Long Walk to Freedom: The Autobiography of Nelson Mandela. London: Abacus, 1996.
- Mann, B. A. *Iroquoian Women, the Gantowisas*. New York: Peter Lang, 2000.
- Manniche, L. *Sexual Life in Ancient Egypt*. London, New York: Kegan Paul International, 1987.
- Margalit, A. *The Decent Society*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1996.
- Marshall, M. G. *Third World War: System, Process, and Conflict Dynamics*. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield, 1999.
- Mayer, E. L. Extraordinary Knowing: Science, Skepticism, and the Inexplicable Powers of the Human Mind. New York: Bantam Books, 2007.
- Mezirow, J. *Transformative Dimensions of Adult Learning*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1991.
- Mies, M. Patriarchy and Accumulation on a World Scale: Women in the International Division of Labour. London: Zed Books, 2006.
- Mies, M. and V. Bennholdt-Thomsen. *The Subsistence Perspective: Beyond the Globalized Economy*. London: Zed Books, 1999.
- Miller, J. B. Toward a New Psychology of Women. Boston: Beacon Press, 1976.
- Miller, J. B. "The Necessity of Conflict." Women & Therapy 2, no. 2 (1983): 3–9.
- Miller, J. B. "Forced Choices, False Choices." *Research and Action Report* 27, no. 2, Spring/Summer (2006): 16–17.
- Miller, W. I. *Humiliation and Other Essays on Honor, Social Discomfort, and Violence*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 1993.
- Moghadam, V. M., ed., *Identity Politics and Women. Cultural Reassertions and Feminisms in International Perspective.* Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1994.
- Mohanty, C. T. "Under Western Eyes: Feminist Scholarship and Colonial Discourses." *Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism.* Edited by Chandra T. Mohanty, Ann Russo, and Lourdes Torres, 51–80. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991.
- Montiel, C. J. "Political Psychology of Nonviolent Democratic Transitions in Southeast Asia." *Journal of Social Issues* 62, no. 1 (2006): 173–190, retrieved on August 14, 2007 from www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00445.x.

- Moon, K. H. S. Sex Among Allies: Military Prostitution in U.S.-Korea Relations. New York: Columbia University Press, 1997.
- Morrissey, J. "Credit Default Swaps: The Next Crisis?" *Time* March 17 (2008): Available at www.time.com/time/printout/0,8816,1723152,00.html.
- Mustakova-Possardt, E. "Education for Critical Moral Consciousness." *Journal of Moral Education* 33, no. 3, September (2004): 245–269.
- Myers, D. D. Why Women Should Rule the World. New York: Harper Collins, 2008.
- Naess, A. "Through Spinoza to Mahayana Buddhism or Through Mahayana Buddhism to Spinoza?" *Spinoza's Philosophy of Man: Proceedings of the Scandinavian Spinoza Symposium 1977*. Edited by Jon Wetlesen Oslo: University of Oslo Press, 1978.
- Nandy, A. "Sati: A Nineteenth-Century Tale of Women, Violence and Protest." *Vishnu on Freud's Desk: A Reader in Psychoanalysis and Hinduism.* Edited by T. G. Vaidyanathan and Jaffrey J. Kripal, 304–338. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Noddings, N. *Caring: A Feminine Approach to Ethics and Moral Education*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1984.
- Noël, L. *Intolerance: A General Survey*. Montreal: Mc-Gill-Queen's University Press, 1994.
- O'Neill, S. and D. McGrory. *The Suicide Factory: Abu Hamza and the Finsbury Park Mosque*. London: HarperPerennial, 2009.
- Pandey, J., D. Sinha, and D. P. S. Bhawuk, eds., *Asian Contributions to Cross-Cultural Psychology*. New Delhi: Sage, 1996.
- Paris, J. *Prescriptions for the Mind: A Critical View of Contemporary Psychiatry*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Patten, C. and A. Lindh. "Let's Control the Small Arms Trade." *International Herald Tribune* June 30 (2001):
- Peach, L. J. "In Alternative to Pacifism? Feminism and Just-War Theory." *Hypatia* 9, no. 2, Special Issue:Feminism and Peace (1994): 152–173.
- Pearce, W. B. New Models for Communication: From Theory to Praxis, From Objectivism to Constructionism, and From Representation to Reflexivity. Risør, Norway: Presentation given at the Norsk forening for familieterapi, Risørseminaret, June 14-15, 2007, 2007.

- Pearce, W. B. *Serenity in the Time of Polysemy*. Santa Barbara: CA: Fielding Graduate Institute, 2007.
- Peters, J. and A. Wolper, eds., *Women's Rights, Human Rights: International Feminist Perspectives*. New York: Routledge, 1995.
- Peterson, V. S., ed., Gendered States: Feminist (Re)Visions of International Relations Theory. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner, 1992.
- Pettit, P. *Republicanism: A Theory of Freedom and Government*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1997.
- Phelan, J. E., C. A. Moss-Racusin, and L. A. Rudman. "Competent Yet Out in the Cold: Shifting Criteria for Hiring Reflect Backlash Toward Agentic Women." *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 32, no. 4 (2008): 406–413.
- Precht, R. D. Wer Bin Ich Und Wenn Ja Wie Viele?: Eine Philosophische Reise. München: Goldmann HC, 2007.
- Rahal, N. 200 Years Later ... Commemorating the 200 Year Anniversary of the Abolition of the Transatlantic Slave Trade. Berlin: AfricAvenir & Werkstatt der Kulturen, 2009.
- Ramachandran, V. S. *Mirror Neurons and Imitation Learning As the Driving Force Behind "the Great Leap Forward" in Human Evolution*. Edge Foundation, retrieved on August 14, 2006 from www.edge.org/documents/archive/edge69.html, 2000.
- Rawls, J. A Theory of Justice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1971.
- Ray, P. H. and S. R. Anderson. *The Cultural Creatives: How 50 Million People Are Changing the World.* New York: Three Rivers Press, 2000.
- Rentz, E. D., S. L. Martin, D. A. Gibbs, M. Clinton-Sherrod, J. Hardison, and S. W. Marshall. "Family Violence in the Military: A Review of the Literature." *Trauma, Violence and Abuse* 7 (2006): 93–108.
- Richards, P. and P. Richards. *Wild Attraction: The Energetic Facts of Life*. Ashland, OR: A Sente Book, International Publication, 2008.
- Ring, K. Life at Death: A Scientific Investigation of the Near-Death Experience. New York: Coward, McCann & Geoghegan, 1980.
- Rizzolatti, G. and L. Craighero. "The Mirror-Neuron System." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 27 (2004): 169–192.
- Roof, J. Reproductions of Reproduction: Imaging Symbolic Change. New York: Routledge, 1996.

- Rosenberg, D. J. "Distant Relations: Class, "Race", and National Origin in the German Women's Movement." *Women's Studies International Forum* 19, no. 1-2 (1996): 145–154.
- Rostow, W. W. *The Stages of Economic Growth: A Non-Communist Manifesto*. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press, 1960.
- Rusesabagina, P. and T. Zoellner. *An Ordinary Man: An Autobiography*. New York: Viking Adult, 2006.
- Sanghera, J. Shame. London: Hodder & Stoughton, 2007.
- Sanghera, J. Daughters of Shame. London: Hodder & Stoughton, 2009.
- Scheff, T. J. *Bloody Revenge: Emotions, Nationalism and War*. Boulder: Westview Press, 1994.
- Scheff, T. J. "Shame and the Social Bond: A Sociological Theory." *Sociological Theory* 18, no. 1 (2000): 84–99.
- Scheff, T. J. "Aggression, Hypermasculine Emotions and Relations: the Silence/Violence Pattern." *Irish Journal of Sociology* 15, no. 1 (2006): 24–37, see www.soc.ucsb.edu/faculty/scheff/53.htm.
- Scheff, T. J. War and Emotion: Hypermasculine Violence As a Social System. Santa Barbara, CA: See www.soc.ucsb.edu/faculty/scheff/51.html, 2007.
- Scheff, T. J. and S. M. Retzinger. "Shame, Anger and the Social Bond: A Theory of Sexual Offenders and Treatement." *Electronic Journal of Sociology* (1997): www.sociology.org/content/vol003.001/sheff.html.
- Scheff, T. J., S. M. Retzinger, and S. L. Gordon. "Emotions and Violence: Shame and Rage in Destructive Conflicts." *American Journal of Sociology* November 98, no. 1 (1992): 664–665.
- Segura, L. "Veterans Decry Institutional Sexism in Military." *Alternet* March 20 (2009): , downloaded on March 20, 2009, from www.alternet.org/story/79877.
- Sheets-Johnstone, M. *Strangers, Trust, and Religion: On the Vulnerability of Being Alive.*Durham: Guest lecture at the Department of Philosophy at Durham University in May 2007, available as podcast on podcast.ic.sunysb.edu:16080/weblog/templeton/?permalink=MaxineSheetsJohnst one-Strang.html, 2007.
- Shields, S. A. *Speaking From the Heart: Gender and the Social Meaning of Emotion.* Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press, 2002.

- Simon, F. and T. Arnu. "Die Deutschen in Der Krise: Rückzug Ins Private Warum Demonstriert Kaum Einer in Zeiten Der Wirtschaftskrise? Ein Psychiater Über Die Stimmung Der Deutschen Die Gar Nicht So Schlecht Ist." *Süddeutsche Zeitung* March 29 (2009): , downloaded on March 29, 2009, from http://www.sueddeutsche.de/leben/525/463137/text/?page=6.
- Singer, M. R. *Intercultural Communication: A Perceptual Approach*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1987.
- Smith, A. *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations*. London: Strahan/Cadell, available at http://www.adamsmith.org/smith/won-index.htm, 1776.
- Smith, M. M. Debating Slavery: Economy and Society in the Antebellum American South. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- Snyder, C. R. "Hope Theory: Rainbows in the Mind." *Psychological Inquiry* 13, no. 4 (2002): 249–275.
- Snyder, J. "Perceptions of the Security Dilemma in 1914." *Psychology and Deterrence*. Edited by Robert Jervis, Richard N. Lebow, and Janice G. Stein, 153–179. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1985.
- Snyder, J. and B. Walters, eds., *The Security Dilemma and Intervention in Civil Wars*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1999.
- Spiegel Online "Germany's Failed Emancipation: Women Face an Unfair Choice: Career or Children." *Spiegel Online* May 5 (2006): available at www.spiegel.de/international/spiegel/0,1518,414451,00.html.
- Squires, J. Gender in Political Theory. Malden, MA: Polity Press, 1999.
- Staub, E. *The Roots of Evil: The Origins of Genocide and Other Group Violence*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- Stenstad, J. G. "Ola Og Kari Soldat Kan Dele Rom." *Forsvarsnett* (2009): , retrieved on May 11, 2009, from www.mil.no/felles/tmo/start/article.jhtml?articleID=171874.
- Stern, N. *Stern Review of the Economics of Climate Change*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- Stevenson, B. and J. Wolfers. *The Paradox of Declining Female Happiness*. Cambridge, MA: The National Bureau of Economic Research, available at www.nber.org/papers/w14969, 2009.
- Sukhdev, P. *The Economics of Ecosystems & Biodiversity (TEEB) An Interim Report.*European Communities, available at

- ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/economics/pdf/teeb\_report.pdf, 2008.
- Summy, H. N. 'Peace Angel' of World War I: Dissent of Margaret Thorp. Brisbane, Australia: Centre for Peace and Conflict Studies, University of Queensland, 2006.
- Taylor, J. B. *My Stroke of Insight: A Brain Scientist's Personal Journey*. Morrisville, NC: Lulu.com, 2006.
- Taylor, S. E., L. C. Klein, B. P. Lewis, T. L. Gruenewald, R. A. R. Gurung, and J. A. Updegraff. "Biobehavioral Responses to Stress in Females: Tend-and-Befriend, Not Fight-or-Flight." *Psychological Review* 109, no. 4 (2002): 745–750.
- Tickner, J. A. "Hans Morgenthau's Principles of Political Realism: A Feminist Reformulation." *Millennium Journal of International Studies* 17, no. 3 (1988): 429–440.
- Time Magazine "Love in the Afternoon." *Time Magazine* November 11 (1966): available at www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,843018,00.html.
- Tschudi, F. and E. G. Lindner. *Reconciliation and Humiliation: A Review by Finn Tschudi & Evelin Lindner's Responses*. Oslo: Discussion stimulated by 'Why There Can Be No Conflict Resolution as Long as People Are Being Humiliated,' in 'Education for Reconciliation and Conflict Resolution,' a Special Issue of *International Review of Education*, edited by Birgit Brock-Utne, Vol. 55 (no 1, 2009), www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008.
- Tuhus-Dubrow, R. "The Female Advantage: A New Reason for Businesses to Promote Women: It's More Profitable." *The Boston Globe* May 3 (2009): , retrieved on May 5, 2009, from www.boston.com/bostonglobe/ideas/articles/2009/05/03/the\_female\_advantage/.
- Ueno, C. Nationalism and Gender. Melbourne: Trans Pacific Press, 2004.
- Umilta, M. A., E. Kohler, V. Gallese, L. Fogassi, L. Fadiga, C. Keysers, and G. Rizzolatti. ""I Know What You Are Doing": A Neurophysiological Study." Neuron 31 (2001): 155–165.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), Population Associatin, and United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). *The Dynamics of Honour Killings in Turkey: Prospects for Action*. New York: United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), available at www.unfpa.org/upload/lib pub file/676 filename honourkillings.pdf, 2007.
- Ury, W. Getting to Peace: Transforming Conflict at Home, at Work, and in the World. New York: Viking, 1999.

- Vaitheeswaran, V. V. Power to the People: How the Coming Energy Revolution Will Transform an Industry, Change Our Lives, and Maybe Even Save the Planet. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2003.
- Vaughan, G. For-Giving: A Feminist Criticism of Exchange. Austin, TX: Plain View Press, 1997.
- Vaughan, G., ed., *Women and the Gift Economy: A Radically Different Worldview Is Possible*. Toronto: Innana, retrieved on July 5, 2007, from www.gift-economy.com/womenand.html., 2007.
- von Stumm, S., T. Chamorro-Premuzic, and A. Furnham. "Decomposing Self-Estimates of Intelligence: Structure and Sex Differences Across 12 Nations." *British Journal of Psychology* 100, no. 2, May (2009): 429–442(14).
- Wadhwa, V., A. Saxenian, R. B. Freeman, and G. Gereffi. *America's Loss Is the World's Gain: America's New Immigrant Entrepreneurs, Part 4*. Durham, NC: Duke University, available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1348616, 2009.
- Waller, M. R. and J. Rycenga, eds., *Frontline Feminisms: Women, War, and Resistance*. New York: Garland Pub., 2001.
- Waring, M. *If Women Counted: A New Feminist Economics*. San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1988.
- Wasilewski, J. H. *Consensus-Based Decision-Making in a Global Society*. Adapted from *The Asiatic Society of Japan Bulletin No. 1*, January 2002, compiled by Prof. Hugh E. Wilkinson and Mrs. Doreen Simmons, 2002.
- Wasilewski, J. H. and L. Harris. "Indigenous Wisdom of the People Forum: Strategies for Expanding a Web of Transnational Indigenous Interactions." *Systems Research and Behavioral Science* 21, no. 56, September/October (2004): 505–514, published onlineinWiley InterScience (www.interscience.wiley.com).
- Webb, T. Working With Shame and Other Strong Emotions: Experiential Workshop Script From 'Personal and Political Tools for Social Change' Course. Sidney: Centre for Popular Education, University of Technology, 2005.
- Webb, T. "On Love, Shame and Other Strong Emotions." No to Violence 5, no. 1 (2009):
- Wells, S. *The Journey of Man: A Genetic Odyssey*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2002.
- Wells, S. *Deep Ancestry: Inside the Genographic Project*. Washington, DC: National Geographic, 2006.
- Wendt, A. *Social Theory of International Politics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999.

- Wendt, A. "Why a World State Is Inevitable." *European Journal of International Relations* 9, no. 4 (2003): 491–542.
- Werlhof, C. v., V. Bennholdt-Thomsen, and N. Faraclas, eds., *There Is an Alternative:* Subsistence and Worldwide Resistance to Corporate Globalization. North Melbourne, Victoria: Spinifex Press, 2001.
- Westman, M., F. Jones, and R. J. Burke, eds., *Work-Life Balance: A Psychological Perspective*. Hove: Psychology Press, 2006.
- Wheatley, M. J. *Finding Our Way: Leadership for an Uncertain Time*. San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler Publishers, 2007.
- White, H. and A. Trowsdale. *Pushing 50 Three Ages of Childbirth*. BBC News, retrieved on December 13, 2006, from news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/uk news/6196072.stm, 2006.
- Whitworth, S. "Gender in the Inter-Paradigm Debate." *Millennium Journal of International Studies* 18, no. 2 (1989): 265–272.
- Wicker, B., C. Keysers, J. Plailly, J.-P. Royet, V. Gallese, and G. Rizzolatti. "Both of Us Disgusted in My Insula: The Common Neural Basis of Seeing and Feeling Disgust." *Neuron* 40, no. 3 (2003): 655–664.
- Woolf, V. *Three Guineas*. London: Hogarth, available online at eBooks@Adelaide, The University of Adelaide Library, at ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/w/woolf/virginia/w91tg/, 1938.
- World Wildlife Fund *Living Planet Report 2008*. London: World Wildlife Fund, available at assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/lpr 2008.pdf, 2008.
- Yazid, M. "From Jakarta to Kosovo What's the Big Attraction?" *Jakarta Post* 5 June (2007): , available at www.thejakartapost.com/news/2007/06/05/jakarta-kosovo-what039s-big-attraction.html.
- Yoshimi, Y. Comfort Women: Sexual Slavery in the Japanese Military During World War II. New York: Columbia University Press, 2000.
- Yuval-Davis, N. "Women and the Biological Reproduction of "the Nation"." *Women's Studies International Forum* 19, no. 1-2 (1996): 17–24.
- Zalewski, M. "Feminist Standpoint Theory Meets International Relations Theory: A Feminist Version of David and Goliath?" *Fletcher Forum for International Affairs* summer (1993): 13–32.
- Zalewski, M. "Feminist Theory and International Relations." *From Cold War to Collapse: Theory and World Politics in the 1980s.* Edited by Mike Bowker and Robin Brown Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1993.

Zalewski, M. "Well, What Is the Feminist Perspective on Bosnia?" *International Affairs* 71, no. 2 (1995): 339–356.

Zavaleta Reyles, D. "The Ability to Go About Without Shame: A Proposal for International." *Oxford Development Studies* 35, no. 4 (2007): , retrieved on December 11, 2007, from www.ophi.org.uk/pubs/Zavaleta Shame Humiliation FINAL.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> E. G. Lindner, *Gender, Humiliation, and Global Security: Dignifying Relationships From Love, Sex, and Parenthood to World Affairs* (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> J. W. Dower, *Embracing Defeat: Japan in the Wake of World War II* (New York: Norton, 1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the case of Bern, one explanation may be that Savoy also was an occupier and that the vying for power between two occupiers does not connect with the identities of the populations of the affected region as much as it would if they were in control themselves.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> BBC World News *HARDtalk* with Stephen Sackur on April 24, 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See R. Kothari, D. L. Sheth, and A. Nandy, eds., *The Multiverse of Democracy: Essays in Honour of Rajni Kothari* (New Delhi: Sage, 1996). Not least the East has flourished by putting "seven pillars of Western wisdom" at work, he posits, among them the idea of the free market. The custodians of free market are in the West, he points out, but the strongest believers are in the East.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This section is adapted from E. G. Lindner, *Gender, Humiliation, and Global Security: Dignifying Relationships From Love, Sex, and Parenthood to World Affairs* (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A genetic split in Africa resulted in distinct populations that lived in isolation for as much as 100,000 years. On one side of this divide are the mitochondrial lineages now found predominantly in East and West Africa, and all maternal lineages found outside Africa. On the other side of the divide are lineages predominantly found in the Khoi and San (Khoisan) hunter-gatherer people of southern Africa. These results come from the Genographic Project (genographic national geographic com/), which tracks human migrations through DNA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See for the "long bottleneck" theory of Late Pleistocene population bottlenecks and releases J. Hawks et al., "Population Bottlenecks and Pleistocene Human Evolution," *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 17, no. 1 (2000): 2-22, retrieved on April 7, 2009, from http://mbe.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/full/17/1/2. The so-called Toba catastrophe theory suggests a "short bottleneck" due to a catastrophic environmental change. Stanley H. Ambrose proposes the Toba catastrophe theory, saying that 70,000 to 75,000 years ago, a supervolcanic event at Lake Toba, on Sumatra, reduced the world's human population to 10,000 or even a mere 1,000 breeding pairs, creating a bottleneck in human evolution. See S. H. Ambrose, "Late Pleistocene Human Population Bottlenecks, Volcanic Winter, and Differentiation of Modern Humans," Journal of Human Evolution, 34, no. 6 (1998): 623-651. I learned to appreciate Lake Toba in 1981 as a region of cultural and natural treasures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> DNA studies trace back to a "mitochondrial Eve" or the matrilineal most recent common ancestor for all humans alive today, who lived approximately 150,000 years ago, and to a "Y-chromosomal Adam" or the patrilineal most recent common ancestor, who lived approximately 60,000 years ago. See, for instance, S. Wells, The Journey of Man: A Genetic Odyssey (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2002) or S. Wells, *Deep Ancestry: Inside the Genographic Project* (Washington, DC: National Geographic, 2006). However, consider also the personal message I received from Jonathan Haas on July 27, 2009: "There may have been a bottleneck 70,000 years ago, but I don't believe there is any reliable evidence indicating that all of modern humanity derived from a single tribe in the Kalahari 60,000 years ago." Haas is an anthropological archaeologist with over 30 years of field experience in both North and South America.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This is documented in a number of ways, see, among others, M. N. Cohen, *The Food Crisis in Prehistory: Overpopulation and the Origins of Agriculture* (New Haven, Conn.: Yale University Press, 1977), M. N. Cohen, "The Economies of Late Pre-Farming and Farming Communities and Their Relation to the Problem of Dispersals," (Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, 2002), S.

Clearly, what must be avoided are idealizations fed by wishful thinking, as, for instance, Margaret Mead has been accused of; see D. Freeman, M. Mead, ed., *The Fateful Hoaxing of Margaret Mead: A Historical Analysis of Her Samoan Research* (Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1999).

<sup>11</sup> Circumscription theory has been developed by anthropologist and curator of the American Museum of Natural History in New York, Robert Leonard Carneiro . See, among others, R. L. Carneiro, "The Circumscription Theory: Challenge and Response," American Behavioral Scientist, 31, no. 4 (1988): 497-511.

<sup>12</sup> W. Ury, Getting to Peace: Transforming Conflict at Home, at Work, and in the World (New York: Viking, 1999).

13 The term "security dilemma" itself was coined by John H. Herz, to explain why states that have no intention to harm one another may still end up in competition and war. See J. H. Herz, "Idealist Internationalism and the Security Dilemma," World Politics, II (1950): 157-180. The topic has been expanded upon by many other authors. See R. Jervis, R. N. Lebow, and J. G. Stein, Psychology and Deterrence (Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1985), and R. K. Betts, ed., *Conflict After the Cold War: Arguments on Causes of War and Peace* Updated 2nd ed. (New York: Pearson, 2005). In J. Snyder, "Perceptions of the Security Dilemma in 1914," in *Psychology and Deterrence*, eds. R. Jervis, R. N. Lebow, and J. G. Stein (Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1985), 153-179, Snyder defines the security dilemma as one state requiring the insecurity of another (see also J. Snyder and B. Walters, eds., The Security Dilemma and Intervention in Civil Wars (New York: Columbia University Press, 1999), while a state-induced security dilemma is discussed in A. Collins, "State-Induced Security Dilemma Maintaining the Tragedy," Cooperation and Conflict, 39, no. 1 (2004): 27-44.

<sup>14</sup> Riane R. T. Eisler, *The Chalice and the Blade: Our History, Our Future* (London: Unwin Hyman, 1987). See her most recent book R. T. Eisler, *The Real Wealth of Nations: Creating a Caring Economics* (San Francisco, LA: Berrett-Koehler, 2007).

<sup>15</sup> W. Ury, *Getting to Peace: Transforming Conflict at Home, at Work, and in the World* (New York: Viking, 1999), 108. See also C. L. Flinders, *Rebalancing the World: Why Women Belong and Men Compete and How to Restore the Ancient Equilibrium* (San Francisco: Harper, 2002), who conceptualizes human history in similar ways. See furthermore P. Giorgi, *The Origins of Violence by Cultural Evolution,* 2nd ed. (Brisbane, Australia: Minerva, www.pierogiorgi.org/The-origins-of-violence-by-cultural-evolution.pdf, 2001) or M. Berman, *Wandering God* (Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 2000).

<sup>16</sup> See, for example, the work by Jacqueline Wasilewski, scholar of indigenous cultures. See, for instance, J. H. Wasilewski, *Consensus-Based Decision-Making in a Global Society* Adapted from *The Asiatic Society of Japan Bulletin No. 1*, January 2002, compiled by Prof. Hugh E. Wilkinson and Mrs. Doreen Simmons, 2002), L. D. Harris and J. H. Wasilewski, "Indigeneity, an Alternative Worldview: Four R's (Relationship, Responsibility, Reciprocity, Redistribution) Versus Two P's (Power and Profit). Sharing the Journey Towards Conscious Evolution," *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 21, no. 5 (2004): 489-504, J. H. Wasilewski and L. Harris, "Indigenous Wisdom of the People Forum: Strategies for Expanding a Web of Transnational Indigenous Interactions," *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 21, no. 56, September/October (2004): 505-514, published onlineinWiley InterScience (www.interscience.wiley.com).

<sup>17</sup> J. Haas, "Warfare and the Evolution of Culture," in *Archaeology at the Millennium: A Sourcebook*, eds. T. D. Price and G. M. Feinman (New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, 2001), 329-350, 334. In a personal communication to the author on May 6, 2009, Haas confirmed that this statement has since been "supported further by more recent archaeological research." Haas is an anthropological archaeologist with over 30 years of field experience in both North and South America. His interests include the origins of war, the archaeology of the Southwest and Peru, and the evolution of complex society anthropology.

<sup>18</sup> S. L. Gaertner and J. F. Dovidio, Reducing Intergroup Bias: The Common Ingroup Identity Model (Hove, UK: Psychology Press, 1999).

<sup>19</sup> M. Buber, *Ich Und Du* (Leipzig: Insel Verlag, 1923).

<sup>20</sup> Rostow's linear theory of development has been criticized in this way; see (W. W. Rostow, *The Stages of Economic Growth: A Non-Communist Manifesto* (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press, 1960)). I thank Roger van Zwanenburg for making me aware of Rostow's work and its criticism.

<sup>21</sup> Rhetoric was developed to help underlings against domination by using emotions, and it worked. However, manipulating emotions works also for dominators. Both dominators and underlings got wary and suppressed emotions, instead of using them sensibly; see Chapter 8 in my *Emotion and Conflict* book (2009), 129-137).

<sup>22</sup> S. A. Shields, *Speaking From the Heart: Gender and the Social Meaning of Emotion* (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press, 2002).

<sup>23</sup> P. Sukhdev, *The Economics of Ecosystems & Biodiversity (TEEB) - An Interim Report*European Communities, available at ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/economics/pdf/teeb\_report.pdf, 2008). See also N. Stern, *Stern Review of the Economics of Climate Change* (Cambridge University Press, 2006).

<sup>24</sup> BBC NEWS, news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/uk news/7951838.stm, published March 19, 2009.

<sup>25</sup> World Wildlife Fund, *Living Planet Report 2008* (London: World Wildlife Fund, available at assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/lpr\_2008.pdf, 2008).

<sup>26</sup> This address is available at www.un.org/ga/63/generaldebate/sg.shtml, 2008.

<sup>27</sup> J. Morrissey, "Credit Default Swaps: The Next Crisis?," *Time*, March 17 (2008): Available at www.time.com/time/printout/0,8816,1723152,00.html.

<sup>28</sup> BBC NEWS, October 10, 2008, news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/business/7687101.stm.

<sup>29</sup> In the BBC World News HARDtalk interview with Stephen Sackur on March 11, 2009.

<sup>30</sup> In the BBC World News HARDtalk interview with Zeinab Badawi on March 31, 2009

<sup>31</sup> M. G. Marshall, *Third World War: System, Process, and Conflict Dynamics* (Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield, 1999).

<sup>32</sup> R. Lane, *Loss of Happiness in Market Democracies* (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2001). According to the World Health Organisation (WHO, www.who.int/), major depression (i.e. severe depressed mood that is episodic in nature and recurs in 75-80 per cent of cases) is now the leading cause of disability world-wide with a lifetime prevalence of 17 per cent in the western world, thus ranking fourth among the ten leading causes of global disease burden. In addition, the WHO states that depression is the most common mental disorder leading to suicide and they project that, at its present rate of growth, depression will be the second leading contributor to global disease burden by 2020.

<sup>33</sup> This information has already found its way into the public eye, see, for instance, M. Honigsbaum, "On the Happy Trail," *The Observer*, Sunday, April 4 (2004): Available at www.guardian.co.uk/society/2004/apr/04/mentalhealth.observermagazine.

<sup>34</sup> B. Stevenson and J. Wolfers, *The Paradox of Declining Female Happiness* (Cambridge, MA: The National Bureau of Economic Research, available at www.nber.org/papers/w14969, 2009).

<sup>35</sup> See for statistical data on Women, Povery & Economics www.unifem.org/gender\_issues/women\_poverty\_economics/. See also www.unifpa.org/ for related publications. See furthermore data from the World Bank on the Economic Status of Women at web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/NEWS/0,,contentMDK:21227023~pagePK:64257043~piPK:43 7376~theSitePK:4607,00.html. See also D. Zavaleta Reyles, "The Ability to Go About Without Shame: A Proposal for International," *Oxford Development Studies*, 35, no. 4 (2007): , retrieved on December 11, 2007, from www.ophi.org.uk/pubs/Zavaleta Shame Humiliation FINAL.pdf.

<sup>36</sup> A. P. Fiske, *Structures of Social Life: The Four Elementary Forms of Human Relations - Communal Sharing, Authority Ranking, Equality Matching, Market Pricing* (New York: Free Press, 1991). A useful introduction to the theory, overview of research, and a bibliography is found on www.rtm.ucla.edu.

<sup>37</sup> See www.trans4mind.com/healing/fonda.html, or www.awakenedwoman.com/jane\_fonda\_talk.htm. I thank Linda M. Hartling for making me aware of Fonda's speech.

<sup>38</sup> See hdrstats.undp.org/indicators/268.html.

<sup>39</sup> F. El-Zanaty, E. M. Hussein, G. A. Shawky, A. A. Way, and S. Kishor, *Egypt Demographic and Health Survey 1995* (Calverton: National Population Council and Macro International Inc., 1996). See the graphical presentation of the statistical results of women accepting beating also at www.unfpa.org/swp/2005/english/ch7/index.htm#fig5.

<sup>42</sup> Norway (1) leads the world in closing the gender gap between men and women, according to the overall ranking in the World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report 2008. Three other Nordic countries—Finland (2), Sweden (3) and Iceland (4)—also top the Report's Gender Gap Index. Previously higher ranking countries such as Germany (11), United Kingdom (13) and Spain (17) slipped down the Index but stayed in the top 20, while Netherlands (9), Latvia (10), Sri Lanka (12) and France (15) made significant gains. Featuring a total of 130 countries, this year's Report provides an insight into the gaps between women and men in over 92% of the world's population. The Report examines four critical areas of inequality between men and women: 1. Economic participation and opportunity—outcomes on salaries, participation levels and access to high-skilled employment. 2. Educational attainment—outcomes on access to basic and higher level education. 3. Political empowerment—outcomes on representation in decisionmaking structures. 4. Health and survival—outcomes on life expectancy and sex ratio. The Gender Gap Index assesses countries on how well they are dividing their resources and opportunities among their male and female populations, regardless of the overall levels of these resources and opportunities. Quoted from www.weforum.org/en/Communities/Women%20Leaders%20and%20Gender%20Parity/GenderGapNetwor k/index.htm See R. Hausman, L. D. Tyson, and S. Zahidi, The Global Gender Gap Report 2008 (Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum, available at www.weforum.org/pdf/gendergap/report2008.pdf,

<sup>43</sup> As to feminist theory of human rights, see, for example, N. S. Kim, "Toward a Feminist Theory of Human Rights: Straddling the Fence Between Western Imperialism and Uncritical Absolutism," Columbia Human Rights Law Review, 25, no. 1 (1993): 49-105, or G. Binion, "Human Rights: A Feminist Perspective," Human Rights Quarterly, 17, no. 3 (1995): 509-526. See for feminist readings of peace and conflict studies, for instance, E. Z. Berg, "Gendering Conflict Resolution," Peace and Change, 19, no. 4 (1994): 325-348; C. T. Mohanty, "Under Western Eyes: Feminist Scholarship and Colonial Discourses," in Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism, eds. C. T. Mohanty, A. Russo, and L. Torres (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991), 51-80; B. Byrne, "Towards a Gendered Understanding of Conflict," IDS Bulletin, 27, no. 3 (1996): 31-40; A. Fuller, "Toward an Emancipatory Methodology for Peace Research," Peace and Change, 17, no. 3 (1992): 286-311. For background to feminist pedagogy and peace and conflict see L. R. Forcey, "Women As Peacemakers: Contested Terrain for Feminist Peace Studies," Peace and Change, 16, no. 4 (1991): 331-354. For gender and political theory, see, among others, J. Squires, Gender in Political Theory (Malden, MA: Polity Press, 1999). For feminist theory and international relations see a good introduction in M. Zalewski, "Feminist Standpoint Theory Meets International Relations Theory: A Feminist Version of David and Goliath?," Fletcher Forum for International Affairs, summer (1993): 13-32. See also M. Zalewski, "Feminist Theory and International Relations," in From Cold War to Collapse: Theory and World Politics in the 1980s, eds. M. Bowker and R. Brown (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1993) Zalewski, in Bowker & Brown, 1993; ,L. J. Peach, "In Alternative to Pacifism? Feminism and Just-War Theory," Hypatia, 9, no. 2, Special Issue: Feminism and Peace (1994): 152-173; C. Cuomo, "War Is Not Just an Event: Reflections on the Significance of Everyday Violence," Hypatia, 11, no. 4 (1996): 30-45; R. Grant and K. Newland, eds., Gender and International Relations (Milton Keynes: Open University Press, 1991); C. Cohn, "Sex and Death in the Rational World of Defense Intellectuals," Signs, 12, no. 4, Within and Without: Women, Gender, and Theory (1987): 687-718, available at

genderandsecurity.umb.edu/Carol%20Cohn%20Sex%20and%20Death%20in%20the%20World%20of%20 Rational%20Defense%20Intellectuals.pdf. For background reading see M. Zalewski, "Well, What Is the Feminist Perspective on Bosnia?," *International Affairs*, 71, no. 2 (1995): 339-356, which gives a good overview and links International Relations Theory with human rights, militarism, and gender. For a more very good introduction, see also V. S. Peterson, ed., *Gendered States: Feminist (Re)Visions of International* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> The pay gap is linked to a number of complex causes which are frequently interrelated: the undervaluing of women's work, segregation in the labor market, traditions and stereotypes, and problems in balancing work and private life. The gender pay gap is the consequence of all these factors and inequalities in the labor market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Read more about the campaign at europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction.do?reference=IP/09/341&format=HTML&aged=0&language=EN&g uiLanguage=en.

Relations Theory (Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner, 1992). Widely cited is also S. Brown, "Feminism, International Theory, and International Relations of Gender Inequality," Millennium - Journal of International Studies, 17, no. 3 (1988): 461-475. See also R. O. Keohane, "International Relations Theory: Contributions of a Feminist Standpoint," in Gender and International Relations, eds. R. Grant and K. Newland (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991) Keohan, in Grant & Newland, 1991, S. Dalby, "Gender and Critical Geopolitics: Reading Security Discourse in the New World Disorder," Environment and Planning D: Society and Space, 12, no. 5 (1994): 595-612, J. A. Tickner, "Hans Morgenthau's Principles of Political Realism: A Feminist Reformulation," Millennium - Journal of International Studies, 17, no. 3 (1988): 429-440, S. Whitworth, "Gender in the Inter-Paradigm Debate," Millennium - Journal of International Studies, 18, no. 2 (1989): 265-272. Regarding gender, identity, conflict and theoretical approaches to gender and identity, see V. M. Moghadam, ed., Identity Politics and Women. Cultural Reassertions and Feminisms in International Perspective (Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1994), N. Yuval-Davis, "Women and the Biological Reproduction of "the Nation"," Women's Studies International Forum, 19, no. 1-2 (1996): 17-24, D. J. Rosenberg, "Distant Relations: Class, "Race", and National Origin in the German Women's Movement," Women's Studies International Forum, 19, no. 1-2 (1996): 145-154, D. Kandiyoti, "Identity and Its Discontents: Women and the Nation," Millennium - Journal of International Studies, 20, no. 3 (1991): 429-443. See for feminist theories of non-violent conflict resolutions for example J. Peters and A. Wolper, eds., Women's Rights, Human Rights: International Feminist Perspectives (New York: Routledge, 1995).

<sup>44</sup> Norwegian public institutions devoted to promote gender equality have set up the website "Gender in Norway," www.gender.no, where information on the gender equality situation in Norway can be found.

- <sup>45</sup> G. Fouché, "The Rise of the Valkyries: Norwegian Women Take Their Place at the Top," *The Guardian*, 17 November (2008): available at www.guardian.co.uk/world/2008/nov/17/norway-gender-executive-salaries.
  - <sup>46</sup> B. Folkman, *Tristan and Isolde: Program Note* (New York: Metropolitan Opera, 2008).
- <sup>47</sup> A. Nandy, "Sati: A Nineteenth-Century Tale of Women, Violence and Protest," in *Vishnu on Freud's Desk: A Reader in Psychoanalysis and Hinduism*, eds. T. G. Vaidyanathan and J. J. Kripal (New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1999), 304-338.
- <sup>48</sup> See, for instance, a recent summary and evaluation of qualitative research about honor killings, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), Population Associatin, and United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), *The Dynamics of Honour Killings in Turkey: Prospects for Action* (New York: United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), available at www.unfpa.org/upload/lib\_pub\_file/676\_filename\_honourkillings.pdf, 2007).
- <sup>49</sup> BBC NEWS, published July 2, 2009, at news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/middle\_east/8130639.stm.
   <sup>50</sup> BBC NEWS, published April 2, 2009, at news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/asia-pacific/7869813.stm.
   Women have a greater awareness of their rights and are bringing more cases to court. The number citing polygamy as grounds for divorce is also rising. The Religious Affairs Ministry said the divorce rate had jumped from an average of 20,000 a year to more than 200,000. Since the introduction of democratic reforms 10 years ago, authoritarian attitudes to marriage are changing. Total Divorce rates for Europe are made visible on a map at epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY\_PUBLIC/GISCO/mapjobs2006/mp2006069-e.pdf: The average total divorce rate in Europe (25 countries included) on 100 marriages is 35 in 2003. Statistics until 2007 are shown in Table 7 on epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY\_OFFPUB/KS-SF-08-081/EN/KS-SF-08-081-EN.PDF, and

epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page?\_pageid=1996,39140985&\_dad=portal&\_schema=PORTAL&product=REF\_TB\_population&root=theme0/t\_popula/t\_pop/t\_demo\_nup/tps00013&zone=detail. U.S. Census Bureau statistics about marriage and divorce rates by country from 1980 to 2005 are displayed in Table 1302 at www.census.gov/prod/2007pubs/08abstract/intlstat.pdf, showing that people get married (and divorced) more in the United States than in the other country listed, more than, for instance, in Canada, Europe, or Japan. The website www.divorcemag.com/statistics/statsWorld.shtml lists the percentage of new marriages which end in divorce in selected countries for 2002, ranging from Sweden where 54.9 percent of new marriages ended in divorce in 2002, to the United States with 45.8 percent, Russia with 43.3, the United Kingdom with 42.6, Norway with 40.4, Germany with 39.4, France with 38.3, down to India with 1.1 percent.

<sup>51</sup> See, among others, K. Downey, The Woman Behind the New Deal Signed Edition: The Life of Frances Perkins, FDR's Secretary of Labor and His Moral Conscience (New York: Nan A. Talese, 2009). I thank Linda M. Hartling for making me aware of this book.

<sup>52</sup> V. Woolf, *Three Guineas* (London: Hogarth, available online at eBooks@Adelaide, The University of Adelaide Library, at ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/w/woolf/virginia/w91tg/, 1938). I thank Linda M. Hartling for bringing Woolf's work into my life.

<sup>53</sup> J. P. Lash, Eleanor and Franklin: The Story of Their Relationship, Based on Eleanor Roosevelt's Private Papers (New York: Norton, 1971).

<sup>54</sup> K. Garner, "World YWCA Leaders and the UN Decade for Women," Journal of International Women's Studies, 9, no. 1, November (2007): 212-233, available at www.bridgew.edu/soas/jiws/Nov07/YWCA.pdf. I thank Muna Killingback for making me aware of this article.

55 H. N. Summy, 'Peace Angel' of World War I: Dissent of Margaret Thorp (Brisbane, Australia: Centre for Peace and Conflict Studies, University of Queensland, 2006). See also C. Cockburn, From Where We Stand: War, Women's Activism and Feminist Analysis (London: Zed Books, 2007) or M. R. Waller and J. Rycenga, eds., Frontline Feminisms: Women, War, and Resistance (New York: Garland Pub., 2001).

<sup>56</sup> See, among others, L. Manniche, Sexual Life in Ancient Egypt (London, New York; Kegan Paul International, 1987).

<sup>57</sup> Meroë is referred to as Nubia in many ancient sources and an alternate spelling is Kandace, Kandake, or Kentake, and in Egyptian hieroglyphics the throne name of Amanitore reads as Merkare.

<sup>58</sup> N. Rahal, 200 Years Later ... Commemorating the 200 Year Anniversary of the Abolition of the Transatlantic Slave Trade (Berlin: AfricAvenir & Werkstatt der Kulturen, 2009). For a more recent exemple of a woman who oscillated between the male and female role script, see Catherine von Wattenwyl, whose path I followed in Switzerland; see T. Bichsel, Catherine Von Wattenwyl: Amazone, Pfarrfrau Und Spionin (Oberhofen am Thunersee: Zytglogge, 2004).

<sup>59</sup> See, among others, H. Carreiras, Gender and the Military: Women in the Armed Forces of Western Democracies (London: Routledge, 2006), or J. Holm, Women in the Military: An Unfinished Revolution, Revised ed. (Novato, CA: Presidio, 1992).

<sup>60</sup> J. G. Stenstad, "Ola Og Kari Soldat Kan Dele Rom," Forsvarsnett, (2009):, retrieved on May 11, 2009, from www.mil.no/felles/tmo/start/article.jhtml?articleID=171874.

<sup>61</sup> J. Roof, Reproductions of Reproduction: Imaging Symbolic Change (New York: Routledge, 1996).

<sup>62</sup> L. Segura, "Veterans Decry Institutional Sexism in Military," *Alternet*, March 20 (2009): downloaded on March 20, 2009, from www.alternet.org/story/79877.

<sup>63</sup> See, for example, Y. Yoshimi, Comfort Women: Sexual Slavery in the Japanese Military During World War II (New York: Columbia University Press, 2000), or C. Ueno, Nationalism and Gender (Melbourne: Trans Pacific Press, 2004).

<sup>64</sup> See K. H. S. Moon, Sex Among Allies: Military Prostitution in U.S.-Korea Relations (New York: Columbia University Press. 1997).

<sup>65</sup> C. Lenz, ""A Kind of Fraternization That Was Totally Unacceptable." The Drawing of Boundaries Within the National Identity and the Regulation of Female Sexuality," in Lars O Ramberg, ed. L. Ø. Ramberg (Ostfildern: Hatje Cantz Verlag, 2008),, C. Lenz, "Zwischen Nationalem Verrat Und Romantischer Liebe. Zur Diskursiven (Ent-)Politisierung Sexueller Verhältnisse Zwischen Norwegischen Frauen Und Deutschen Soldaten," in Politische Gesellschaftsgeschichte Im 19. Und 20. Jahrhundert. Festgabe Für Barbara Vogel, eds. H. Albrecht, Boukrif, Gabriele, C. Bruns, and K. Heinsohn (Hamburg: Reinhold Krämer Verlag, 2006).

<sup>66</sup> Read about the experiences of three generations of parents and how strict rules and regulations have given way to a more informal and woman-centred approach in ,H. White and A. Trowsdale, Pushing 50 -Three Ages of ChildbirthBBC News, retrieved on December 13, 2006, from news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/uk news/6196072.stm, 2006).

<sup>67</sup> BBC World News, Peschardt's People, May 1, 2009, www.bbcworldnews.com/Pages/Programme.aspx?id=191.

<sup>68</sup> D. Loye, 3,000 Years of Love: The Life of Riane Eisler and David Loye (Carmel, CA: Benjamin Franklin Press, 2007).

<sup>69</sup> See, for example, R. T. Eisler, *Sacred Pleasure: Sex, Myth, and the Politics of the Body* (San Francisco: Harper San Francisco, 1995).

To See, for instance, www.latinamericapress.org/article.asp?IssCode=&lanCode=1&artCode=5630. See for publications in feminist political economy and economical models, for instance, J. Armstrong, "Indigenous Knowledge and Gift Giving," in *Women and the Gift Economy: A Radically Different Worldview Is Possible*, ed. G. Vaughan (Toronto: Innana, retrieved on July 5, 2007, from www.gift-economy.com/womenand.html, 2007), ,B. A. Mann, *Iroquoian Women, the Gantowisas* (New York: Peter Lang, 2000), M. Mies, *Patriarchy and Accumulation on a World Scale: Women in the International Division of Labour* (London: Zed Books, 2006), M. Mies and V. Bennholdt-Thomsen, *The Subsistence Perspective: Beyond the Globalized Economy* (London: Zed Books, 1999), G. Vaughan, ed., *Women and the Gift Economy: A Radically Different Worldview Is Possible* (Toronto: Innana, retrieved on July 5, 2007, from www.gift-economy.com/womenand.html., 2007), G. Vaughan, *For-Giving: A Feminist Criticism of Exchange* (Austin,TX: Plain View Press, 1997), M. Waring, *If Women Counted: A New Feminist Economics* (San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1988), C. v. Werlhof, V. Bennholdt-Thomsen, and N. Faraclas, eds., *There Is an Alternative: Subsistence and Worldwide Resistance to Corporate Globalization* (North Melbourne, Victoria: Spinifex Press, 2001).

<sup>71</sup>T. Webb, "On Love, Shame and Other Strong Emotions," *No to Violence*, 5, no. 1 (2009), 9-10. <sup>72</sup> Ibid., 9.

73 See for the network's publications www.humiliationstudies.org/publications/publications.php, and for mine www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php. See some selected publications: : E. G. Lindner, "Disasters As a Chance to Implement Novel Solutions That Highlight Attention to Human Dignity," in Rebuilding Sustainable Communities for Children and Their Families After Disasters: A Global Survey, ed. A. Awotona (Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, proceedings of the International Conference on Rebuilding Sustainable Communities for Children and Their Families after Disasters, convened by Adenrele Awotona at the College of Public and Community Service University of Massachusetts at Boston, USA, November 16-19, 2008, www.rebuilding.umb.edu/rsccfd/, 2010),, E. G. Lindner, "Genocide, Humiliation, and Inferiority: An Interdisciplinary Perspective," in Genocides by the Oppressed: Subaltern Genocide in Theory and Practice, eds. N. A. Robins and A. Jones (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2009), 138-158, E. G. Lindner, "Traumatized by Humiliation in Times of Globalization: Transforming Humiliation into Constructive Meaning?," in Mass Trauma and Emotional Healing Around the World: Rituals and Practices for Resilience, 2 Vols, eds. A. Kalayjian, D. Eugene, and G. Reyes (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009), E. G. Lindner, "How Asia Can Contribute to World Peace Psychology: Creating a Dignified and Peaceful World by Employing Unity in Diversity," in Peace Psychology in Asia, eds. C. J. Montiel and N. M. Noor (New York: Springer Science and Business Media (Springer SBM), 2009),, E. G. Lindner, Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009), E. G. Lindner, The Relevance of Humiliation Studies for the Prevention of Terrorism (Budapest: Paper presented to the NATO Advanced Research Workshop 'Indigenous Terrorism: Understanding and Addressing the Root Causes of Radicalisation among Groups with an Immigrant Heritage in Europe', 7th-9th March 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008), E. G. Lindner, "Futility of Armed Conflict: The Role of Dignity and Humiliation," in *Changing* Contours of Global Conflicts and Prospects of Peace, eds. S. Shekhawat and D. A. Mahapatra (New Delhi, India: New Century, 2008), 18-34, E. G. Lindner, "Beginning to Understand the Causes of Conflicts and Terrorism - and Finding Ways to Transcend Them," in Creativity: With Pakistani Children's Drawings, ed. A. Hetland (Islamabad: Pakistan - Norway Association (PANA): An International Friendship Association in Pakistan, 2008),, E. G. Lindner, "Why There Can Be No Conflict Resolution As Long As People Are Being Humiliated," International Review of Education, Special Issue on Education for Reconciliation and Conflict Resolution, Volume 55, no. May 2-3, 2009 (2008): 157-184, published OnlineFirst on December 27, 2008, at

www.springerlink.com/content/bg5g32x832152953/?p=61dc6cf755b1443c83e89d49221b3e7a&pi=1, including the short version of Finn Tschudi's response and Evelin Lindner's rejoinder; see the long version at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, E. G. Lindner, "Health and Illness in Relation to Dignity and Humiliation in Times of Global Interdependence," *E-Newsletter of Solidarity, Sustainability*,

and Non-Violence, 4, no. 6, June (2008): Available at pelicanweb.org/solisustv04n06lindner.html, E. G. Lindner, The Need for a New World (New York: Paper presented at the Fifth Workshop on Humiliation and Violent Conflict, Columbia University, December 11-12, 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php. 2008). E. G. Lindner, "The Educational Environment As a Place for Humiliating Indoctrination or Dignifying Empowerment," Experiments in Education, XXXVI, Humiliation in the academic setting: A Special Symposium Issue, no. 3, March (2008): 51-60, E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation," in International Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences (IESS), ed. W. A. Darity, Jr., Second ed. (Detroit, MI: Macmillan Reference USA/Thomson Gale, 2008),, E. G. Lindner, What the World's Cultures Can Contribute to Creating a Sustainable Future for Humankind (Oslo: Paper presented at the Eleventh Annual Conference of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, Oslo, Bergen, Trondheim, 23th June - 1st July 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008), E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation, Trauma, and Trauma Recovery in a Globalizing World," in Peacebuilding for Traumatized Societies, ed. B. Hart (Lanham, MD: University Press of America, 2008), 49-64, E. G. Lindner, "Avoiding Humiliation - From Intercultural Communication to Global Interhuman Communication," Journal of Intercultural Communication, SIETAR Japan, 10 (2007): 21-38, E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation and Global Terrorism: How to Overcome It Nonviolently," in Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS), Theme 6.120: Nonviolent Alternatives for Social Change, ed. R. Summy (Oxford: Developed under the Auspices of the UNESCO, EOLSS, www.eolss.net, 2007),, E. G. Lindner, "Dynamics of Humiliation in a Globalizing World," International Journal on World Peace, XXXIV, no. 3, September (2007): 15-52, E. G. Lindner, Psychological Factors in Arab Relations With the World (Alexandria, Egypt: Presentation on 22nd January 2007, as part of the Pilot Course 'Young Swedish Muslim Peace Agents', 19th-27th January 2007, at the Swedish Institute in Alexandria, 2007), E. G. Lindner, How the Human Rights Ideal of Equal Dignity Separates Humiliation From Shame (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php#separation, 2007), E. G. Lindner, "In Times of Globalization and Human Rights: Does Humiliation Become the Most Disruptive Force?," Journal of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, 1, no. 1, March (2007): www.humilliationstudies.upeace.org/, E. G. Lindner, How Multicultural Discourses Can Help Construct New Meaning (Hangzhou, China: Paper presented at the 'Second International Conference on Multicultural Discourses', 13-15th April 2007, Institute of Discourse and Cultural Studies, & Department of Applied Psychology, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, vailable at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2007), E. G. Lindner, "The Cartoon War" of Humiliation Versus Humiliation: What Should Be Done? (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php#cartoonwar, 2006), E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation, Killing, War, and Gender," in The Psychology of Resolving Global Conflicts: From War to Peace, Volume 1: Nature Vs. Nurture, eds. M. Fitzduff and C. E. Stout (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006), 137-174, E. G. Lindner, N. R. Walsh, and J. Kuriansky, "Humiliation or Dignity in the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict," in Terror in the Holy Land, Inside the Anguish of the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict, ed. J. Kuriansky (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006), 123-131, E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation and Reactions to Hitler's Seductiveness in Post-War Germany: Personal Reflections," Social Alternatives, 25, Special Issue: Humiliation and History in Global Perspectives, no. 1, First Quarter (2006): 6-11, E. G. Lindner, How Becoming a Global Citizen Can Have a Healing Effect (Tokyo: Paper presented at the 2006 ICU-COE Northeast Asian Dialogue: Sharing Narratives, Weaving/Mapping History, February 3-5, 2006, International Christian University (ICU), Tokyo, Japan, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php#gallagher, 2006), E. G. Lindner, "Emotion and Conflict: Why It Is Important to Understand How Emotions Affect Conflict and How Conflict Affects Emotions," in The Handbook of Conflict Resolution: Theory and Practice, eds. M. Deutsch, P. T. Coleman, and E. C. Marcus, 2nd ed. (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2006), 268-293, E. G. Lindner, Making Enemies: Humiliation and International Conflict (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006), E. G. Lindner, *The Concept of Human Dignity* (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2006), E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation, War, and Gender: 'Worse Than Death: Humiliating Words'," New Routes: A Journal for Peace Research and Action, 11, Special Issue: Gender Perspectives, no. 4 (2006): 15-18, www.life-peace.org/default2.asp?xid=322, E. G. Lindner, "Sugawara and the Secrets of Calligraphy":

Exposing the Wounds Inflicted by Ranking People in Higher and Lesser Beings (Human Dignity and

Humiliation Studies: Reflections after seeing Sugawara and the Secrets of Calligraphy on 20th April 2006 at the National Bunraku Theatre in Osaka, Japan, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2006), E. G. Lindner, A New Culture of Peace: Can We Hope That Global Society Will Enter into a Harmonious Information Age? (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2006), E. G. Lindner, Is It Possible to "Change the World"? Some Guidelines to How We Can Build a More Decent and Dignified World Effectively: The Case of Dignifying Abusers (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org#evelin02.php, 2006), A. C. Hudnall and E. G. Lindner, "Crisis and Gender: Addressing the Psychosocial Needs of Women in International Disasters," in Handbook of International Disaster Psychology (Vol 4): Interventions With Special Needs Populations, eds. G. Reyes and G. A. Jacobs (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger, 2005), 1-18, E. G. Lindner, "Human Rights, Humiliation, and Globalization," in Symbolik, Gesellschaftliche Irrationalität Und Psychohistorie, Jahrbuch Für Psychohistorische Forschung, Vol. 5, 2004, eds. L. Janus, F. Galler, and W. Kurth (Heidelberg: Mattes Verlag, 2005), 143-172, E. G. Lindner, "Mature Differentiation As Response to Terrorism and Humiliation: Refrain From the Language of "War" and "Evil"," Transnational Foundation for Peace and Future Research, (2005): www.transnational.org/tff/people/e lindner.html, E. G. Lindner, The Effect of Humiliation on the Escalation of Conflicts (Oslo: Presentation at the conference Activists under Attack: Defending the Right to be a Human Rights Defender hosted by the Human Rights House Network, 13-14 October, 2004), E. G. Lindner, "Gendercide and Humiliation in Honor and Human-Rights Societies," in Gendercide and Genocide, ed. A. Jones (Nashville, TN: Vanderbilt University Press, 2004), 39-61, E. G. Lindner, "Peace? Not As Long As Humiliation Reigns!," ICCCR Newsletter, January (2003): www.tc.edu/icccr/newsletterSpr03.pdf, E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation or Dignity: Regional Conflicts in the Global Village," International Journal of Mental Health, Psychosocial Work and Counselling in Areas of Armed Conflict, 1, no. 1, January (2003): 48-63, www.transnational.org/forum/meet/2002/Lindner RegionalConflicts.html, E. G. Lindner, "Human Rights and Humiliation," The Coexistence Chronicle, 2, no. 3 (2002): 2-6, E. G. Lindner, "Healing the Cycles of Humiliation: How to Attend to the Emotional Aspects of "Unsolvable" Conflicts and the Use of "Humiliation Entrepreneurship"," Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology, 8, no. 2 (2002): 125-138, www.informaworld.com/smpp/ftinterface~content=a785828772~fulltext=713240930, E. G. Lindner, The Concept of Humiliation: Its Universal Core and Culture-Dependent Periphery (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2001), E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation - Trauma That Has Been Overlooked: An Analysis Based on Fieldwork in Germany, Rwanda / Burundi, and Somalia," TRAUMATOLOGYe, 7, no. 1 (2001): Article 3 (32 pages), tmt.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/7/1/43, or www.fsu.edu/%7Etrauma/v7/Humiliation.pdf, E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation and the Human Condition: Mapping a Minefield," Human Rights Review, 2, no. 2 (2001): 46-63, E. G. Lindner, "How Research Can Humiliate: Critical Reflections on Method," Journal for the Study of Peace and Conflict, Annual Edition 2001-2002 (2001): 16-36, jspc.library.wisc.edu/, E. G. Lindner, Moratorium on Humiliation: Cultural and "Human Factor" Dimensions Underlying Structural Violence (New York: Discussion paper presented at the Expert Group Meeting on Structural Threats to Social Integration: Indicators for Conflict Prevention, Session 2: Structural threats to social integrity 18th 20th December 2001, New York, organized by the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Division for Social Policy and Development, Social Integration Branch, see www.un.org/esa/socdev, 2001), E. G. Lindner, "Humiliation As the Source of Terrorism: A New Paradigm," Peace Research: The Canadian Journal of Peace Studies, 33, no. 2 (2001): 59-68, E. G. Lindner, "Women and Terrorism: The Lessons of Humiliation," New Routes: A Journal for Peace Research and Action, 6, Special Issue: Targeting Women, no. 3 (2001): 10-12, www.life-peace.org/newroutes/newroutes2001/nr200103/lessonsofhum0301.htm, also in RBSE, v.1, n.1, pp.76-92, João Pessoa, GREM, abril de 2002, on www.rbse.rg3.net as artigo ISSN 1676-8965, E. G. Lindner, What Every Negotiator Ought to Know: Understanding Humiliation (Oslo and Coalition for Global Solidarity and Social Development - Peace and Conflicts: globalsolidarity.transcend.org/articles/what.pdf, 2000), E. G. Lindner, How Humiliation Creates Cultural Differences: The Psychology of Intercultural Communication (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by

Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, "Were Ordinary Germans Hitler's "Willing Executioners"? Or Were They Victims of Humiliating Seduction and Abandonment? The Case of Germany and Somalia," *IDEA: A Journal of Social Issues, 5*, no. 1 (2000): , http://www.ideajournal.com/articles.php?id=31, E. G. Lindner, *Humiliation and Rationality in International Relations. The Role of Humiliation in North Korea, Rwanda, Somalia, Germany, and the Global Village* (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, *The "Framing Power" of International Organizations, and the Cost of Humiliation* (Oslo, and Coalition for Global Solidarity and Social Development - Peace and Conflicts: globalsolidarity.transcend.org/articles/the.pdf, 2000), E. G. Lindner, *Humiliation, Rape and Love: Force and Fraud in the Erogenous Zones* (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies,

www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, *Globalisation and* Humiliation: Towards a New Paradigm (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, What Is a Good Life - Comparison Between Egypt and Germany (Oslo: University of Oslo, manuscript presented at the Middle East Virtual Community (MEViC), first MEViC online Internet conference, 2000, on the basis of doctoral dissertation in medicine (1994), 2000), E. G. Lindner, The Relational Anatomy of Humiliation: Perpetrator, Victim, and Third Party (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, Recognition or Humiliation - The Psychology of Intercultural Communication (Bergen: Proceedings of the ISSEI Millennium conference 'Approaching a New Millennium: Lessons from the Past - Prospects for the Future', the 7th conference of the International Society for the Study of European Ideas, Bergen, Norway, from 14th - 18th August, 2000, 2000), E. G. Lindner, Humiliation, Human Rights, and Global Corporate Responsibility (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies. www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, Social Constructionism, Logical Positivism, and the Story of Humiliation (Oslo: University of Oslo, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2000), E. G. Lindner, The Psychology of Humiliation: Somalia, Rwanda / Burundi, and Hitler's Germany (Oslo: University of Oslo, Department of Psychology, doctoral dissertation in psychology, 2000), E. G. Lindner, "Women in the Global Village: Increasing Demand for Traditional Communication Patterns," in Towards a Women's Agenda for a Culture of Peace, eds. I. Breines, D. Gierycz, and B. Reardon (Paris: UNESCO, 1999), 89-98, E. G. Lindner, Humiliation, Genocide, Dictatorship and the International Community, Somalia As a Case Study (Oslo: University of Oslo, film, 1999), E. G. Lindner, Humiliation Dynamics and Humiliation Entrepreneurship - The Dyad of Slave and Master (Bujumbura, Burundi: Rapport de la conference internationale sur le role de l'education dans la promotion d'une culture de convivialité et d'edification des communautes, 23rd - 26th February, Ministère de l'Education Nationale, 1999), E. G. Lindner, Humiliation As Psychological Variable in Armed Conflict: What Is Our Common Sense Definition of Humiliation? (Oslo: Paper presented at the annual seminar of the Research Programme of the Multilateral Development Assistance Programme at Soria Moria, 19th - 20th February, 1998), E. G. Lindner, The Feeling of Being Humiliated: A Central Theme in Armed Conflicts. A Study of the Role of Humiliation in Somalia, and Great Lakes Region, Between the Warring Parties, and in Relation to Third Intervening Parties. Outline of Research Project (Oslo: University of Oslo, project description, published by Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 1996).

<sup>74</sup> See for the emergence of agriculturalim, for instance, W. Ury, *Getting to Peace: Transforming Conflict at Home, at Work, and in the World* (New York: Viking, 1999). The phrase "security dilemma" was coined by John Herz to explain why states that have no intention to harm one another may still end up in competition and war. Its very essence is tragic. See J. H. Herz, "Idealist Internationalism and the Security Dilemma," *World Politics,* II (1950): 157-180.

<sup>75</sup> W. I. Miller, *Humiliation and Other Essays on Honor, Social Discomfort, and Violence* (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 1993), 175, italics in original.

<sup>76</sup> "World Conference on Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance" in Durban, South Africa, August 31 - September 7, 2001. Read on intolerance in L. Noël, *Intolerance: A General Survey* (Montreal: Mc-Gill-Oueen's University Press, 1994).

<sup>77</sup> See, for instance, R. M. Abusharaf, ed., *Female Circumcision: Multicultural Perspectives* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2006), 90.

<sup>78</sup> D. S. Dia, "The Fight Against Female Genital Cutting," Wal Fadjri Newspaper, Thursday April 3 (2003): , received as email text, 1.

<sup>79</sup> June 28, 2007, read about the announcement, for instance, on news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle\_east/6251426.stm.

80 www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/.

<sup>81</sup> W. Ury, *Getting to Peace: Transforming Conflict at Home, at Work, and in the World* (New York: Viking, 1999), 108.

<sup>82</sup> See previous note 17.

<sup>83</sup> A. Banks and J. V. Jordan, "The Human Brain: Hardwired for Connections," *Research and Action Report*, 28, no. 2, Spring/Summer (2007): 8-11, retrieved on July 20, 2007, from www.wcwonline.org/joomla/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=1358&itemid=198.

- See, among others, V. Gallese, C. Keysers, and G. Rizzolatti, "A Unifying View of the Basis of Social Cognition," *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8, no. 9, September (2004): 396-403, V. Gallese and A. Goldman, "Mirror Neurons and the Simulation Theory of Mind-Reading," *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 2, no. 12 (1998): 493-501, V. Gallese, C. Keysers, and G. Rizzolatti, "A Unifying View of the Basis of Social Cognition," *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8, no. 9, September (2004): 396-403, C. Keysers et al., "A Touching Sight: SII/PV Activation During the Observation and Experience of Touch," *Neuron*, 42, no. 2 (2004): 335-346, and C. Keysers and V. Gazzola, "Towards a Unifying Neural Theory of Social Cognition," in *Progress in Brain Research, Vol. 156*, eds. S. Anders, G. Ende, M. Junghofer, J. Kissler, and D. Wildgruber (Amsterdam: Elsevie, www.bcn-nic.nl/txt/people//keysersgazzolapbr.pdf, 2006). Christian Keysers was a leading investigator in Parma in the research group that made the original discovery of mirror neurons from 2000 till 2004. Today, he is the Scientific Director of the Neuroimaging Center and Professor for the Neurobiology of Empathy at the medical faculty of the University Medical Center Groningen. See also ,G. Rizzolatti and L. Craighero, "The Mirror-Neuron System," *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 27 (2004): 169-192, or B. Wicker et al., "Both of Us Disgusted in My Insula: The Common Neural Basis of Seeing and Feeling Disgust," *Neuron*, 40, no. 3 (2003): 655-664.
- <sup>85</sup> C. Keysers et al., "Audiovisual Mirror Neurons and Action Recognition," *Experimental Brain Research*, 153, no. 4 (2003): 628-636, B. Wicker et al., "Both of Us Disgusted in My Insula: The Common Neural Basis of Seeing and Feeling Disgust," *Neuron*, 40, no. 3 (2003): 655-664.
- <sup>86</sup> V. S. Ramachandran, *Mirror Neurons and Imitation Learning As the Driving Force Behind "the Great Leap Forward" in Human Evolution*Edge Foundation, retrieved on August 14, 2006 from www.edge.org/documents/archive/edge69.html, 2000).
- <sup>87</sup> B. Azar, "How Mimicry Begat Culture: Researchers From Varied Disciplines Look to Mirror Neurons to Explain Many Aspects of Human Evolution," *APA Monitor*, 36, no. 9 (2005): 54-54, retrieved on 9 October 2005 from www.apa.org/monitor/oct05/mimicry.html, 54.
- <sup>88</sup> B. Azar, "How Mimicry Begat Culture: Researchers From Varied Disciplines Look to Mirror Neurons to Explain Many Aspects of Human Evolution," *APA Monitor*, 36, no. 9 (2005): 54-54, retrieved on 9 October 2005 from www.apa.org/monitor/oct05/mimicry.html, 54.
- <sup>90</sup> M. A. Arbib et al., "Synthetic Brain Imaging: Grasping, Mirror Neurons and Imitation," *Neural Networks*, 13, no. 8 (2000): 975-997, L. Carr et al., "Neural Mechanisms of Empathy in Humans: A Relay From Neural Systems for Imitation to Limbic Areas," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.*, 100, no. 9 (2003): 5497-5502, L. Fogassi et al., "Parietal Lobe: From Action Organization to Intention Understanding," *Science*, 308, no. 5722 (2005): 662-667, M. Iacoboni et al., "Cortical Mechanisms of Human Imitation," *Science*, 286, no. 5449 (1999): 2526-2528, E. Kohler et al., "Hearing Sounds, Understanding Actions: Action Representation in Mirror Neurons," *Science*, 297, no. 5582 (2002): 846-848, G. Rizzolatti and L. Craighero, "The Mirror-Neuron System," *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 27 (2004): 169-192, M. A. Umilta et al., ""I Know What You Are Doing": A Neurophysiological Study," *Neuron*, 31 (2001): 155-165, B. Wicker et al., "Both of Us Disgusted in My Insula: The Common Neural Basis of Seeing and Feeling Disgust," *Neuron*, 40, no. 3 (2003): 655-664.

<sup>91</sup> N. I. Eisenberger and M. D. Lieberman, "Why It Hurts to Be Left Out: The Neurocognitive Overlap Between Physical Pain and Social Pain," in *The Social Outcast: Ostracism, Social Exclusion, Rejection, and Bullying*, eds. K. Williams, J. P. Forgas, and W. v. Hippel (New York: Psychology Press, 2005), 109-127, 110.

<sup>92</sup> M. H. Immordino-Yang et al., "Neural Correlates of Admiration and Compassion," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106, no. 19, May 12 (2009): 8021-8026, published online before print April 20, 2009 at

www.pnas.org/content/early/2009/04/17/0810363106.full.pdf+html?sid=99cc55bf-0d08-460f-ba3b-4201c5aa608f

<sup>93</sup> See also E. G. Lindner, *The Relevance of Humiliation Studies for the Prevention of Terrorism* (Budapest: Paper presented to the NATO Advanced Research Workshop 'Indigenous Terrorism: Understanding and Addressing the Root Causes of Radicalisation among Groups with an Immigrant Heritage in Europe', 7th-9th March 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008).

<sup>94</sup> See, for instance, S. O'Neill and D. McGrory, *The Suicide Factory: Abu Hamza and the Finsbury Park Mosque* (London: HarperPerennial, 2009).

<sup>95</sup> As reported on www.mfa.gov.il/ on April 30, 2003. At the NATO Advanced Research Workshop "Indigenous Terrorism: Understanding and Addressing the Root Causes of Radicalisation among Groups with an Immigrant Heritage in Europe" in Budapest, Hungary, 7-9<sup>th</sup> March, 2008, I had the privilege of discussing this topic with Robert Lambert, co-founder and head of the Muslim Contact Unit (MCU) at New Scotland Yard until 2007, before he commenced writing his Ph.D. Countering al-Qaida Propaganda and Recruitment in London: An Insider's Interpretive Case Study, See also R. Lambert, "Empowering Salafis and Islamists Against Al-Qaeda: A London Counterterrorism Case Study," *PS: Political Science & Politics*, January (2008): 31-35, www.apsanet.org and E. G. Lindner, *The Relevance of Humiliation Studies for the Prevention of Terrorism* (Budapest: Paper presented to the NATO Advanced Research Workshop 'Indigenous Terrorism: Understanding and Addressing the Root Causes of Radicalisation among Groups with an Immigrant Heritage in Europe', 7th-9th March 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008).

<sup>96</sup> M. G. Marshall, *Third World War: System, Process, and Conflict Dynamics* (Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield, 1999).

<sup>97</sup> This section is partly adapted from E. G. Lindner, *The Need for a New World* (New York: Paper presented at the Fifth Workshop on Humiliation and Violent Conflict, Columbia University, December 11-12, 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008).

<sup>98</sup> A. Smith, *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations* (London: Strahan/Cadell, available at http://www.adamsmith.org/smith/won-index.htm, 1776).

<sup>99</sup> In agriculture, so-called *integrated pest management* maintains homoeostatic balance. On May 24, 2008, I discussed this point Reynald Parmelin, a pioneer of bio-viticulture (he started out in 1994) north of Lake Geneva at his Domaine La Capitaine). He explained that many of his colleagues are afraid to follow his example, because unless one possesses a wealth of knowledge about the complexity of homeostatic balance, the experiment can quickly veer out of control. The secret is optimization, not maximization. It is easier to maximize the killing of pests, than optimize a balance of integrated pest management. See also, for example, V. V. Vaitheeswaran, *Power to the People: How the Coming Energy Revolution Will Transform an Industry, Change Our Lives, and Maybe Even Save the Planet* (New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2003).

<sup>100</sup> D. J. Christie, "What Is Peace Psychology the Psychology of?," *Journal of Social Issues*, 62, no. 1 (2006): 1-17, retrieved on August 14, 2007, from www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00436.x, 3.

Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009), E. G. Lindner, "How Asia Can Contribute to World Peace Psychology: Creating a Dignified and Peaceful World by Employing Unity in Diversity," in *Peace Psychology in Asia*, eds. C. J. Montiel and N. M. Noor (New York: Springer Science and Business Media (Springer SBM), 2009),, E. G. Lindner, *What the World's Cultures Can Contribute to Creating a Sustainable Future for Humankind* 

(Oslo: Paper presented at the Eleventh Annual Conference of Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies, Oslo, Bergen, Trondheim, 23th June - 1st July 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008).

<sup>102</sup> A. Chua, Day of Empire: How Hyperpowers Rise to Global Dominance - and Why They Fall (New York: Doubleday, 2008). See also the interview "The Moment of Empire" that Harry Kreisler conducted with Amy Chua November 21, 2007; see www.youtube.com/watch?v=QenLlFx4cCQ. In this interview, Chua explains most convincingly the advantages of the inclusivity of "tolerance": the best and brightest will never be in one ethnicity! Tolerance is a necessary, not a sufficient element to become a hyperpowers (empires that dominated the world). What Chua found, was that hyperpowers, throughout history, to maximize power, made use of diversity through inclusive tolerance, rather than suppressing it. Tolerance was employed because it produced strategic advantages, not in the context of present-day Enlightenmentdefinitions of tolerance: slavery and persecution is simply too inefficient. It is easier to rule by the compliance of underlings. Chua describes the evolution of hyperpowerdom as evolving from personalities to processes, from conquest to commerce, from invasion to immigration, from autocracy to democracy. Nowadays, the relevant resources are innovation, commerce, trade, and attracting the best and brightest, for example, through immigration. The Dutch were the first, Chua points out. Scotts, Hugenotts, and Jews made the Britain empire possible, a development that was enabled through the Bill of Rights that was enacted by the Parliament of England in 1689. Hyperpowers fall with intolerance and xenophobia. Feardriven chauvinism and ethnocentrism undercut tolerance and cause power to spiral downward. Too much tolerance however, too much diversity, is as subversive as too much intolerance. In the case of too much tolerance, unity lacks, or, what Chua calls "glue." America was the first democratic hyperpower. According to a study, foreign-born entrepreneurs were behind one in four U.S. technology startups over the past decade; see V. Wadhwa, A. Saxenian, R. B. Freeman, and G. Gereffi, America's Loss Is the World's Gain: America's New Immigrant Entrepreneurs, Part 4 (Durham, NC: Duke University, available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1348616, 2009). When military domination is no longer feasible, the question arises as to how to create the "glue" of good-will and loyalty. Persians, Mongols used military power, Rome granted citizenship also to non-Romans, however, the United States, if it wishes to preserve power, can do neither. Chua explained the advantages of building "glue" through immigration (incorporating the best and brightest from all around the world) and outsourcing (creating links of loyalty in other parts of the world). Chua predicts that China, since it is an ethnically defined society, will never become a hyperpower, even if the United States were to fall.

The advantage of inclusivity, one may argue, however, is not only apparent in the case of hyperpowers. A present-day example of less grand scale is, for instance, Indonesia. Mohammad Yazid, staff writer at the *Jakarta Post*, explains that the lesson for Indonesia is that "the majority needs to promote tolerance, mutual respect, protection and empathy for ethnic, religious and political minorities"; see M. Yazid, "From Jakarta to Kosovo - What's the Big Attraction?," *Jakarta Post*, 5 June (2007): , available at www.thejakartapost.com/news/2007/06/05/jakarta-kosovo-what039s-big-attraction.html.

103 See, for example, R. Fisher, W. Ury, and B. Patton, *Getting to Yes: Negotiating Agreement Without Giving in* (New York: Houghton Mifflin, 1991). I discuss this point in E. G. Lindner, "Disasters As a Chance to Implement Novel Solutions That Highlight Attention to Human Dignity," in *Rebuilding Sustainable Communities for Children and Their Families After Disasters: A Global Survey*, ed. A. Awotona (Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, proceedings of the International Conference on Rebuilding Sustainable Communities for Children and Their Families after Disasters, convened by Adenrele Awotona at the College of Public and Community Service University of Massachusetts at Boston, USA, November 16-19, 2008, www.rebuilding.umb.edu/rsccfd/, 2010).

104 ,A. P. Fiske, Structures of Social Life: The Four Elementary Forms of Human Relations - Communal Sharing, Authority Ranking, Equality Matching, Market Pricing (New York: Free Press, 1991). A useful introduction to the theory, overview of research, and a bibliography is found on www.rtm.ucla.edu. See for more also E. G. Lindner, Gender, Humiliation, and Global Security: Dignifying Relationships From Love, Sex, and Parenthood to World Affairs (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009) and E. G. Lindner, The Need for a New World (New York: Paper presented at the Fifth Workshop on Humiliation and Violent Conflict, Columbia University, December 11-12, 2008, available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008).

<sup>105</sup> See, for instance, europa.eu/scadplus/glossary/subsidiarity en.htm.

<sup>106</sup> E. G. Lindner, Gender, Humiliation, and Global Security: Dignifying Relationships From Love, Sex, and Parenthood to World Affairs (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009).

<sup>107</sup> J. B. Miller, "Forced Choices, False Choices," *Research and Action Report*, 27, no. 2, Spring/Summer (2006): 16-17.

<sup>108</sup> A. Smith, *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations* (London: Strahan/Cadell, available at http://www.adamsmith.org/smith/won-index.htm, 1776).

<sup>109</sup> See, among others, N. S. Levinson, *Local Globalization: Rethinking the Local and the Global* (Montreal: Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Studies Association, Le Centre Sheraton Hotel, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, retrieved on August 1, 2009 from www.allacademic.com/meta/p72287 index.html, 2004).

<sup>110</sup> A. Koestler, *The Ghost in the Machine* (London: Hutchinson, 1967), A. Koestler, *Janus: A Summing Up* (London: Hutchinson, 1978).

111 J. Braithwaite, Restorative Justice and Responsive Regulation (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002)

<sup>112</sup> See for explanations of this approach, for instance, L. A. Coser, *Masters of Sociological Thought: Ideas in Historical and Social Context*, 2nd ed. (Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, 1977), 224.

<sup>113</sup> J. Rawls, A Theory of Justice (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1971). See also D. K. Føllesdal, *How Can We Use Arguments in Ethics?* (Oslo: Presentation at Det Norske Vitenskaps-Akademi [Norwegian Academy of Science], January 30, 1996).

<sup>114</sup> The topic of emancipation has been illuminated, for example, in Z. Bauman, Towards a Critical Sociology: An Essay on Commonsense and Emancipation (London: Routledge, 1976)

<sup>115</sup> See hdrstats.undp.org/indicators/268.html.

<sup>116</sup> Spiegel Online, "Germany's Failed Emancipation: Women Face an Unfair Choice: Career or Children," *Spiegel Online*, May 5 (2006): available at www.spiegel.de/international/spiegel/0.1518,414451,00.html. See life balance statistics for Europe at

w3.unece.org/pxweb/database/STAT/30-GE/98-GE LifeBalance/98-GE LifeBalance.asp.

of the Commission on the Status of Women at the UN headquarters in New York on March 6, 2009; see www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/53sess.htm. See on work-life balance furthermore, among others, M. Fine-Davis, ed., Fathers and Mothers: Dilemmas of the Work-Life Balance: A Comparative Study in Four European Countries (Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004), M. Westman, F. Jones, and R. J. Burke, eds., Work-Life Balance: A Psychological Perspective (Hove: Psychology Press, 2006), R. Gambles, S. Lewis, and R. Rapoport, The Myth of Work-Life Balance: The Challenge of Our Time for Men, Women and Societies (Chichester: John Wiley, 2006). Women nowadays choose to become "kitchen-table tycoons," this was explained very accessibly by Marie O'Riordan, editor of Marie-Claire UK, in an BBC World News HARDtalk interview on December 23, 2008, with Stephen Sackur.

See a recent summary about the situation in France at an European Union side event of the 59th Session of the Commission on the Status of Women at the UN headquarters in New York on March 6, 2009, with a statement by French Sophie del Corso (service des droits des femmes et de l'égalité du Secrétariat d'Etat chargé de la Solidarité, Ministère du Travail, des Relations sociales et de la Solidarité) at www.franceonu.org/spip.php?article3650#1. See also R. Crompton and C. Lyonette, "Work-Life 'Balance' in Europe," *Acta Sociologica*, 49, no. 4 (2006): 379-393, available at asj.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/49/4/379, and, furthermore, about French feminism more generally, G. Allwood, *French Feminisms: Gender and Violence in Contemporary Theory* (London: UCL Press, 1008)

<sup>119</sup> Time Magazine, "Love in the Afternoon," *Time Magazine*, November 11 (1966): available at www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,843018,00.html.

120 T. de Saint Pol, "Norms and Attitudes to Body Fatness: A European Comparison," *Population & Societies - French National Institute for Demographic Studies Newsletter*, 455, April (2009): 1-4, available at http://www.ined.fr/en/resources\_documentation/publications/pop\_soc/bdd/publication/1456/. This study compares the average Body Mass Index (BMI) of men and women in 15 European countries.

<sup>121</sup> M. Deutsch, Oppression and Conflict (Skovde, Sweden: Plenary address given at the annual meetings of the International Society of Justice Research in Skovde, Sweden on June 17, 2002, retrieved November 20, 2002, from http://www.cpa.ca/epw/epw/Deutsch.pdf, 2002), p35-36.

122 This section is adapted from E. G. Lindner, *Recognition or Humiliation - The Psychology of Intercultural Communication* (Bergen: Proceedings of the ISSEI Millennium conference 'Approaching a New Millennium: Lessons from the Past - Prospects for the Future', the 7th conference of the International Society for the Study of European Ideas, Bergen, Norway, from 14th - 18th August, 2000, 2000).

<sup>123</sup> E. A. Gellner, *Nations and Nationalism* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1983), E. A. Gellner, *Nations and Nationalism* (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1983).

<sup>124</sup> L. Greenfeld, *Nationalism: Five Roads to Modernity* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1992); L. Greenfeld, "Nationalism and Modernity," *Social Research*, 63, no. 1 (1996): 3-40. Read also M. Hechter, "The Dynamics of Secession," *Acta Sociologica*, 35 (1992): 267-283, on the dynamics of secession.

<sup>125</sup> I. Berlin, "The Bent Twig: On the Rise of Nationalism," in *The Crooked Timber of Humanity: Chapters in the History of Ideas*, ed. H. Hardy (London: Fontana Press, 1991), 238-261.

BBC NEWS, published May 22, 2009, at news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/2/hi/europe/8063205.stm.

<sup>127</sup> J. Gray, Men Are From Mars, Women Are From Venus: A Practical Guide for Improving Communication and Getting What You Want in Your Relationships (New York: Harper Collins, 1992).

<sup>128</sup> I discuss this metaphor in greater depth in E. G. Lindner, "Avoiding Humiliation - From Intercultural Communication to Global Interhuman Communication," *Journal of Intercultural Communication, SIETAR Japan,* 10 (2007): 21-38.

<sup>129</sup> R. D. Precht, *Wer Bin Ich - Und Wenn Ja Wie Viele?: Eine Philosophische Reise* (München: Goldmann HC, 2007).

<sup>130</sup> The power of identity has been illuminated by M. Castells, *The Information Age: Economy, Society and Culture. Vol. 2: The Power of Identity* (Cambridge, MA, Oxford: Blackwell, 1997).

<sup>131</sup> See also Chapter 6 in E. G. Lindner, *Gender, Humiliation, and Global Security: Dignifying Relationships From Love, Sex, and Parenthood to World Affairs* (Westport, CT: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009).

<sup>132</sup> M. Hollick, *The Science of Oneness: A Worldview for the Twenty-First Century* (Ropley, Hampshire, UK: O-Books, 2006), I thank Sigurd Støren for making me aware of this book.

<sup>133</sup> D. Genpo Merzel, Big Mind, Big Heart: Finding Your Way (Salt Lake City, UT: Big Mind, 2007).

<sup>134</sup> In a personal message on February 8, 2008. See the Love Foundation at www.thelovefoundation.com.

<sup>135</sup> H. B. Lewis, *Shame and Guilt in Neurosis* (New York: International Universities Press, 1971).

136 T. J. Scheff, *War and Emotion: Hypermasculine Violence As a Social System* (Santa Barbara, CA: See www.soc.ucsb.edu/faculty/scheff/51.html, 2007), T. J. Scheff, "Aggression, Hypermasculine Emotions and Relations: the Silence/Violence Pattern," *Irish Journal of Sociology*, 15, no. 1 (2006): 24-37, see www.soc.ucsb.edu/faculty/scheff/53.htm, T. J. Scheff, "Shame and the Social Bond: A Sociological Theory," *Sociological Theory*, 18, no. 1 (2000): 84-99, T. J. Scheff and S. M. Retzinger, "Shame, Anger and the Social Bond: A Theory of Sexual Offenders and Treatement," *Electronic Journal of Sociology*, (1997): www.sociology.org/content/vol003.001/sheff.html, T. J. Scheff, *Bloody Revenge: Emotions*, *Nationalism and War* (Boulder: Westview Press, 1994), T. J. Scheff, S. M. Retzinger, and S. L. Gordon, "Emotions and Violence: Shame and Rage in Destructive Conflicts," *American Journal of Sociology*, November 98, no. 1 (1992): 664-665.

<sup>137</sup> H. Fung and E. C.-H. Chen, "Across Time and Beyond Skin: Self and Transgression in the Everyday Socialization of Shame Among Taiwanese Preschool Children," *Social Development*, 10, no. 3 (2001): 420-437.

437.

138 J. Li and K. W. Fischer, "Thought and Affect in American and Chinese Learners' Beliefs About Learning," in *Motivation, Emotion, and Cognition: Integrative Perspectives on Intellectual Functioning and Development*, eds. D. Y. Dai and R. J. Sternberg (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 2004), 385-418.

139 Ibid., 411.

- <sup>140</sup> C. J. Montiel, "Political Psychology of Nonviolent Democratic Transitions in Southeast Asia," Journal of Social Issues, 62, no. 1 (2006): 173-190, retrieved on August 14, 2007 from www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00445.x.
- <sup>141</sup> China plans to develop a "Harmonious Society Measurement Standard;" see, for instance, www.chinacsr.com/2007/10/11/1744-china-plans-harmonious-society-measurement-standard/.
- <sup>142</sup> In Europe, social cohesion is an important term. See the Joint Report on Social Protection and Social Inclusion (Commission proposal) at ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/social\_inclusion/news\_en.htm, or the Joint Commission/Council Report, publication on 22nd February 2007, at ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/social\_inclusion/jrep\_en.htm.
- <sup>143</sup> T. Webb, Working With Shame and Other Strong Emotions: Experiential Workshop Script From 'Personal and Political Tools for Social Change' Course (Sidney: Centre for Popular Education, University of Technology, 2005).
- <sup>144</sup> Similar to the Moratorium On Trade In Small Arms, or the Moratorium On Commercial Whaling. Read, for instance, C. Patten and A. Lindh, "Let's Control the Small Arms Trade," *International Herald Tribune*, June 30 (2001).
- <sup>145</sup>: P. Rusesabagina and T. Zoellner, *An Ordinary Man: An Autobiography* (New York: Viking Adult, 2006).
  - <sup>146</sup> In BBC World HARDtalk with David Jessel.
  - <sup>147</sup> E. Lévinas, *Totalité Et Infini: Essai Sur L'Extériorité* (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1961).
- <sup>148</sup> S. Benso, *The Face of Things: A Different Side of Ethics* (Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 2000), 27. See also P. J. Birrell, "An Ethic of Possibility: Relationship, Risk, and Presence," *Ethics & Behavior*, 16, no. 2 (2007): 95-115. I thank Linda M. Hartling for making me aware of Birrell's work.
- 149 R. Gibbs, *Why Ethics? Signs and Responsibilities* (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2000), 48. See also M. Sheets-Johnstone, *Strangers, Trust, and Religion: On the Vulnerability of Being Alive* (Durham: Guest lecture at the Department of Philosophy at Durham University in May 2007, available as podcast on podcast.ic.sunysb.edu:16080/weblog/templeton/?permalink=MaxineSheetsJohnstone-Strang.html, 2007).
- <sup>150</sup> K. Ring, *Life at Death: A Scientific Investigation of the Near-Death Experience* (New York: Coward, McCann & Geoghegan, 1980).
- <sup>151</sup> J. B. Taylor, *My Stroke of Insight: A Brain Scientist's Personal Journey* (Morrisville, NC: Lulu.com, 2006). See also E. L. Mayer, *Extraordinary Knowing: Science, Skepticism, and the Inexplicable Powers of the Human Mind* (New York: Bantam Books, 2007). I thank Adair Linn Nagata for making me aware of Mayer's book.
- <sup>152</sup> W. B. Pearce, *Serenity in the Time of Polysemy* (Santa Barbara: CA: Fielding Graduate Institute, 2007). I thank Adair Linn Nagata for including me into the discussion that this paper was meant to stimulate.
  - <sup>153</sup> G. García Márquez, Love in the Time of Cholera (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1988).
- <sup>154</sup> A. P. Fiske, *Structures of Social Life: The Four Elementary Forms of Human Relations Communal Sharing, Authority Ranking, Equality Matching, Market Pricing* (New York: Free Press, 1991). A useful introduction to the theory, overview of research, and a bibliography is found on www.rtm.ucla.edu.
- 155 I thank Finn Tschudi and follow his formulation of the RTM model, please see also F. Tschudi and E. G. Lindner, *Reconciliation and Humiliation: A Review by Finn Tschudi & Evelin Lindner's Responses* (Oslo: Discussion stimulated by 'Why There Can Be No Conflict Resolution as Long as People Are Being Humiliated,' in 'Education for Reconciliation and Conflict Resolution,' a Special Issue of *International Review of Education*, edited by Birgit Brock-Utne, Vol. 55 (no 1, 2009), www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2008).
- <sup>156</sup> J. Galtung, *Peace by Peaceful Means* (Oslo and London: PRIO (International Peace Research Institute Oslo) and Sage, 1996), 199.
- <sup>157</sup> N. D. Adler, M. Chamberlain, and S. Leydesdorff, eds., *Memories of Mass Repression: Narrating Life Stories in the Aftermath of Atrocity* (New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, 2009), N. D. Adler, *The Communist Within: Narratives of Loyalty to the Party Before, During, and After the Gulag* (Oslo: Presentation at the Center for Studies of Holocaust and Religious Minorities in Norway, October 1, 2008,

- 2008). See for classic work on cognitive dissonance L. Festinger, *A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance* (Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 1957).
- <sup>158</sup> A. Smith, *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations* (London: Strahan/Cadell, available at http://www.adamsmith.org/smith/won-index.htm, 1776).
- <sup>159</sup> D. E. King, "Asylum Seekers / Patron Seekers: Interpreting Iraqi Kurdish Migration," *Human Organization*, 64, no. 4 (2005): 316-326.
  - <sup>160</sup> See the note explaining the origin of the term of the "global village" in Chapter 3.
- <sup>161</sup> P. Cushman, Constructing the Self, Constructing America: A Cultural History of Psychotherapy (Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1995).
  - <sup>162</sup> I. Illich, *Deschooling Society* (New York: Harper & Row, 1971).
- 163 P. R. Madson, *Improv Wisdom: Don't Prepare, Just Show Up* (New York: Harmony/Bell Tower, 2005). See also E. G. Lindner, *Is It Possible to "Change the World"? Some Guidelines to How We Can Build a More Decent and Dignified World Effectively: The Case of Dignifying Abusers* (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org#evelin02.php, 2006). Remember, furthermore, philosopher, sociologist and social anthropologist Ernest André Gellner (1925–1995), whose life work was to oppose closed systems of thought.
- <sup>164</sup> K. Hayashi, "Current Intercultural Issues and Challenges in Japanese Business Interfaces: Blending Theory and Practice," *Management Japan*, 35 (2003): www.iijnet.or.jp/imaj/mj/hayashi35.pdf.
- <sup>165</sup>See, for instance, J. Mezirow, *Transformative Dimensions of Adult Learning* (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1991). See also B. Fisher-Yoshida, "Coaching to Transform Perspective," in *Transformative Learning in Action*, eds. J. Mezirow and E. W. Taylor (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2008).
- <sup>166</sup>, Y. Y. Kim and B. D. Ruben, "Intercultural Transformation: A Systems Theory," *International and Intercultural Communication Annual*, 12, 1988, (1988): 299-321.
- <sup>167</sup> D. P. S. Bhawuk, D. Landis, and K. D. Lo, "Intercultural Traning," in *The Cambridge Handbook of Acculturation Psychology*, eds. D. L. Sam and J. W. Berry (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006), 504-524, J. Pandey, D. Sinha, and D. P. S. Bhawuk, eds., *Asian Contributions to Cross-Cultural Psychology* (New Delhi: Sage, 1996).
  - See previous notes 108-112.
- <sup>169</sup> E. G. Lindner, *Is It Possible to "Change the World"? Some Guidelines to How We Can Build a More Decent and Dignified World Effectively: The Case of Dignifying Abusers* (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org#evelin02.php, 2006).
  - <sup>170</sup> M. Buber, *Ich Und Du* (Leipzig: Insel Verlag, 1923).
- <sup>171</sup> A classic study of elementary structures of kinship is C. Lévi-Strauss, *Les Structures Élémentaires De La Parenté*, Second ed. (Paris: Presses universitaires de France, 1949).
- 172 See, among others, B. Ehrenreich, "Is It Now a Crime to Be Poor?," *New York Times*, August 8 (2009): , available at www.nytimes.com/2009/08/09/opinion/09ehrenreich.html, B. Ehrenreich, *Bait and Switch: The (Futile) Pursuit of the American Dream* (New York: Metropolitan Books, 2005), B. Ehrenreich, *Nickel and Dimed: On (Not) Getting by in America* (New York: Metropolitan Books, 2001).
- <sup>173</sup> This point is illustrated in an interview with Jasvinder Sanghera on March 7, 2009, at www.radionz.co.nz/national/programmes/saturday/20090307. I thank Brian Ward for drawing my attention to this interview. See also J. Sanghera, *Daughters of Shame* (London: Hodder & Stoughton, 2009).
- <sup>174</sup> C. J. Montiel, "Political Psychology of Nonviolent Democratic Transitions in Southeast Asia," *Journal of Social Issues*, 62, no. 1 (2006): 173-190, retrieved on August 14, 2007 from www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00445.x.
- 175 See, among others, L. K. Hall and M. E. Wensch, *Counseling Military Families: What Mental Health Professionals Need to Know* (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2008) or E. D. Rentz et al., "Family Violence in the Military: A Review of the Literature," *Trauma, Violence and Abuse,* 7 (2006): 93-108.
- 176 See previous note 138.
  177 J. W. Dower, *Embracing Defeat: Japan in the Wake of World War II* (New York: Norton, 1999),
- 157. Ibid., 157.
  - <sup>179</sup> J. Dewey, *Democracy and Education* (New York: Free Press, 1916).

<sup>180</sup> A neo-Kohlbergian view on moral reasoning (see also Jürgen Habermas and Karl Otto Apel) that describes a person who bases her moral standards on principles that she herself has evaluated and that she accepts as inherently valid, regardless of society's opinion.

<sup>181</sup> P. Freire, *Education for Critical Consciousness* (New York: Continuum, 1973).

<sup>182</sup> E. Mustakova-Possardt, "Education for Critical Moral Consciousness," *Journal of Moral Education*, 33, no. 3, September (2004): 245-269.

<sup>183</sup> W. B. Pearce, New Models for Communication: From Theory to Praxis, From Objectivism to Constructionism, and From Representation to Reflexivity (Risør, Norway: Presentation given at the Norsk forening for familieterapi, Risørseminaret, June 14-15, 2007, 2007), R. Kegan, Evolving Self: Problem and Process in Human Development (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1982).

<sup>184</sup> Postconventional moral reasoning neo-Kohlbergian view on moral reasoning (see also Jürgen Habermas and Karl Otto Apel) that describes a person who bases her moral standards on principles that she herself has evaluated and that she accepts as inherently valid, regardless of society's opinion.

<sup>185</sup> E. Staub, *The Roots of Evil: The Origins of Genocide and Other Group Violence* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1989).

186 J. V. Jordan and L. M. Hartling, "New Developments in Relational-Cultural Theory," in *Rethinking Mental Health and Disorder*, eds. M. Ballou and L. Brown (New York: Guilford Press, 2002), 48-70. See also N. D. Adler, M. Chamberlain, and S. Leydesdorff, eds., *Memories of Mass Repression: Narrating Life Stories in the Aftermath of Atrocity* (New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, 2009) and Chapter 8 in E. G. Lindner, *Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict* (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009), 129-137.

<sup>187</sup> J. Galtung, *Peace by Peaceful Means* (Oslo and London: PRIO (International Peace Research Institute Oslo) and Sage, 1996), 199.

<sup>188</sup> N. D. Adler, *The Communist Within: Narratives of Loyalty to the Party Before, During, and After the Gulag* (Oslo: Presentation at the Center for Studies of Holocaust and Religious Minorities in Norway, October 1, 2008, 2008). See for classic work on cognitive dissonance L. Festinger, *A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance* (Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 1957).

<sup>189</sup> S. E. Taylor et al., "Biobehavioral Responses to Stress in Females: Tend-and-Befriend, Not Fight-or-Flight," *Psychological Review*, 109, no. 4 (2002): 745-750.

dialectic of obeying but not necessarily complying evolved, which allowed slaves to carve out a degree of autonomous and very distinctive culture, which eschewed the values embraced by the master class. See, for instance, S. L. Engerman and E. D. Genovese, eds., *Race and Slavery in the Western Hemisphere: Quantitative Studies* (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1975), E. D. Genovese, *Roll, Jordan, Roll: The World the Slaves Made* (London: Deutsch, 1975), and M. M. Smith, *Debating Slavery: Economy and Society in the Antebellum American South* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998).

<sup>191</sup> The middle class protects elites against the poor, writes \* I thank Linda Hartling for drawing my attention to this book.

<sup>192</sup> E. G. Lindner, *Is It Possible to "Change the World"? Some Guidelines to How We Can Build a More Decent and Dignified World Effectively: The Case of Dignifying Abusers* (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org#evelin02.php, 2006).

193 See, for instance, F. Simon and T. Arnu, "Die Deutschen in Der Krise: Rückzug Ins Private - Warum Demonstriert Kaum Einer in Zeiten Der Wirtschaftskrise? Ein Psychiater Über Die Stimmung Der Deutschen - Die Gar Nicht So Schlecht Ist," *Süddeutsche Zeitung*, March 29 (2009): , downloaded on March 29, 2009, from http://www.sueddeutsche.de/leben/525/463137/text/?page=6.

<sup>194</sup> Switzerland and other bank secrecy strongholds have said this month they want to sign up to the OECD tax standards to avoid being blacklisted by the G20. Zurich, Reuters, March 26, 2009, uk.reuters.com/article/domesticNews/idUKTRE52P4BG20090326.

<sup>195</sup> A Cambridge University study has found a direct link between the amount of money traders make and testosterone levels, see J. M. Coates and J. Herbert, "Endogenous Steroids and Financial Risk-Taking on a London Trading Floor," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, no. 16 (2008): 6167-6172, www.pnas.org/content/105/16/6167.full.pdf+html..

A. Margalit, *The Decent Society* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1996).

<sup>197</sup> In Europe, social cohesion is an important term. See the Joint Report on Social Protection and Social Inclusion (Commission proposal) at ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/social\_inclusion/news\_en.htm, or the Joint Commission/Council Report, publication on 22nd February 2007, at ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/social\_inclusion/irep\_en.htm.

<sup>198</sup> Harmony is a term writ large in Asia. China currently plans to develop a "Harmonious Society Measurement Standard," see, for instance, www.chinacsr.com/2007/10/11/1744-china-plans-harmonious-society-measurement-standard/.

199 P. A. Levine, Waking the Tiger: Healing Trauma (Berkeley, CA: North Atlantic Books, 1997).

200 P. H. Ray and S. R. Anderson, *The Cultural Creatives: How 50 Million People Are Changing the World* (New York: Three Rivers Press, 2000).

<sup>201</sup> P. H. Ray and S. R. Anderson, *The Cultural Creatives: How 50 Million People Are Changing the World* (New York: Three Rivers Press, 2000).

<sup>202</sup> J. Collins, "Level 5 Leadership: The Triumph of Humility and Fierce Resolve," *Harvard Business Review*, no. January (2001): 68-76.

<sup>203</sup> R. K. Greenleaf, *Servant Leadership: A Journey into the Nature of Legitimate Power and Greatness*, 25th anniversary ed. (New York: Paulist Press, 2002); see also M. J. Wheatley, *Finding Our Way: Leadership for an Uncertain Time* (San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler Publishers, 2007) and www.berkana.org. I thank Bob Stilger for making me aware of this work.

<sup>204</sup> See www.selflessleadership.com.

<sup>205</sup> J. L. Bower, "Solve the Succession Crisis by Growing Inside-Outside Leaders," *Harvard Business Review*, 85, no. 11, November (2007): 91-96.

<sup>206</sup> L. Gratton and T. J. Erickson, "Eight Ways to Build Collaborative Teams," *Harvard Business Review*, 85, no. 11, November (2007): 100-109.

<sup>207</sup> M. C. Gilbert, "The End of the Organization?," *Nonprofit Online News*, February 7 (2008): , retrieved on February 24, 2008, from news.gilbert.org/EndOfOrg.

<sup>208</sup> B. Fisher-Yoshida and K. D. Geller, "Developing Transnational Leaders: Five Paradoxes for Success," *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 40, no. 1 (2008): 42-50. The five paradoxes leaders and managers in the twenty-first century need to consider to effectively manage for organization success are the: paradox of knowing (self and other); paradox of focus (individual and communal); paradox of communication (direct and indirect); paradox of action (doing and being); and the paradox of response (time focus: short and long-term).

<sup>209</sup> B. Fisher-Yoshida, "Transformative Learning in Participative Processes That Reframe Self-Identity," in *Innovations in Transformative Learning: Space, Culture and the Arts*, eds. B. Fisher-Yoshida, K. D. Geller, and S. A. Shapiro (New York: Peter Lang, 2009), 65-86, B. Fisher-Yoshida, "Coaching to Transform Perspective," in *Transformative Learning in Action*, eds. J. Mezirow and E. W. Taylor (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2009).

<sup>210</sup> Adapted from ,E. G. Lindner, "Women in the Global Village: Increasing Demand for Traditional Communication Patterns," in *Towards a Women's Agenda for a Culture of Peace*, eds. I. Breines, D. Gierycz, and B. Reardon (Paris: UNESCO, 1999), 89-98.

<sup>2</sup>1 See also D. D. Myers, *Why Women Should Rule the World* (New York: Harper Collins, 2008). I thank Paul Richards for making me aware of this book. I am writing these sentences in Prangins, whose chateau was once owned by Katharine Dexter McCormick, who, almost single-handedly, financed the development of the birth control pill; see, for example, A. Fields, *Katharine Dexter McCormick: Pioneer for Women's Rights* (Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers, 2003).

212 (T. S. Kuhn, The Structure of Scientific Revolutions (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1962)).

<sup>213</sup> Due to severe marginalization, particularly from non-Western backgrounds, people with such characteristics may have the collect the necessary resources for outspoken pioneership in Western contexts.

<sup>214</sup> See, among others, M. Koenigs et al., "Damage to Prefrontal Cortex Increases Utilitarian Moral Judgments," *Nature*, 446, no. April 19 (2007): 908-911, available at www.nature.com/nature/journal/v446/n7138/pdf/nature05631.pdf).

<sup>215</sup> E. L. Mayer, *Extraordinary Knowing: Science, Skepticism, and the Inexplicable Powers of the Human Mind* (New York: Bantam Books, 2007). I thank Adair Linn Nagata for making me aware of this reference.

<sup>216</sup> J. P. Forgas, "Introduction: Affect and Social Cognition," in *Handbook of Affect and Social* Cognition, ed. J. P. Forgas (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 2001), 1-24, 3.

<sup>7</sup> C. J. Montiel, "Political Psychology of Nonviolent Democratic Transitions in Southeast Asia," Journal of Social Issues, 62, no. 1 (2006): 173-190, retrieved on August 14, 2007 from www.blackwellsynergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00445.x.

<sup>218</sup> K. Hayashi, "Current Intercultural Issues and Challenges in Japanese Business Interfaces: Blending Theory and Practice," Management Japan, 35 (2003): www.iijnet.or.jp/imai/mj/havashi35.pdf.

<sup>219</sup>See, for example, J. Mezirow, *Transformative Dimensions of Adult Learning* (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1991). See also B. Fisher-Yoshida, "Coaching to Transform Perspective," in Transformative Learning in Action, eds. J. Mezirow and E. W. Taylor (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2008).

<sup>220</sup> Y. Y. Kim and B. D. Ruben, "Intercultural Transformation: A Systems Theory," *International and* Intercultural Communication Annual, 12, 1988, (1988): 299-321.

<sup>221</sup> J. M. Gottman, L. F. Katz, and C. Hooven, *Meta-Emotion: How Families Communicate Emotionally* (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 1997).

<sup>222</sup> A. Margalit, *The Decent Society* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1996).

<sup>223</sup> See the classic J. Gray, Men Are From Mars, Women Are From Venus: A Practical Guide for Improving Communication and Getting What You Want in Your Relationships (New York: Harper Collins,

1992).
224 R. Tuhus-Dubrow, "The Female Advantage: A New Reason for Businesses to Promote Women: It's More Profitable," The Boston Globe, May 3 (2009): , retrieved on May 5, 2009, from www.boston.com/bostonglobe/ideas/articles/2009/05/03/the female advantage/.

<sup>225</sup> S. von Stumm, T. Chamorro-Premuzic, and A. Furnham, "Decomposing Self-Estimates of Intelligence: Structure and Sex Differences Across 12 Nations," British Journal of Psychology, 100, no. 2, May (2009): 429-442(14). I thank Linda M. Harting for making me aware of this research.

<sup>16</sup> J. E. Phelan, C. A. Moss-Racusin, and L. A. Rudman, "Competent Yet Out in the Cold: Shifting Criteria for Hiring Reflect Backlash Toward Agentic Women," Psychology of Women Quarterly, 32, no. 4 (2008): 406-413. I thank Linda M. Harting for making me aware of this research.

M. S. Granovetter, "The Strength of Weak Ties.," 78, no. May (1973): 1360-1380. See more in the section on weak ties in Chapter 8 in E. G. Lindner, Making Enemies: Humiliation and International Conflict (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2006), 143-146.

Ferdinand Tönnies (1855-1936) was a major contributor to sociological theory and field studies. Tönnies is best known for his distinction between two types of social groups — Gemeinschaft and Gesellschaft.

<sup>229</sup> Seeking mere "fucking partners" or being nothing more than "helicopter parents" is not what is meant by creating large networks of weak ties.

<sup>230</sup> C. R. Snyder, "Hope Theory: Rainbows in the Mind," *Psychological Inquiry*, 13, no. 4 (2002): 249-275, Abstract. See more in E. G. Lindner, Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009), Chapter 7.

Adapted from an early draft of P. Richards and P. Richards, Wild Attraction: The Energetic Facts of *Life* (Ashland, OR: A Sente Book, International Publication, 2008). Quoted with their permission. <sup>232</sup> For Dalida's suicide, see, for example,

www.youtube.com/watch?v=P8fMK1L58M8&feature=related.

<sup>233</sup> See, among others, www.youtube.com/watch?v=dH gArcZRt4&feature=related.

www.karmanirvana.org.uk. See also her books J. Sanghera, Daughters of Shame (London: Hodder & Stoughton, 2009), J. Sanghera, Shame (London: Hodder & Stoughton, 2007).

<sup>235</sup> Saturday, March 7, 2009, www.radionz.co.nz/national/programmes/saturday/20090307. I thank Brian Ward for drawing my attention to this interview.

<sup>236</sup> N. Noddings, *Caring: A Feminine Approach to Ethics and Moral Education* (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1984), C. Gilligan, In a Different Voice: Psychological Theory and Women's Development (Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 1982).

<sup>237</sup> N. Noddings, *Caring: A Feminine Approach to Ethics and Moral Education* (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1984), 16.

<sup>238</sup> P. J. Birrell, "An Ethic of Possibility: Relationship, Risk, and Presence," *Ethics & Behavior*, 16, no. 2 (2007): 95-115. See also P. Cushman, *Constructing the Self, Constructing America: A Cultural History of Psychotherapy* (Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1995). See also, among others, B. Carey, "Psychiatrists Revise the Book of Human Troubles," *New York Times*, December 18 (2008): , retrieved on December 18, 2008, from www.nytimes.com/2008/12/18/health/18psych.html, L. Cosgrove et al., "Financial Ties Between DSM-IV Panel Members and the Pharmaceutical Industry," *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 75, no. 3 (2006): 154-160, available at www.tufts.edu/~skrimsky/PDF/DSM%20COI.PDF or J. Paris, *Prescriptions for the Mind: A Critical View of Contemporary Psychiatry* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008). I thank Eugenia Tsao for the last two references. See also R. P. Bentall, *Doctoring the Mind: Why Psychiatric Treatments Fail* (London: Allan Lane, 2009). I thank Linda M. Hartling for this link.

<sup>239</sup> In a personal communication on June 4, 2009.

<sup>240</sup> I discuss this in E. G. Lindner, "Why There Can Be No Conflict Resolution As Long As People Are Being Humiliated," *International Review of Education,* Special Issue on Education for Reconciliation and Conflict Resolution, Volume 55, no. May 2-3, 2009 (2008): 157-184, published OnlineFirst on December 27, 2008, at

www.springerlink.com/content/bg5g32x832152953/?p=61dc6cf755b1443c83e89d49221b3e7a&pi=1, including the short version of Finn Tschudi's response and Evelin Lindner's rejoinder; see the long version at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php.

<sup>241</sup> I agree with Finn Tschudi, who regrets that Rosa Parks did not receive more recognition.

<sup>242</sup> N. R. Mandela, *Long Walk to Freedom: The Autobiography of Nelson Mandela* (London: Abacus, 1996). See also the 2007 movie *The Color of Freedom*. This film depicts how white prison guard James Gregory's life is profoundly altered when he meets the prisoner Nelson Mandela, whom he ends up guarding for more than twenty years. I thank Linda M. Hartling for showing me this film.

<sup>243</sup> See previous note 102.

A. Naess, "Through Spinoza to Mahayana Buddhism or Through Mahayana Buddhism to Spinoza?," in *Spinoza's Philosophy of Man: Proceedings of the Scandinavian Spinoza Symposium 1977*, ed. J. Wetlesen (Oslo: University of Oslo Press, 1978), p. 143. ,W. Fox, "Intellectual Origins of the "Depth" Theme in the Philosophy of Arne Naess," *Trumpeter*, 9, no. 2 (1992): , retrieved on December 15, 2000 from trumpeter.athabascau.ca/archives/content/v9.2/fox2.html, in his paper "Intellectual Origins of the "Depth" Theme in the Philosophy of Arne Næss," explains: "The extent to which a person discriminates along a chain of precizations (and, therefore, in a particular direction of interpretation) is a measure of their depth of intention, that is, the depth to which that person can claim to have understood the intended meaning of the expression" (p. 5).

<sup>245</sup> W. Fox, *Toward a Transpersonal Ecology: Developing New Foundations for Environmentalism* (Boston: Shambhala, 1990), chapters 4 and 5.

<sup>246</sup> See P. Pettit, *Republicanism: A Theory of Freedom and Government* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1997).

<sup>247</sup> A. G. Johnson, *The Gender Knot: Unraveling Our Patriarchal Legacy*, Revised and updated edition ed. (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 2005).

<sup>248</sup> T. S. Kuhn, *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*, 3rd ed. (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1996) and M. Gladwell, *The Tipping Point: How Little Things Can Make a Big Difference* (Boston: Little, Brown, 2000).

<sup>249</sup> See G. P. Lakoff, "Empathy, Sotomayor, and Democracy: The Conservative Stealth Strategy," *Truthout,* Sunday 31 May (2009): , retrieved on June 3, from http://www.truthout.org/053109A, or E. G. Lindner, *Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict* (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009) for discussions on the overt and covert resistance to change that must be expected.

<sup>250</sup> The life of Mary Wollstonecraft is evocative in its struggle between pioneering work and retreat into compromise. SeeH. Bloom, ed., *Mary Wollstonecraft Shelley* (New York: Bloom's Literary Criticism, 2009).

<sup>252</sup> E. G. Lindner, *Emotion and Conflict: How Human Rights Can Dignify Emotion and Help Us Wage Good Conflict* (Westport, CT, London: Greenwood/Praeger Security International, 2009).

<sup>254</sup> E. G. Lindner, *Definitions of Terms As They Are Used in Lindner's Writing* (Human Dignity and Humiliation Studies: Available at www.humiliationstudies.org/whoweare/evelin02.php, 2003).

<sup>255</sup> A. Wendt, "Why a World State Is Inevitable," *European Journal of International Relations*, 9, no. 4 (2003): 491-542, 519.

<sup>256</sup> G. Heard, *The Five Ages of Man* (New York: Julian Press, 1963), The Five Ages of Man.

<sup>257</sup> M. Hollick, *The Science of Oneness: A Worldview for the Twenty-First Century* (Ropley, Hampshire, UK: O-Books, 2006), I thank Sigurd Støren for making me aware of this book.

<sup>258</sup> A. Wendt, *Social Theory of International Politics* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999), pp. 298–299. See also L.-E. Cederman, "Modeling the Democratic Peace As a Kantian Selection Process," *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 45, no. 4 (2001): 470-502; the term epigenesis by A. Etzioni, "The Epigenesist of Political Communities at the International Level," 68, no. 4 (1963): 407-421, fits as well.

E. Boulding, *Building a Global Civic Culture: Education for an Interdependent World* (New York: Teachers College Press, 1988).

<sup>260</sup> Alexander Wendt's stage three.

<sup>261</sup> P. H. Ray and S. R. Anderson, *The Cultural Creatives: How 50 Million People Are Changing the World* (New York: Three Rivers Press, 2000).

<sup>262</sup> A. Margalit, *The Decent Society* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> See, among others, J. B. Miller, *Toward a New Psychology of Women* (Boston: Beacon Press, 1976), J. B. Miller, "The Necessity of Conflict," *Women & Therapy*, 2, no. 2 (1983): 3-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> There is a vast amount literature on globalization to draw upon. See, for instance, *Z.* Bauman, *Globalization: The Human Consequences* (Cambridge: Polity Press, 1998), who wrote Globalization: The Human Consequences. See for classic analyses in urban sociology Georg Simmel and his views on metropolitan life and its effects on the psyche. See, furthermore, M. R. Singer, *Intercultural Communication: A Perceptual Approach* (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1987), and the work on The Information Age: Economy, Society and Culture. The Power of Identity. (Vol. 2) by M. Castells, *The Information Age: Economy, Society and Culture. Vol. 2: The Power of Identity* (Cambridge, MA, Oxford: Blackwell, 1997).